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$4,599, and the average loss for cach unknown caused fire which
includes a lot of arson, of course, $9,009,

A 1977 questionnaire conducted among the police and fire officers
by the International Association of Fire Chiefs found that most of
the policemen responding felt that arson investigation would benefit
from arson being reclassified to & major erime, They felt that it wonld
encourage greater coordinated activity and prompt LEAA and other
agencies into giving arson fighting a greater priority.

Do you think that would not be the case?

My, Zorse. The International Association of Chiefs of Police in
1976 and in their conference of 1977, had a resolution placed before
the general membership ealling for the reelassification of arson, from
the part IT erime eategory to the part I, It was rejected by the general
membership.

Senator Grexx, The Assoeiation of Chiefs of Police was trying to
decide what happens over in the fire department next door.

Mr. Zons, No, siv, It wasn't the fire chiet®s association, Tt was the
chiefs of police,

Senator Geny. I understand, This apparvently historical jealousy
back and forth between departments in most cities T am sure would
be reflected in their international association meetings, T am not too
surprised. Wo had testimony on that late last fall,

Let me get on to one specific case on the FRBI where we had a five
bombing recently, Dayton Air Freight, a small trucking firm in
Dayton, Ohio was torched just o few days after its officers had come
here at our invitation to testify to Senator Kennedy, myself, and the
Judiciary Cfommittee on the need for more flexible entry procedures
in the common carrier industry, trucking,

Several of the drivers had been intimidated, and T can’t believe it
was coincidental that this just accidentally happened after their tes-
timony here. Certainly this is o case for the FBI, And do you have
any knowledge of that particular incident and what is going on in that
particular investigation? Because that was one where we had a torch-
ing, a fire bombing apparvently in retribution for them having come
in here and giving their testimony before a congressional committee.

Ca?n you give us any report on what efforts are being made in that
areat

Mr. Moore. Yes. There is concurrent jurisdiction in this investiga-
tion. Since it is an ongoing investigation, I would rather not in publie
session address it in depth, Senator, but would be cartainly happy to
discuss it with you in executive session.

The FBI is conducting an investigative inquiry to establish whether
or not there is obstruction of justice relative to the bombings. The
bombing incident itself is being investigated by ATT and I am sure
they may be able to allude to their part of the investigative matter,
but the Bureau is investigating this on the premise of the possibility
of obstruction of justice.

Senator GruenN. This one, I hope, you are really following through
on ageressively, because any bombing or any firing or any torching
is reprehensible, but when 1t apparently is done, or appears obvious
it was done at least in part as retribution for them having come in
here and testified, it gets doubly reprehensible,
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So I hope every effort is being made on that one,

Mr. Moore. Yes, sir.

Senator GuenN., Mr. Zolbe, you commented about the UCR being
analogous to the Dow Jones Index and indiecator, Tt does indieate
trends, I agree. That is one reason I want to see arson moved onto
that list so it can agsume some of the proper attention that it deserves.

Can you tell me in that regard, are there any specific reasons why
no crimes have been added or subtracted in all of these 50 years?

Mr. Zowss, By virtue of the fact it is an ongoing index, to add
crimes or take away crimes from it would be disruptive of the trend
information that develops over a period of time, That is one of the
things that is of value for analytical purposes.

Senator Grexx. Your Dow Jones analogy is probably pretty good
because Dow Jones assesses different business conditions. As time goes
on they add different stocks to their prime list to give them a more
current indieator of what is happening through the years and yet. the
Fl%%lhu”s refused to do this with the chiefs of police information.

Yy

ML‘.YZOLBE. The seven basic crimes met the criteria established when
the program was created. There is no need to chunge the listing in
and of itself because it was to be acting only as an indicator.

Senator Greny, In the original case did the FIRI approve of those
four criteria?

My, Zowee., I can only presume that they did inasmuch as they
took over the adininistration of the program,

Senator Grexy. Does the FBI, or do you think those should still
be the four criteria that we use?

Mr, Zousg. I think they should continue if we are going to continue
to colleet the information from law enforcement agencies; measure
crime on the basis of that.

Senator Gren~. This is developed as an indicator of where our
efforts should be placed. Do you still think that these eriteria should
be the criteria and the only eriteria that should be used for crime
reporting on the part I index?

Mr. Zouse. I can only give you my professional opinion, Senator,
and I feel that they are an approach to identifying what crimes are
most applicable o an index.

Senator Grexy. In other words, we could have a erime that is taking
over the whole country, but if it doesn’t have a uniformity of re-
porting set up, it shouldn’t be on your list? )

Mr. Zorpe. Senator, we did become concerned about bombings a few
years ago and because of that concern, we initiated a specialized data
collection program. Also several years ago a great deal of intevest was
being brought to bear on the number of law enforcement officers being
killed feloniously. We again set out a special program to capture
that kind of information so that it could be used by law enforcement
executives to develop innovative programs to combat the speeific
erime,

We are suggesting here today we be given the resources to do some-
thing similar in the field of arson that will bring suflicient attention
to bear on the problem.

Senator Grexy. I don’t see why we can get the same data, At least
start getting the same data from the chiefs of police, the same kind
of data you get on all of these other erimes at no cost whatsoever.
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It wouldn’t cost you a nickel, new column on the statistics, and that
would be a no-cost.

My, Zornoe. We have made inquiries in the past because of the great
deal of interest subsequent to and prior to our appearance before you
in December. We continued to hear from the law enforcement com-
munity that they don’t have the arson information, that by and large,
through custom statute, and administrative decree, arson belongs in
the fire service community.

Senator Prroy. Senator Glenn, just a point of inquiry. I am going
to submit my questions for the record to you, Mr. Moore. I have just
2 couple for Mr, Gregg, and I would like to submit the balance of them
tor the record.

‘We have a panel of four following this panel. We would like to
finish this morning. Possibly if you have some questions you would
like to submit—-—-

Senator Guen~. Any additional questions I will submit, I know we
are way over on our time, I appreciate your letting me run a little
longer here than we normally would.

I think this is so important, you and I Lave both worked so long
on this. We started working on this almost a year ago and held hear-
ings last December. Now continuing with this and I will say, sub-
sequently, I am not persuaded by your arguments as to why arson can’t
ge considered more seriously by the FBI and the Department of

ustice.

I am looking forward tc the reply from the Attorney General to
my letter. I aon’t buy the fact that we don’t have enough data, that
we shouldn’t at least try to start gathering information as we do in
other crimes,

I# we were thinking about putting any of the other crimes on the
list tha$ are now normally reported as part I, we could make the same
arguments to keep them off that you make on this.

As tn some of the uniformity aspects, I am sure I could make an
excelient case, not reporting in a timely fashion, I am sure we could
make that grgument against anything on the list now.

Yet here is our fastest growing crime that everybody seems to
acknowledge, the most rapidly growing crime in the whole country
and we refnse to put it even on the top crime reporting list so we can
start focusing some attention on it.

It defies rationality as far as I ain concerned, and having said all
of that I would like to tell you that I am a big booster of the FBI
from years past. Although I don’t sound like it this morning. I am
extremely critical of you in this particular case and will continue to
be, I guarantee you. )

M. Moorr. Senator, if T might,'T would suggest that I think work-
ing together we can satisfy t1-at need that you feel very strongly about
which we do share.

Senator Grenn. Do I take that to mean you are going to work to
put arson on the [1aughter].

Mz, Mocre. Yes. I saivt we would work very closely together to ac-
complish that.

Senator Greny., We wi . work very closely together.

My, Moore. W appreciate it.

Senator Grenx. Thank you.
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Senater Prrey. T think that is a major step forward.

I would just like to again come back to some of the questions, give
you an opportunity to comment on some of the testimony we have had
from local law enforeement people about their frustration.

On page 3 of your testimony, Mr. Grege, you deseribed an LIEAA
discretionary grant in 1976 to the Attorney General's Organized Crime
Unit in Massachusetts, which made it possible for that oflice to hreak
up one of the largest arson-for-profit schernes in the State, perhaps,
the country.

Isn't it true that grant was simply to comt at organized erime? Qur
stadl has been told by Steve Delinski, Chief, Criminal Division, Massa-
chusetts Attorney General's office, that at no time did anyone in LEAA.
advise or even encourage use of this money for arson control. .

It appears it was entively the deeision of the local officials to divert
some of those funds to the investigation. ITow in the light of that can
LIEAA list that as an example of its commitment to arson ?

Mr. Greae. I think it is intended to illustrate the point that I made
in my opening statement. The figures that the GAQ used and the print
out that I provided the committee only provided projects that were
strietly and exclusively targeted toward the crime of arson but a great
many of the programs and projects that we are funding, and I think
this is a good example, althongh not directed exclusively at that crime
can have an important impact on if.

That includes some of the organized ~rime strike forces that States
are working on with the Criminal Division and the FBY. Tt includes
white collar erime activities against which we are supporting a large
munber of district attorneys offices throughout the country, It includes
the career eriminal program which is prosecuting major offenders.

These grants deal with other crimes asg well, but they can have an
impact on arson and are not picked up in our statistics on grants and
dollars divected against avson.

Senator Percy. That is true. But what this subeommittee is trying
to obtain is evidence as to how high in priority the Federal Govern-
ment is placing on this and it is entirely to the eredit of Massachusetts
that they took these funds and used them fop this purpose.

It was not LEAA that had anything o do with their decision and
their judgment, ,

Mr. Geeca. I am sure in 1976 with respect to this program that the
information you got on that is correct. Flowever, very recently we have
taken steps to assure that arson is given priority in these investiga-
tions and prosecutions.

Senator Prrey, Let's go to the information provided by Joseph
O’Keefe, Massachusetts State fire marshal, who advised our staff that
Iast year he requested funding from LIEAA for several arson task
forees to be established in those counties which have an unusually high
ineidence of arson.

Mr. O'Keefe said he was told by officials of the State LEAA agency
that the Massachusetts Division of Fire Prevention is incligible for
LEAA funds because arson was not a major criminal priority of the
Stata agency.

34-057—7 824
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Are yvou personally aware of thet? Do you think that in a State
like Massachusetts, @ State where 000 ineendiary fives took plaece in
1977 alone. arson should be treated as a nonpriority crime?

Mr. Greae, T was not aware of that particndar unsuecessful applica-
tion, but again it gets back to the point made in the fivst page of our
{estimony, that a substantial portion of the LILLN program is con-
ducted tf*mu{z;h a block grant to the Mtates and under our anthorizing
law. it is the State that determines the priovities for exprnding those
funds, . X )

We can through information. technical assistance and so forth. in-
fluence to =ome extent the priorities that the States set, but under our
Jaw, it is the responsibility of the State to sot the priovities.

Senator Prrey, In your previous testimony you indicated that the
erime laboratory would be a suitable area in the matter of urgeney in
LEAA funding. Yet we have been informed that the Massaclpetes
State fire marshal’s evime Iaboratory is so poorly funded that the en-
ployees have to buy test tubes and other equipment out of their own
per=onal pockets in the later months of the year.

Yot Mr, O'Keefe said LISAN has not funded any laboratory pio-
eram, Is this another cxample of how LEAN is assisting States to
deal with the arson problem?

My, Grica, To my knowledge, at the national level, we have not (di-
reetly funded laboratories that exchusively deal with the problem of
arson. ITowever, we have had an extremely keen interest in the genoral
quality of erime laboratories.

We have cooperated with the asvoeiation of these erime laboratories
to survey them and to determine the quality of examinations of evi-
denee that they ave conducting. W have published results of those
surveys over the last vear and we nave programs now with erime
Tahoratories to upgrade their general eapabilities, A gain, this will he
of value in dealing with the erime of arson,

I am not awave. however, that we have funded laboratories that deal
exclusively with examining evidence found at sites of arson.

Senator Grexy, Will vou vield for a commeoent on that particniar
area?

We have pressod LI AL to put more funds into arson on the floor and
off, in collequy with Senator ITollings when the Justice appropria-
tions hills was on. and for LILAN {o give a higher sreson effort,

You have had about a %2 billion Indget from 1975 to 1977, Do vou
know how nuieh money hias been spent on arson out of that budget ?

My, Grrce. We have the figures the GAO provided but they are
very minimum estimates of the amount of money that we have ex-
pended for the reason T indieated. A number of these arants and pro-
grams deal with arson hut woiddd not show up in our information
systentheeatee they are not exelusivelv devoted to arson.

We would have to conduet a special study if we wanted to precisely
determine how much TILAN money is used against avson,

Senator Grexx, T can tell vou the figure T was given, Out of a 82
billion budget vou have had from 1975 to 1977 T was told $1.7 million
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went for arson, $1.7 million out of 2 hillion appropriations; I don’t
knew if that is off or not,

11 that is not correct, T would appreciate having some information
on it o we could put it in the record. But with arson being our
fastest growing erime, T think that is an atrocions amonnt,

We have tried and tried to get LEAN to move on this, to no avail =0
for,

Nenator Prrey. Again, also, if upgrading evime Iaboratories is an
essential part of combating crime, 1f arson is looked upon by LIKAX
as a serious erime, when we get a specifie request for a sum of money
to add and supplement laboratories, to specifically provide such facil-
ities, pevsonnel to worlk in avson, aud they are dented and told to forget
about it, it just scems totally contrary to all of the intent of your testi-
mony given this morning.

If it was just a mistake made, it would be helpful to say on the
record, it was a mistake by someone and that is understandable,
Otherwise, it just looks like we are saying one thing and doing some-
thing else,

This administration has proudly proclaimed many times, pay no
attention to our words, look at what we do. We look at what has been
done and it is not very impressive. Mistakes can be made. If it is just
a mistake in judgment by someone, then let’s just say so.

[t i n contravention of prineiples that you have enunciated,

Mr. Grros. Whether a mistake in judement was made in that par-
tienlar case, sinee it wag the applieation under a blor grant, T am just
not prepared to say at thiz thue. There may have been a number of
Tactors involved in that application of which T am not aware and e« T
have indicated, if it 1% a blee grant program it has to come within the
comprehensive plan developed by the State and nader the State's
priovities in order to he funded.

Semator Perey, The Governmental Affairs Committee disenssed
with the Judiciary Committee that we have some overlapping mem-
boership, doing sgome more oversight work on TICAN,

T have not had oceasion to look at an awful lot of the work of the
LEAA but one axpeet. yvou do a lot of studying, and I wonder alko
what happens to these studies. We just happen to have a specific rase
Liere that you mentioned in your testimony.

The Aerospace Corp. study in April of 1977—that cost how much
maoney ?

Mr, Grueaa, T can get that.,

Senator Prrey. $90.000,

This eorporation working through an LEAN grant of $90,000 de-
livered to your ageney what T consider to be a very useful report on
arson. Seven months after itg delivery LEANA began distributing the
veport to law enforeement agencies around the country. On June -,
1978, 1+ months after TLIEAN fivst received the report, your agency
i=sued & press rolease summarizing the vesults of that valuable study
which show among other things that the econviction rate for arsonists
i Jess than 2 in 100,

T asn going to, without objection, put this report and the LEAN
press release into the vecord of the proceedings at this point.
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[The documents referred to were marked “¥xhibit No, 28" for ref-
erence: the report may be found in the file of the subcommittee; the
press release follows:]

Exmisir No, 23

[News Release]

T.8, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
L.AW ENFORCEMENT ASSISTANCE ADMINISTRATION,
Washington, D.C., June 4, 1978.

Only nine persons are arrested for every 100 cases of known or suspected
arson, ouly two are convicted, and seldom is anyone actually jailed.

These statistics are diselosed in a study-—“Arson and Arson Investigatioh"——
released by the National Institute of Law Enforcement and Criminal Judtice,
the research arm of the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (LIBAA).

The report belied a frequently held belief that a large percentage of s‘ rson
cases result from insurance fraud.

The study, conducted by the Aerospace (Corporation under a $90,000 LEAA
grant, aid arson receives relatively little attention despite being one df the
mogt seritus and rapidly increasing erimes.

In 1075, the study snid, the estimated loss from arson was $1.4 billion-~more
tlian any offeuse on the Federal Bureau of Investigation'’s index of f(eriuus
crime, This included losses of $1.3 billion in building fireg, $80 million in, motor
vehicle fires, and $60 million in forest and walershed fives.

In addition, there were an estimated 1,000 deaths, including 45 fivefighters,
and 10,000 iny: ries in 1975,

Over the 10 year ending in 1975, building fires increased 325 percent—pn larger
inerease than any of the I'BI index crimes, including murder, rape, roblery, and
burglary.

The 132-page report said one reason arson is increasing with relatively few
arrests and convictions is a shortage of trained investigators, Othey reasons
are that there are usually not witnesses; investigation is hampered by the de-
struction caused by a fire and damage when it is extinguished; confusjion ahout
investigation jurisdiction between police and fire officials, and special prose-
cutorial problems beeause arson cases often rely on circumstantial evidence,

The study analyzed arson statistics from 108 cities over four years. Analysis
showed cities with higher rates of arson arvest and conviction tended to have
fewer cases of arson.

The study said its findings are consistent with, but do not prove, the belief
held by many that intensive prosecution reduces arson,

The survey said a study of convicted and imprigsoned arsonists showed a
tendency for the adwult arsonists to be motivated by revenge (55 percent),
while vandalism was the motive of 80 percent of the juveniles, Fraud was the
motive of only § percent of the arsonists. Juveniles made up 60 percent of all
persons arrvested for arson in 1974,

Most adult arsonists were problem drinkers, the study disclosed.

The report said a major difficulty in mounting a national campaign . :ainst
arson ig that the magnitude of the problem is not widely appreciated—pruvoably
because relinble arson statistics do not exist.

1t snid the FBI's Uniform Crime Reports (UCR) does not list arson as a
Part I offense. In the UCR, Part I lists both number of offenses and arrests
for most major crimes including murder, robbery, rape, aggravated assault, and
burglary. The number of arson arrests, but not the number of offenses, is listed
in the UCR Paxt I,

One of 20 major recommendations of the study is that the crime of arson
should be reported with other serious erimes in the FBI Crime Index.

Paul A. Zolbe, the FBI's Chief of Uniform Crime Reporting Programs, said
Senate Bill 1882, currently pending, would direct the I'BI to redefine arson as a
Part I crime and lig* statistics fov it.

Mr., Zolbe said the I'BX is not saying that arson is not a serious crime, only
that there are problems in defining how to report it. .

“We have tried to avoid inflating the statisties by listing two crimes,” My,
Zolbe said. “If a death results from arson, we include that under murder. In
many cases of arson there is a burglary committed. TWe list it as a burglary.”
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Twenty prominent arson investigators, interviewed a« part of the survey, were
asked to identify the current needs in arson invesiigations and their priorities,
The questionnaire also dealt with methods used by arsonists and investigators.

Flammable Hguids were cited by 62 percent of the respondents as the substance
used most often by arsonists, This type of evidence made up 80 percent of the
submissions to the state arson laboratory surveyed. Gasoline was found by far te
be the most frequently used.

The report’s recommendations, which include the songgestions of the 20 arson
investigators, follows .

Collection and dissemination of arson statistics should be improved,

Avson should be reported with other serious crimes in the I'BI Crime Index,

Inereased training for arson investigators of fire and police departments.

More arson investigators are nectded in both fire and police departments,

An automated nationwide data system availalle only to authorized arson in-
vestigutors should be established to help solve cases involving repeaters, pro-
fessional “torches,’” and arson rings.

There should be better fire research so that investigators can determine whether
burned and melted electrical wiring has been the cause of a five or the regult of
arson., The burning chavacteristics of eigavettes should also he studied.

A testing program. should be conducted to extablish the reliability of methods
used by investigators to establish the causes of fires,

The amounts, chemical compositions and persistence lifetimes of the residues
of the flamable lHquids uged by arsonists should be establivhed by a sclentific test-
ing program and the {ndings distribufed to arson investigators.

The question of whether it is possible to distinguish who manufactures sub-
stances used by arsonists should be resolved.

Insurance companies can help eliminate the profit motive from arson through
more selective underwriting, avoidance of over ingurance, not paying claims until
the investigntion has been concluded, more defense against frandulent claims in
civil court, and providing morve information on insurance coverage to arson
investigators,

A flammable vapor detector to locate traces of acecelerants at fire scenes
should be developed.

A study should be conducted to determine the feasibility of detecting fire
accelerants from deposits of soot at fire scenes.

Investigative responsibility should be crordinated. Fire investigation and
arson detection should be the responsibility of the fire service, Criminal investi.
gation of fires established as arson should be the responsibility of law enforce-
ment agencies.

Research should be conducted to obtain information to help design arson pre-
vention programs.

Persons interested in obtaining coples of the study—*“Arson and Arson Tnvesti-
gation”—may write to the Superintendent of Documents, U.8. Government
Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402, The stock number is 027-000-00600-1.
The price is 83.25 per copy, prepaid.

Senator Prrcy. I just again wonder what happens in the bureaucracy
that a study is made, some of the conclusions are startling, and yet it
tales almost as long as it takes to make the report to even get out a
press release on it.

Can you explain why that happens?

Mr. Grrae. It does seem that things move pretty slowly sometimes.
I think part of the problem——

Senator Perey. Even slower than Congress. [ Laughter.]

Mr. Grrag. T won't comment on that. [ Laughter.]

T think it is a question of competing priorities and if T might say that
over the last 18 months, for example, we have testified before 15 differ-
ent congressional committees dealing with areas of erime that those
committees thought weve extraovdinarily important, Drug abuse pre-
veution, drug trafficking, community crime, family violence, child
pornography, child sexual abuse, serious juvenile offenders, organized
crime intefligence vietim surveys, white collar erime, eareer criminals,
crimes of the cigavette smuggler. In each of those it was stressed thet
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we should be dealing with those matters giving them priorvity and in
fact T agree in almost every case that we should be. They are serious
problems.

Senator Prroy. It is a very, very small administrative problen here.
You have a report. You commissioned it. You gave the woney. They
malke the report. They deliver it to you. You could assign an interim to
this, Tt doesn’t take a 21-year-old young man or woman to read this
report, intelligibly written in clear language, not like our energy bill
which you can’t even understand after you read it. But this is a good
report. Just boil it down, get it out. (3et a press release out on it. That is
not a competing priority. What you ave really saying to me is this thing
is xo far down at the bottom of t:e bharrel that you can't even assign an
intern to synthesize the report, summarize it, put a press release out
on it.

If it is going to be done eventually, why not now? T just think, the
accumulation of evidence is that this ix not a very high priovity item
with LEAA.

A delay of more than a vear in preparing the press release about
such an important project, 1 think, would indieate a lack of interc. t.

Mr. Greca. No. It doesn’t at all, Senator, As T have tried to stress a
nuber of times this morning, we ave giving much greater priovity
in this avea. We arve going to move as rapidly as we can,

T just received a note on the particular matter you raised. We had
gome problems with GIPO and the time it 90k to get the documents
published by GPO accounted, in part, fo. the delay.

St it does not vefleet a lack of interest o2 priority for the problen.

Senator Perey. My concern is and the reason for a public hearing
ix to now put vou on notice that law enforeement oflicials, five chiefs
across the country, believe if something is not 2oing to be done, if they
are being rebudted time after time in this fiela. they get discouraged.

You get two or three requests, rebufled and tuened down. and they
are not going o come forward,

It would scem as thongh as a vesult of the LEM N this really is police
oriented. Does LIEAN regard arson control as a law enforeement
artivity that really needs and deserves that attention!?

My, Grrca, That has heen part of the probleny and the reason that
it seeras to me the Seattle experience and similar ones refiect the impact
that you can have when vou get fire departments @id police agencies
working together. T think the same would go at the Federal level
where we have Federal programs that are focused primarily en law
enforcement and others that are dealing primazily with fire issues.
We have this mutual inferest, and T think it is important at the
loeal, State and Federal levels that these ageneies are working together
on this problem,

Senator Perey. As a result of these hearings, then, can we expect
from vou just as we will expeet from FBI Director Webster that a
directive will go out to State LIZAN agencies from headquarters to
the effeet that from here on out they shall give a high priority to
requests Tor arson assistance in view of the enormous upsurge in avson
that this subcommittee has documented and the ease with whiech erim-
inals z}nd organized crime syndicates can get away with arson for
profit 2
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I'f we can have a copy of sueh a directive as the FBT has sent to us,
1 think this subeonunittee will be satisfied that these hearings have
Deen well worthwhile,

Mr. Guego. We will be happy to work with you on a statement of
this sort and I think we can come very close to the one you read.

Weo would have to recognize the nature of the law that we are oper-
ating under and the priovity-setting role of the States in it. But I think
we can certainly stress to the States the sense of priority for this area
amd that it will have an influence and impact.

Senator Perey., Do you have suflicient authority now? Do you need
move law?

Mr. Greca. With that exception we can certainly do what you asked.
We cannot tell the State under our existing law that you must give
this priority, but we can certainly strongly encourage it.

Senator Prrey. As long as they get that from you, they will know
that they will receive sympatletic hearing and that they are working
on something that you both feel is a matter of high priority.

I want to thank you very much indeed, all of you, for your testi-
mony. It has been very valuable as a tool to the subcommittee.

Senator Perey. Richard J. Davis, Assistant Secretary of the Treas-
ury: John G. Krogman, Acting Director, Bureau of Aleohol, Tobacco,
and Firearms; William Williams, Deputy Commissioner, Internal
Revenue Service; and C. Neil Benson, Chief Postal Inspector, Postal
Inspection Service ; and Mr. Stein.

It you could stand to be sworn. Do you swear to tell the truth and
nothing but the truth, sv help you God?

A, Davrs, T do,

Mr. I{rocarax, I do.

Mr. Wirniasts, Tdo.

Mr. Bexsox. T de,

Mr. Strrw. I do.

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD J. DAVIS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY, DE-
PARTMENT OF TREASURY: JOHN G. EROGAN, ACTING DIREC-
TOR, BUREAU 0F ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, AND FIREARMS; WILLIAM
E. WILLIAMS, DEPUTY COMMISSIONER, INTERNAL REVENUE
SERVICE; €. NEIL BENSON, CHIEF POSTAL INSPECTOR, POSTAL
INSPECTION SERVICE; AND LESTER STEIN, DEPUTY CHIEF
COUNSEL, IRS

Senator Gurn~. I do have to go, Mr. Chairman. I have another
appointment. I am chairman of the subcommittee that has jurisdietion
aver the postal matters here in the Senate and I am particularly sorry
I do have to go right now.

But I do have several questions hera I would like to submit and have
them answered for the record. If you could respond, I would appre-
ciate it very much.

Senator Prrey. Thanlk you very much indeed for your invaluable
participation this morning.

senator Prrey. Gentleman, if you could fivst identify yourselves.

My, Davis, I am Richard J. Davis, Assistant Secretary, Department
of 'T'reasury for Enforcement and Operations.
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Mr. Kuoearan, I am John G. Xrogman, JMeting Director, Burean
of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms.

Mr. Bexsoxn, T am (. Neil Benson, Chief Postal Inspector, Postal
Inspection Service,

Mr. Wirtrass, T am William I, Williams, Deputy Conunissioner,
Internal Revenue Service,

My, Srerw, Lester Stein, Deputy Chief Counsel, TRS.

Senator Prrey. The subeommittee wishes to express regret: about the
delay. I know how hard this is for you to tear out a whole morning
and then find it 20 minutes to 1, just starting your testimony.

We are very sympathetic with it. We are just fortunate we didn’t
have a full subcommittee here. [Taughter] We would be running into
days instead of hours,

I would suggest that beeanse we have had a chance to review your
testimony, it has been very helpful in working with stafl, that we
might take 5 minutes to smumarize vour testimony.

[ At this peint Senator (lenn withdrew frour the hearing room.]

Senator Perey. Then we will go right into questions but the entive
testimony will be without ohjection incorporated in the record at this
poeint. St

Mr. Davis. Thank you.

[The statement of Mr, Davis follows:]

STATEMENT OF IToN., RICIIARD J. DAVIS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY

Mr, Chairman and Members of the Subecommittee: T am pleased to have ‘his
opportunity to appear before you today on belalf of the Department of the
Treasury to discuss the growing problem of arson for profit and the role of the
Treasury Department in investigating those ineidents, With me is John Krog-
man, Acting Director of the Dureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms; aiud
William 13, Williaius, Deputy Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service,

There ean be no doubt as to the seriousness of the arson for profit problem.
It has been characterized as the nation's fastest growing crime; its cost is relt
in human suffering as well as in extraordinary economie effects such as the loss
of honmes, businesses, and jobs; and it is a difficult crime for law enforcement
1o successfully detect, investigate, and prosecute. The impact of arson has not
fallen on any single state or part of our country alone, but has affected all of our
major urban areas in various degrees. The National Fire Prevention and Confrol
Administration has informed us that there were approximately 150,000 arsons
committed in the United States in 1976, and that the direct logses were estimated
at approximately $1 billion. In addition, we believe that there is evidence that
in various areas arson serves as a source of income to organized crime,

Jurrently, the Treasury Department’s role in the investigation or appre-
hension of those engaged in arson for profit lies with the Bureau of Alcohol,
Tohacco and Firearms (BATI'). The respongibilities of the Bureau is to investi.
gate violations of the Tederal firearms and explosives statutes which prohibit
the possession of many of the explosive and incendiary devices which are
commonly used by arsonists. Therefore, BATF has statutory jurisdiction to
investigate arvonists who employ certain proseribed devices to commit arsons.
In addition, the Internal Revenue Service, whose mission is the administration
and enforcement of our internal revenue laws, has the authority to investigate
individuals or entities who fail to report thieir profits from arsong. As you can
see, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobhacco and Firearms has a direet role to play
in dealing with this problem, while, on the other hand, the Internal Revenue
Service has a much more indirect responsibility in the arson area.

The Tederal siatutes which currently direct themselves at arson are the
National Pirearms Act, 26 U.S.C. 5801 et seq., (Title II of tlie Gun Control Act
off 1968), and Title XTI of the Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, 18 U.S.C.
841 et seq. Violaiions of both of these statutes may be punishable by fines of
$10,000 and/or imprisonment for up to 10 years, Justice Department officials
will be appearing before this Subcommittee and will be offering their views as
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to the effectiveness of these statutey as they velate to arson, as well as some
other statutes which might be applicable such as those involving Racketeer
Infiuenced and Corrupt Organizations and mail fraud.

Arson, like many other crimes, involve a blending of Federal, State and local
jurisdictions and responsibilities, The Treasury Departirent believes that, at
its core, arson is primarily a stnte and local crime, These entities have the
basic responsibility to maintain public safety within their respective boundaries
and, obviously the Treasury Department does not have the resources to actively
investigate more than a small percentage of the arsons which are commltted
each year,

This does mot mean, however, that we believe there 18 no federal role in the
arson aren. To the contrary, the Treasury Department believes that organized
and direct Federal involvement is necessary, and we have acted to provide it,
BATI has already provided substuntial assistance in attacking this problem
and is currvently dirvecting its arvson investigative activities to those instances
wlhere there is organized criminal involvement, white collar erime, and arson
for hire rings which cross state lines in carrying out their illegal activities, We
have also been committed to providing technical support and assistance to state
and lotal law enforcement authorities, :

In the past the Wreasury Department has attempted, within itg limited re-
sources, to play an active role in combatting arson and arson-related crimes,
predicated upon ATE's enforcement of the Federal firearms and explosives laws.
As the members of the Subcommiftes may know from the GAQ Report, the
number of ATI' argon caseg cannot accurately be mensured without great difi-
culty becanse what iy now reported as an arson or arson-related offense until
January, 1978, was reported as a violation of the Federal firearms and explosives
laws., I am able to report, however, that between Jonmary and July 1978, ATR
had 163 active arson-for-profit schemes under investigation, natlonwide, 75 of
whiclt were being conducted by A'TF Arson Task Forees.

I am also able to report that in cases where direct ATF investigative involve-
ment at the State and local levels was precluded for jurisdictional reasons, the
Bure;m always stood ready to furnish technieal and investipntive assistance,
For instance, during 1976 and 1977, ATI"s four forensic laboratories provided
(tﬁ)%hnical assistance in over 2,000 arson cases, and investigative assigtance in

CASes.

As the problem of arson grew, the Treasury Department in the past year has
sought to develop new and more effective strategies within the Department to
combat it. We have also recognized the need for a coordinated Federal effort
and have initiated programs with other Ifederal law enforcement agencies,

I would like to shave some of these initiatives with the Subcommitiee :

In January 1977, an ATE Arson Task IPorce was established in the Philadel-
phia, Pennsylvania, avea consisting of persounel from BATE, the FRI, the
Postal Inspection Service, and Philadelphin police and fire investigators. This
task foree was crented to assist loeal law enforcament authorities in arson
investigations where violations of the I'ederal firearms and explosives laws
were suspected. The task force was very effective and has led to the convictiong
of three individuals who had employed professional argonisty to burn down
commereial structures for the purpose of defrauding insurance companies. The
task foree has also investigated. nine other cases, three of which are now awaiting
prosecution, and six others awaiting grand jury action.

In the fall of 1977, my office had discussions with the Justice Depurtament con-
cerning the feasibility of osrablishing Arson Task Forees in the twoenty-three
Department of Justice primary and satellite strilie foree loeations. The purpose
of these task forces is to develop cases against organized crime and racketeering
figures who are believed to be involved in arson schemes; and to assist state and
local authorities in the investigation and prosecution of significant arson-for.
profit cases,

During this same period of time, ATF investigative personnel met with officials
of the Criminal Division’s Organized Crime and Racketeering Kection to develop
specific investigative standards and guidelines to be used in defermining when
an arson-related organized crime or white-collay crime should he investigated.
The purpose of setting these guidelines is fo ensuve that the limited Justice De-
partment and ATE resources would be ufilized in the most effective manner by
investigating only those cases where there was a reasonable likelihood of success-
ful prosecution.
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On February 1, 1978, the task foree coneept was approved, Beginning in Mareh,
ATE began training speeial agents in geson investigations and sinee then has
trained 120 special agents, The special agents chosen for these asslgnments all
underwent intensive instruction in the deteetion and investigation of arson-for.
profit schemes at the Federal Law Liuforeement Training Couter in Glyneo,
Georgin, Since then, ATEF, in couperation with the Department of Justice, ujsuo
has Ield o seminar in arson investigative techuigques for Speefal Xdgonts in Charse,

In January, 1078, we also met with representatives of the Commeree Depart-
ment's National Iire Preveution and Control Administration to offer our as
sistance at the National Fire Xeademy in the fraining of state and loeal nw en-
forcement and fire-fighting porsonnel in the deteetion and investipantion of ars<on,
Previously such traiping had been provided by AT on enly au ad hoe basis uat
the district level, Final arvangements for AT partieipation have been made, and
it is expected that AT will begin assuming teaching duties at the Acwdemy
within the immediate future,

Because we have recognized the obvious inferest that insuranee companies
have in halting the growth of srson and their wide expoerience in investigating
thix erime, we recently enlisted their coosperation in combatting nrson-for-profit
reliemes, For instanee, in April and June, 1978, AT met with representatives of
the Tusurance Crime Prevention Institute and the Property Loss Research
Bureau in order to obtain information regardiug major arson-for-profit sehews,
wnd to make arrangements for the future exchanges of information regarding
detection {echniques. Represeniatives of both organizations have pledsed their
fall cooperation in support of the AT Arson Task Foree projects, In the ease
of the Insurance Creime Prevention Instifute, there were also arvangemoents made
for ATE to participate on a Hmited basig in the instruetion of new investigators,

Treasury recognizes that further initiatives will be required iff the Fedepral
effort against arson-for-profit schemes is to be fully effeetive and as our expericnee
grows we are prepared, within our recouree eapahility to undertake them, For in-
stanee, we know that there must be o better and more efficient procedure fur
sharing information on suspeeted arsonists with Federal, State and loeal au-
thorities, Studies (o develop these procedures arve now underway,

While we continue to believe that primary responsibility in this area shonld
remain with the Rtate and local authorities, we are committed to continuing onr
role in thix aren. However, we ecaution againgt heightoned expectations that the
Federal government alone will be able to provide suflicient resources to attiack
this problem, It ean only be succeessfully addressed by a coordinated federal’
state offort, This ix o refieetion of the faet that federal resources, Inw enforee-
ment and others, are not unlimited, This is partieularly true of the Burean of
Aleohiol, Tolneeo and Fivearms, whose prapoged 1979 hudgoet was severely rediwed
by the Congress. Neverthelesg, we are determined to try to do what we can to
try to meet this problem, even though our primary actor—BATEF- -may have less
people to meef all its responsibilities,

I will now ask Aeting Director Krogman and Deputy Commissioner Willtans to
present their statements after which we will be glad to answer any questions
yon may have,

Thanlk you,

Mr. Davrs. T will just very briefly summarize the testimony. T think
that these hearings and the mere facts themselves support the con-
clusion that arson is g serious crime, both in terms of the speed with
which it is growing. its impact on people and property, the problems
which are faced by law enforcement in trying to solve it and the
widespread natnrve thronghout the conntrv,

Treasury’s role is prineipally in the Burean of Aleohol. Tobareo,
and Firearms in terms of its enforcement of the explosive laws which
involve many of the devices which are used to st many of these fives,

In addition. the Tnternal Revenue Serviee, when the arsonist doesn't
report his income, also has a role to play in terms of possible income
tax prosecutions.

We think that this is the kind of erime like many other crimes
which_involves the blending of responsibilities, Fedoral. State. and
local. When you talk abeut approximately 150,000 incidents in terms
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of one of the statistics we have Deen given, we feel thal as basieally
a starting point.

The loeal anthorities should have the Jead in the investigations, We
thiak the Federal Government las a very imporiant role amd must
play an important role in a very directed and organized way and we
Lve been trving to do that, This role is in investigating those arsonisfs
who are involved in oreanized eriminal activity, white collar cvime.
or whose aetivitios cross State lines,

Through ATE, we have heen investigating avsons sinee 1969, In
1076, andd in 1977, ATE provided in over 2000 instances aboratory

aesistance (o loeal authorities and over 600 instances of investigative
nesistanee. But ATT also conducts these investigations itself.

In Janwary 1977 ATEF started a Philadelphia task foree in econs
fumetion with other Federal law enforeement ageneies and the Depart-
ment of Justice, which 1 think was very suceessful in showing that
this kind of coordinated effort can help in investigating and proe-
cuting arson offenders. ‘

In the fall of 1977, T had meetings with representatives of the Jus-
tive Department and exchanged letters with thon Assistant Atterney
Gioneral Civiloti, in which it was asreed that ATI would expand its
task foree approach to the 23 strike foree cities and satellite strike
faree cities, and that was done during the swinter of 1078,

These tasks forees are in progress, aud are condneting approximately
73 apson investisations now. In addition, ATEF, even apart from the
task foree approach. conduets other arson investigations atud s pres-
c11i v condneting many of those in its varions offices.

ATF has alo heen' {raining its asents in arson investigative tech-
piques in order to improve their ability to perform in these various
“trike forees, T has also gotten heavily involved in terms of trying
to train local officials in terms of enhaneing theiv ability to investizate
‘arson,

For example. in the past, ATE would work at its distriet office Tevel
on a more ai hoe Dasiz with Joeal law enforeoment offieials in pro-
viding training to personnel of loeal poliea departments. We have
now. a8 & result of conversations with people at the Commeree Depart-
ment, come to an agreement in which AT will be given teaching time
at the National Fire Aeademy to enable ATF to provide to the five and
nolice investigators who go to that Academy the expertise which they
havedeveloped in the investigation of avson.

Wo also met with vepresentatives of the insurance industry to try
to fmprove onr coovdination and wnderstanding of the probiem. Wo
are committed to tryving to do the best within our resources to con-
tinue these eftforts,

T know vou ave tived of heaving the phrase “within its resources,”
but for us at ATF and Mr, Krogman, it is particularly an important
problem since, as you know, this was a difienlt budget. year for them in
terms of getting the ATT appropriations through the Congress,

Novertheless, while that may mean we can't expand as fast in all
of tha areas as we would like, we are committed to continuing to do
what we have and to continue the task force approach in order to do
something to meet the problem.

Senator Perey. Thank you very much indeed.

My, Krogman.
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Mr. Kroeaax. Traditionally, ATTF has been involved in arson in-
vestigations in several different ways. Whenever possible, our agents
have actively investigated avson cases which fell under ATEF juris-
diction, which is essentially the Gun Control Act.

Qur foremsic laboratories have proceeded and analyzed arson or
suspected arson evidenco sent to it by State and local law enforcement
agsncies. Additionally, our Bureau scientists have joined with special
agents in conducting training classes in arson detection for State and
loeal law enforeement ¢ yencies throughout the United States.

ATT made its first fire bombing case, which now would be termed
an arson case in 1969 in Mobile, Ala. In 1969 we also began instructing
State and loeal officers that Federal prosecution of avsonists was avail-
abla in cases whera the fire was started through the use of what we
could call a destructive device, “Molotov cocktail” firebomb.

In the early 1970°s, ATE was a participant in the Chicago arson
task force together with city police agencies. ATF laboratory facili-
ties have provided expert opinion and court testimory, where needed,
for local agencies in arson investigations. For example, our labora-
tories have analyzed evidence in more than 2,100 arson cases.

The most recent ATE tactic in combating arson has been through
the use of task forces which utilize the talents of many agencies.

This task force concept was implemented in Philadelphia following a
series of arsons there, The ATF Special Agent in Charge was granted
permissicr: to form an arson task force for Philadelphia.

The group included ATT, the FBI, postal investigators, and Phila-
delphia police and fire investigators.

This interagency cooperation with State and local officials resulted
in 15 arson investigations, including the successful prosecution of
white-collar eriminals who employed professional arsonists.

These hirelings burned down buildings and businesses so that the
bossos might defraud insurance companies of hundreds of thousands of
dollars.

During 1977, on-the-job training was provided ATT agents by tem-
porary assignment to the Philadelphia arson task force in order to pro-
vide us with the expertise to expand this enforcement concept to 10
other cities with acute arson problems.

In November, a decision was made to expand the concept to all 23
Justice Department’s Strike Force cities.

In February 1978, there was an agreement formalized with the Jus-
tice Department, extending the arson concept to the Strile Force
cities. Training started immediately, and by April, ATTF had con-
tacted all Strike Foree attorneys, Federal agencies, and State and loeal
agencies invoived.

As of July 1, 1978, we have already initiated 163 arson investiga-
tions, 75 of which ave under the task forco supervision.

We will supplement our task force operation by establishing two
national response teams. These 10-man teams will be used in major
arson cases, hbombings, and aceidental explosions, The idea is to develop
a well-trained team of speeialists who can be tenvened on short notice
anywhere in the United States at the site of a major bombing or arson.

Kach team will consist of 10 special agents, augmented by techni-
cians, forensic scientists, and auditors. Because the investigation of ex-
plosion and fires can tie up agents for many howrs, these quick response
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teams will offer relief to the local ATF agents and permit them to con-
duct their regular investigative work uninterrupted.

These team members ave now being selected. They will undergo
extensive training and should be operational within a few weeks. We
expect to monitor the results of these response teams, as well as the
task foree, very closely,

[Statement of Mr. Krogman follows:]

STATEMENT BY JOHN G. KROGMAN, ACTING DIRECTOR, BUREAU OF ALCOIIOL, TOBACCO,
AND FIREARrMS, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

My, Chairman, and members of your distingnished subcommittee, I appreciate
the opportunity to discuss with the committee ATIVs activities in arson investiga-
tion, and what tne Bureau has done to combat the alarming growth of arson-for-
profit in the United States. .

Because the Bureau is concerned at the growing number of arsons through the
Nation, it has taken steps to aggressively attack the problem within the limits
ayailable to it.

This is not to say that ATF has not involved itself in arson-cases in the past, for
traditionally it has, but under circumstances limited by manpower and priorities.

The Bureau derives its authority in arson investigation from two sources, One
is 'Title 1T of the Gun Control Act of 1968 which forbids the illegal manufacture
of explosive devices. The second source is the Explosives Control Act of 1970,
However, because of the Bureau's limited manpower, ATEH agents have empha-
sized the primary intent of Loth acts: That is, the enforcement of firearms and
explosives laws, and the regulation of the two industries.

Nevertheless, through the years the Bureau has conducted many arson investi-
gations based upon the application of these laws. In addition, our laboratories
have processed many hundreds of pieces of arson evidence, not only for ATE
agents, but as a service to State and local law enforcement agencies.

Until recent years, arson was considered to be outside ATIs jurisdiction, unless
the device used to i nite the fire was a traditionally recognized destructive device
or an explosive, If the cause of the fire fell within these rather narrow parnmeters,
then jurisdiction vould be claimed by ATE. Recently, however, we have estab-
lished that the use of a lammable ligrid when mixed with an oxidizing agent does
fall within the definition of explosive as set out in the Explosives Control Act.

A recent U.fi, district court decision in Savannah. Ga., supports this Bureau
interpretation. With thig interpretation ATE has the scuthority to investigate
directly 1cany more arvson eases than it previously could. 'Thus, a violation of
Tixplosive Control Act can be established when gasoline with an oxidizing agent is
used or is attempted to be used to damage or destroy any building, veliicle or other
real or personal property in intewstate or fureign commerce or in any activity
affecting interstate of foreign commerce.

Traditionally, ATE has endeitvored to he involved in arson investigations in
several ways. When possible. ATEF agents have actively investigated arson cases
which fell under Bureau jurisdiction. The ATE forensic laboratories have always
stood ready to process and analyze arson or suspected arson evidence sent to it
by State and local law enforcement agencies, Additionally, Bureau scientists have
joined with special agents in conducting training elasses in avson detection for
State and local law enforcement ofticials.

In the past, our special agenis perfected many ecases which would not be
termed arson cases, but were included in our criminal case reporting system as
Gun Control Act or Explosive Control Act cases. I'or more accurnte reporting,
we reﬁently revised our system so fhat we can identify arson investigations
as such.

ATTE made its first fire bomliag case, which now would be termed an arson case
in early 1969 in Mobile, Ala. ATK agents then avrested two persons who were
convicted and sentenced to 5 years each.

In 1869, we also began instructing State and loeal officers that Federal prose-
cution of arsonists was available in cases where the fire wag started through use
of a destructive device. The “Molotov Cocktail” was a commonly recognized and
used device.

In the early 1970’s, ATF was a parvticipant in the Chicago arson task force to-
gether with city police agencies, AI'F laboratory facilities have provided experd,
opinion and court testimony, where needed, for loeal agencies in arson investi-




! 378

gations, Our laboratories have analyzed evidence in more than 2,100 arson case
investigations.

The most recent ATT taetic in combating arson has been through the use of
task forees which utilize the talents of many agencies.

Thig task foree concept was implemented in Philadelphia following a series
of arsons there. The ATT special agent in charge in Philadelphia was granted
permission to form an arson task force for the city. The group included ATE,
the FBI, postal investigators and Philadelphia police and fire investigators.

This interagency cooperation with State and local officials resulted in 15 arson
investigations including the successful prosecution of white collar criminals
who employed professional arsonists, These hirelings burned down buildings and
businesses so that their bosses might defraud insurance companies of hundreds
of thousands of dollars.

Those criminals eaught in the task force web included a Philadelphia insurance
agent who sought to collect $200,000 from insurance companies after hix hotel
and restaurant were destroyed by fire; and a landlord who conspirved to burn
several of his unprofitable low-income rental homes.

During 1977, on-the-job training was provided ATEF agents by temporary
assipnment to the Philadelphia arson task force in order to provide us with the
expertise to expand this enforcement concept to 10 other cities with acute arson
problems, In November, & decision was made to expand the concept to all 23
Justice Department’s strike force cities.

In February 1978, there was an agreement formalized with the Justice De-
partment extending the avson concept to the strike force cities. Training started
immediately, and by April, AT had contacted all strike force attorneys, Federal
agencies, and State and local agenecies involved. As of July 1, 1978, we have ini-
tiated 163 arson investigations, 75 of which were task force investigations.

The story of ATIMs fight against arson was publiched by the International
Association of Fire Chiefs in the April issue of its professional magazine. A copy
of that article is attached to our doenmentation.

We are also in the process of establishing two national response teams. These
10-man teams will be used to investigate major arson cases, bombings and acci-
dental explosions, The idea is to develop a well-trained team of specialists who
can be convened on short notice anywhere in the United States at the site of a
major arson or bombing.

Each team will consist of 10 special agents, angmented by technicians, forensic
seientists and auditors. Because the investigation of explosions and fires can tie
up many agents for long periods, these quick response teams will offer relief to
local ATF agents and permit them to conduct their regular investigative work un-
interrupted, and leave the investigation of the major arson cases to the response
team,

These team members now are being selected. They then will undergo extensive
training and should be operational within o few weeks.

As for the GAO report which was critical of efforts being made by Federal agen-
cies in fighting arson, we agree in substance with the report that arson for hire
is a very serious problem which is becoming critical. But we disagree with the
implications of the report that ATF has not mounted concerted efforts to combat
the problem, The testimony I have presented indicates the zeal with which the
Burean has sought to fight arson within our limited resources since 1969.

A'TF has been aggressive in its efforts to combat arson for profit. Howevey, we
certainly agree that much more should be done. ATE isg limited in scope by man-
power aud resources. We believe we can play an important role in meeting the
problem. We have the expertise, the energy and the dedication to mount a mean-
ingful effort. The extent, however, to which we can apply resources to the arson
area is a factor of how many resources we have, With more resources we obviously
can do more. What we promise, however, is to continue to use our people, to the
extent we can, to attack this growing probiem.

Thank you.

Senator Prrev. Thank you very much.

Mr. Benson, again your full testimony will be put in the record and
you can summarize it.

. Mr. Bexsox. The Postal Tnspection Service is responsible for enfore-
ing the laws which relate to the Postal Sevvice, securing the mail and
guarantecing the integritv of the mail. As such, one of the laws is the
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mail fraud statute, and it is under this law that we touch sometimes on
avson investigations.

Ilowever, it is important to note that in investigating mail fraud we
o not normally have to prove arson. It is simply enough to prove the
mails were used, that there was a scheme to defraud the mnsurance com-
pany of some money by inflating a claim or by submitting a false claim.

In doing this, we do cooperate with the other agencies through the
oganized crime strike forces and the various cooperating efforts already
mentioned as well as with the insurance industry through the Insur-
ance Crime Prevention Institute.

Senator Prroy. Thank you very kindly.

[The statement of Mr. Benson follows:]

SraTEMENT OF CmIigr Postan INgpEcror C. NEIL BENSON

My, Chairman, I am Chief Postal Inspector C. Neil Benson, T have been in
charge of the Postal Inspection Service since 1975. I first joined the Postal
Service in 1944 and became a Postal Inspector in 1959,

1 am here today in response to your request for testimony on the law en-
forcement role of the Postal Service in relation to arson-connected frauds.
Ax an introduction, let me describe for you briefly how our arson-frand investi-
eations fit within our general law entorcement responsihilities.

Under the provisions of 18 U.8.C. 3061 and 39 11.8.C. 404(a) (7), the Postal
Service lhias guthority to conduct investigations of violations of postal laws.
tme of these laws is the criminal mail fraud statute, 18 US.C. 1341, which
derives from legislation first enacted in 1872,

Mail fraud covers a large range of criminal activities. Many have to do with
false and frandulent indemnity claims made to insurance companies. Some of
these are for personal injuries sustained in staged automobile accidents. Others
are indemmnification for losses due to theft or burglary. Still others are eclaims
for payment for treatment of injuries or illnesses of persons covered hy
medical insurance plans, In all, we divide the various mail fraud schemes into
some TO categories, one of which now is arson-related insuranece claims,

Today, approximately 258 Postal Inspectors are assigned to mail fraud
investigations, In Fiscal Year 1977, a total of 5,087 such investigations were
closed, At present, there ave about 4,000 open mail fraud investigations,

Insurance-claim frauds are a significant part of this aetivity. During FY
1077, our records indicate that we received 1,861 complaints of this character
involving losses of about $3%% million, The Inspection Service conducted 197
investigations leading to 322 arrests. In a special poll of our Iuspectors, we
found that 30 of these investigations and 33 of the arrvests involved arson-
related frands.

Our involvement in investigating arson-related frauds generally bLegins with
notification by the insurance industry or local investigative anthorities about
A suapicious fire and claim that may involve the use of the mails, Since arson
itwelf is within Federal jurisdiction only in limited circumstances, our entry
into the casxe frequently begins some time after the fire on which a claim is
hased, often after the local investigation of the fire has started or perhaps is
aver,

In a mail frand caunse, arson itself is not a necessary element of the ecrime
aud need not be proved. It is sufficient to prove that the claimed logs did not
aceur, that the claim has been inflated, or that the building or its contents were
over-insured, plus the fact that the mails were used in furtherance of the
fraudulent claim, .

This does not mean that “arson for profit” should be viewed as just another
fraudutent scheme for making money. The arson element makes this a very
dangerons and vicious type of fraud.

Let me give you a few examples of the kinds of cases in which the Inspection
Service has become involved.

Defendants conspire to cause the bombing of their own business to collect
proceeds from an insurance policy.

A development company hires a so-called “toreh” to burn a building con-
fniping sample condominium apartments, in an attempt to collect $1.4 million
1n msurance,
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An arsonist who is suspected of being hired to burn a private club is burned
to death in another arson fire.

A father and son are charged with mail fraud for defraunding 21 companies
through burning their cocktail lounge.

Inventory records are altered to reflect a greater quantity of goods burned
in an arson fire thau actually were lost.

A claim for insurance on antique automobiles destroyed by fire is found to
be overstated tenfold, The cars had not been destroyed as elaimed.

Hotel owuers hire others to burm the hotel in order to collect insurance.

My staff and I (at National Headquarters) maintain linison with other Fed-
eral agencies including among others the Federal Bureau of Investigation;
Bureau of Aleohol, Tobacco and Firearms; Department of Iousing and Urban
Development; Invironmental Protection Agency; Department of Justice; In-
ternal Revenue Service; Secrct Service; Department of Ilealth, ducation, and
Welfare; and Securities and Exchange Commission, The Inspectors in Charge of
the 18 Inspection Service Division ITeadquarters maintain liaison with the 94
United States Attorneys, state and local law enforcement authorities, and con-
sumer and business groups., I also have an Inspector permanently assigned to
each of the Department of Justice Organized Crime Strike Forces. Through these
contacts we actively solicit referrals of all types of fraudulent activity which
involve use of the mails. This, of course, includes arson for profit,

In January 1978, due to increasing councern about arson-connected frauds,
procedure for keeping separate statisties relative to fraud cases involving arson
was established. Other steps have been taken to enable us to become more ag-
gressive in efforts relating to this kind of crime. I have met with the Director of
the Insurance Crime Prevention Institute to set some guidelines for an active and
close cooperation between that organization and the Postal Inspection Service.
The Institute is aware that we actively solicit the referral of suspicious claims.
A cooperative effort to identify localities with a suspected high incidence of arson
has been launched to provide an additional focus for investigation apart from
the receipt of individual referrals. Regional Chief Inspectors and Inspectors in
Charge maintain regular contact with Institute personnel.

We believe that we have improved our ability to monitor and to deal with
arson-related fraud schemes, These are very serious crimes. A significant Federal
effort is required and we expect to do our part.

This concludes my prepared statement., I will be pieased to respond to your
questions.

Senator Percy., My, Williams? _ )

Mr. Wirniams. Yes, Senator. I have a very brief statement which I
will summarize.

In IRS, we certainly share this committee’s concern that action
should be taken to combat the serious erime of arson for profit. The
responsibility of the Internal Revenue Service is to enforce the TFederal
tax laws, Failure to report any taxable gain from the insurance pro-
ceeds derived as o result of a fire would be a tax violation.

Similarly, a failure to report any taxable income from arson is a tax
violation as is failure to report income from any other activity. The
amount of income received and unreported in arson related activities
is difficult to prove, as is the case with ineome from other illegal
activities. )

Such income is typically concealed.

The Service pursues arson-related tax violations and a number of
IRS distriets have projects and cases involving such violations. In-
formation relating to the illegal activity having potential tax signifi-
cance is evaluated by our field offices under a procedure for processing
information items. )

This includes items identifying individuals engaged in arson-for-
profit’ activities. In addition to the activities I have mentioned, we
mtend to take a number of specific steps to improve the level of our
information about arson activities. We plan to arrange for a specific
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arson-related liaison to obtain potential information having tax rele-
vance with the Bureaun of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, the Postal
Service, and other Federal agencies that have the primary responsi-
bility for law enforcement efforts against the crime of arson.

The Service has agreements with the States for the exchange of tax
information. Working through these contacts, we will seek to ascertain
the' availability of potentially tax velated information about arson
from State agencies as well as from insurance industry sources.

The Service is committed to the vigorous enforcement of civil and
criminal penalties within its jurisdiction as an important part of its
responsibility for a balanced program of tax administration.

As part of this commitment, we will investigate and cooperate in
the prosecution of tax offenses related to arson as we do in the case of
other tax offenses.

Thank you very much,

[The statement of Mr. William E. Williams follows:}

STATEMENT OoF Wiriaam H, WiLrrays, DepuTy COMMISSIONER, INTERNAL
REVENUR SERVICE

My, Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: I appreciate the opportunity
to appear before you today to discuss Internal Revenue Service activities relat-
ing to arson-for-profit.

We share this Subcommittee’s concern that action should be taken to combat
the serious crime of *Arson-for-Profit.” The responsibility of the Internal Revenue
Service is to enforce the Iederal tax laws.

Irailure to report any taxable gain from the insurance proceeds would be a tax
violation, Similarly, a failure to report any taxable income from avson is a fax
violation, as is failure to report income from any other activity.

The amount of income received and unrenorted in arson-related zctivities is
difficult to prove, as is the case with income from other illegal activities. Such
income is typically concealed. The Service pursues arson-related tax violations,
and a number of IRS Districts have projects and cases involving such violations.
Information relating to illegal activity having potential tax significance is evalu-
ated by our field offices under a procedure for processing information items, This
ineludes items identifying individuals engaging in arson-for-profit activities.

In addition to the activities I have mentioned, we intend to take a number
of specific steps to improve the level of our information about arson-related ac-
tivities, We plan to arrange for a specific arson-related liaison to obtaln poten-
tially tax-related information from the Bureau of Aleohol, Pobaceo and Firearms,
the Postal Service, and other Federal agencies that have the primary responsi-
bility for law entorcement efforts against the erime of arson.

The Service has agreements with the States for the exchange of tax informa-
tion. Working through these contacts we will seek to ascertain the availability
of potentially tax-related information about arson from State agencies.

In addition, we will seek to obtain for our own evaluation potentially tax-
related information from insurance industry committees established to investi-
gate matters involving arson.

The Service is committed to the vigorous enforcement of eivil and criminal
penalties within its jurisdiction as an important part of its responsibility for a
balanced program of tax administration, As part of this commifment, we will
investignte and cooperate in the prosecution of tax offenses related to arson ag
we do in cases of other tax offenses,

Senator Percy. At this point, I will ask without objection that the
three GA O reports be inserted in the record.

[The documents referred to were marked “Exhibit Nos. 24, 25, and
26" for reference and will be found in the appendix.]

Senator Prrey. My, Davis, fivst you quote figures from the National
Fire Prevention and Control Administration of 150,000 arsons in
1976. We heard testimony yesterday from the Chief Arson Investi-
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gator in ITouston that indicated that arson is vastly under-reported
In many cities, in fact throughout the United States.

What can be done so that the arson figures more accurately reflect
the truth of this nationwide problem?

Mr. Davis. T think the first thing that can be done is probably being
done now in these kinds of hearings, to cause not only us, but people
back in the States to focus on the problem to improve the reporting
svstems.

I hate to get involved in the discussion with my colleagues from
the FBI, but under either approach, I think there is a recogmition
that it is a Federal responsilnlity to try to seek out more informa-
tion from the States as to the quantities and the numbers of arsons that
are taking place and to try and get that information so that we do
have a better idea.

Senator Prrey. You say that in the past year, the Department has
attempted to develop new and more effective ways to deal with the
arvon-for-profit problem.

Is it your opinion that the arson problem is of such recent vintage,
or is it only within the past vear that the Department has begun to
realize how serious a nationwide problem it is?

Mr. Davis. T think the arson problem has obviously been with us
for more than a year and the ATT has been investigating it longer
than that. But T think it was in January 1977 when ATE started the
task force approach that we began to realize that we had something
that could not just be viewed as isolated local ineidents, that had to
be viewed because it was appearing to be the case, as involving more
evidence of rings, more evidence of organized crime involvement.

T think that that awareness developed in 1977. We tried to veact to
that. I think the problems therefore, and the awareness came gradually.

Senator Prrey. Mr, ICrogman, how many investigations of arson
for profit did the Bureau conduct last year? Could you give us the
results of those investigations?

Mr. Davis. T think it was 163 was the figure we used. It was sinco
Jannary of 1978 and prior to that one of the diffienlties is that many
of the arson figures are figured in with the explosive figures when they
were reported back and the problem was going back into the statistics.
We have now arson reported in a more identifiable basis.

Mr. Krosaran. We have been recording avson as such since July,
Senator Percy, since then we have participated in 163 arson investi-
gations. Refore that, these investigations would be incorporated in
our Gun Control Aect and onr Txplosive Control Act statistics. For
example, we may conduct an investigation of a Molotov cocktail,
which is & fivearm as defined under the Gun Control Act.

Rut now woe ave collecting statistics which specifically relate to.
avson.

Senator Prrey, The GAO reported that an ATE official estimated
that the new arson task force would he operational by last June. Yes-
terday, however, we heard from the San Jose police chief and he told
the committee that he had not heard from the representatives of the
ATT task fovee in the bay area.

(Clould you comment on this?

Mr. KroenraN. Yes, siv. On September 1, 1977, the strike force at-
torney in San Francisco held a joint meeting of ATT, FBI, Postal
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Service 1epresentatives, as well as the local chiefs of police, including
Chief MceNamara, who attended that meeting.

That meeting was subsequently followed up by a resident agent
in charge in San Jose, who contacted Chief Mchamam around the fivst
of the year, 1978, when they discussed our arson task force.

It is unfortunate that we were not referred by the chief down to
his intelligence unit, but we did tallk with the chief on both occasions,

Senator Prrey. T would like to read the question put by Senator
Nunn:

You alsa testified that the Alcolhnl, Tobacco and Firearms Task Force out of
San Franeisco—I believe they operate ont of San Francisco—had not contacted
you regarding theiyr work, Is that vight?

Mr, McNayMaRa, Regarding the arson, yes, that is true,

('an you comiment on that a little?

M. Kroaaran. Yes; we did contact them on two separate occasions
relative to this problem.

Senator Prrey, ATTs efforts will concentrate on organized crime
involved in arson ?

Mr. Kroearan. They will concentrate on organized crime as well as
white collar erime, arsont for profit, but due to our limited resources,
wo have to be highly selective in the types of arson investigations that
we get involved with,

But those are two areas thal: we have sent instructions to our field
offices : Organized crime and avson for profit.

Senator Perey. Has your Burean encountered any problems in co-
ordinating its arson-related investigation to the Federal and local law
enforeement agencies and, if so, what ave they ?

Mr. Irocarax., The first problem I heard about was the one with
Chief MceNamara. Generally, our cooperation with other officials has
been outstanding across the board.

Senator Prercy. Does ATTE believe that there is a need for a law
making arson a Federal crime or for changes in present law making
enforcement more effective ?

Mr. Kroearax. T don't helieve so. T think imnrovement conld be made
if explosives were included under the RICO statute, that certainly
would be an improvement in our enforcement.

Senator Perey, Thank you very kindly. :

Mz, Benson., we do not seek, as you know, jurisciction over the Postal
Service, but we have here several experts. We have a great deal to Jearn
ahout the Post Office, but certainly T intend to try to intensify my
efforts there and hopefully work on it, because there is a good deal of
ceriticism these days as we well know. )

Again, in a spirit of cooperation we would like to work with you to
sea that you have the resources and encouragement and help that you
need. We are happy to have you here this morning.

During 3 days of subcommittee testimony on arsen for profit, we
had heard from experienced eriminals and law enforcement authorities,
all of whom emphasized the ease with which yon can commit arson.

Tt seems avson for profit is one of the easiest erimes and it has grown
rapidly thereof as a result, It has moved into aveas of high yield and
tow risk.

Is the Postal Service aware of the magnitude of the problem pre-
sented by arson for profit? v

Mr. Bevsox. I think we are beginning to be aware of it. We have
certainly been working in this area for sometime, but we work very
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closely with the insurance industry. They will cooperate with us by
providing data on false claims or claims that they suspect to be other
than legitimate.

The number of these claims sometimes is not quite as large as we
would expect from some of the other areas that we hear about. The
insurance companies, of course, cannot always substantiate that the
claim is false.

Senator Percy. As you are beginning to get a comprehension of the
seriousuess of the problem, can you tell us what steps so far have been
taken in respect to this law enforcement problem ?

Mr., Bexnson. We are making some internal changes. We have added
sowme statistical gathering methods to improve our knowledge of how
extensive the arson frauds do impact on us.

In addition to that, we have been cooperating, of course, with the
organized crime strike force since the beginning. We have increased
our cooperation with the other agencies in this area as they have in-
creased, it with us.

We have selected, in cooperation with the Insurance Crime Preven-
tion Institute at Hartford, Conn,, what I prefer to use as a sample or a
test site to see if we can make an impact in & particular city by reducing
the arson-related fraud which is suspected in that particular city.

Senator Prrey. Could you tell us how many arson investigations
were completed last year and how rmany convictions, for instance,
were obtained ?

Mr. Bexsoxn. I could tell you that we conducted approximately 107
investigations. Last year, we did not separately compile the arson
statisties, but we surveyed our divisions and about 50 of tlose investi-
gations related to arson. As a vesult of those 30, we did eflect 53
arrests.

Senator Prrey. The Postal Service told the GAO that they planned
to give more investigative attention during the year 1978 to arson-
related insurance frauds.

Can you supplement your report by indicating how many investiga~
tions actually have been undertaken and how many are completed thus
far this year?

Mr. Brnson. As far as arson ?

Senator Prrey. Yes; and arson-related insurance fraud.

Myr. Brnson. It is very difficult to pull out those figures until the end
of the year. I am not sure if I understand that question, Senator.

Senator Percy. You sat down with GAO when they were making
their study and indicated that you planned to give more investigative
attention during 1978 to this problem.

If you could either give us now or just supplement for the record
how many investigations have been undertaken, how many completed,
so far this year.

Mr. Bexsow. I would have to get those figures and supplement it.

Senator Prrcy. We will leave the record open for a reasonable
period of time for you to get ihat information for us then.

[The information furnished by Mr. Benson follows:]

From January to June 1978, there were 17 open arson-related mail fraud
investigations, which resulted in 16 arrests.

Senator Prrey. I wonder if you could tell us what difficulties you
have found in coordinating your arson-related investigations with the
FBI, ATF, and other Federal and local law enforcement agencies?
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Mzr. Benson, I don’t think we have found any particular difficulties.

"The human resources necessary to set a higher priorvity for this partic-

ular investigative effort is probably the major item.

Senator Prrcy. Finally, the same question I asked previously, do
you feel that arson should be made & Federal crime or do you know of
any changes in legislation that would require the strengthening of
your hand?

Mr. Bensor. No. I know of none that would impact on the Postal
Service and 1 would not suggest a Federal crime,

Senator Percy. Mr. Williams, a member of your stafl

Mr. Marowe. Before you leave Inspector Benson, Senator Glenn left
behind with us a series of questions which we would like to submit to
Chief Benson and ask him to prepare responses for the record.

M. Bexson. I would be happy to do so.

[The questions submitted by Senator GGlenn to (. Neil Benson, Chief
Postal Inspector, together with the answers, follow:]

Question, On page 4 of your statement, you say that new precedures were
hegun in January to keep separate statistics on arvson-related fraud.

Did this oceur beeause of a noticeable increase in sueh cases? Can you give
us any ?informntion that would help quantify the degree to which this problem has
grown

Do you have any information developed that would show the degree to which
fraudulent insurance claims through the mails correspond with arson cases?
TWhat percentage of arson cases appear to be tied to fraudulent insurance claims?

Question, Alse on page 4, you refer to cooperative efforty to identify locnlities
with a suspected high inecidence of arson and arson-related frand cases.

IIave fhese efforts had much success in identifying such localities?

Is there a regular program for screening insurance claims when fires of
susplieious ovigin occur?

(Yould you deseribe for us any common characteristics shared by localities with
suspeeted high avson and arson-fraud incidence?

QGuestion. Do you think the 30 cases of arson-related frauds you found in FY
T7 comes anywhere close to accounting for the true number of such schemes?

Question, You state that, during Fiseal Year 1977, 30 of your insurance claim
investigations—about 15 percent of the total—involved nrson.

Does that represent s significant increase?

Of the 33 arrests referred to, were these arrests made by postal inspectors on
fraud charges?

Do you know how many of the defendants were charged with the arson itself?

Iave your efforts to actively solicit referrals brought about any increase in
arson-related investigations?

Question, Is thore n pattern that would indieate organized arson-for-profit
operations, and, it so, are Federal nuthorities (Organized Crime Strike Forces,
ote.) glving suffielent attention to this avea?

Question, Are the mail fraud statutes an effective tool for getting at the
arson-for-profit problem?

Do you have any specifie recommendations to make that could lead to im-
provements in the enforcement efforts against arson or the related business
of fraundulent insurance claims?

Cuier PosSTAL INSPECTOR,
Washington, D.C., September 25, 1978,
Tion. Jou~ (LENN,
7.8, Senate,
Tashington, D.C.

Dear SEvATOR GLENN: Tollowing my September 34 testimony relating to
arson for profit before the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, a sub-
committee staff member informally referred to me the written questions which
vou stated at the hearing you wanted me to answer, The purpose of this letter
is to respond to your questions and, perhaps. to sunplement some of my testi-
mony in regard to arson-for-profit insurance mail fraud sechemes,

Our decision in Iate January 1978 to keep separate statisties on arson fraud
did not relate to any nnticenhle increase in the alleged crimes of this sort being
brought to onr attention, Rather, the interest in this sort of crime expressed
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by Congress, the press, and other investigative ageneles led us to deeids fo
capture these statisties in order to determine the extent of the problem as it
conearned the Postal Service., Our statistles ave aceumulated on a quarterly
sehiedule, so we know the figures from January through June, 1978, These fizures
seem to ghow perhaps o slight upward trend in onr case load in arsen frawd
matters. During this period, we had 17 such eases under investigation, and ikey
resulted in 16 arrests,

It would appear, based on these carly statisties, that arson insurance rases
comprise Tess than ten percent of the overall insurancee frand cases investigiied
by the Tuspection Service, We do not have any statisties on arson apart feem
arson-related insurance sehemes, whicl provide a nexus for our involveuent
through the axe of the mails in furtherance of the schemes,

Our efforts with the Tnsurance Crime Preveution Ins{itute (TCPI) to identify
loeatities with suspected high incidence of arson is a new progren, o0 theie are
no signifleant developments to report at this stage, The sereening of insuranse
cliuinis when fresx of suspictous origin cecur ix aceomplizhed by insurance eom-
panies and organizations such as ICPT, The Inspection Serviee has no partientar
involvement in the routine handling of lnsurance claims until such e s an
nlezation of mall fraud ix reported to us,

There seems to be o wide diffevence of opinien as to the extent of av<on pud
arson-related frauds, To state whether the number of investisations condusied
by Postal Inspectors comes anywlhere near the true number of such schemes
would be conjeeture on my part, ITowever, T am inclined to believe that there
may be many such cases unreported to us, in spite of our efforts to enconrace
such reporting of suspected arson-related mail fraud. Of conrse, there may also
he a number of insurance-related fires for which a likelihood of arson involve-
ment is not deteeted by poliee authoritiex or insurance companies,

I would like to be able to answer your question of whether the investigations
of arson-related insurance frauds condueted during Fiseal Year 1077 represents
un inerease over previous years, IIowever, since the estimated figure for that
voar is the first one we have, T have no way to determnine the degree of inerease,
if any.

The 33 arrests made by Postal Tnspeetors during the period prior to 1978 wonld
have been the rexult of mail frand investigations or o mail fraud related federal
eharge, such as wive fraud, interstate transportation of stolen propoerty, ete, Tt is
enfirely possible that, in some instaneces, those persons eliavged with mail fraud
in a TL8, distriet court were also charged for arson in a state eourt,

TUndoubtedly, orgauised erime will, or already has, moved into the Inerative
areq of arson-for-profit, Some of our cages have indicated that possibility. ITow-
ever, we have not diseerned a pattern of widespread organized erime aevivities
in arson fraud. S8 mentioned in my testimony, Posial Tnspecfors are assigned to
the various strike forees, T am confident that these units are fully aware of the
arson-for-profit potential and are capable of providing sufficient nftention to it
Tt has algo been my experience that the Justice Department and the respestive
T8, Attorneys' offices nre cognizant of the importance of arson-for-profit insne-
ance feaud cages, These organizations also arve able to do a gond joh,

The Mail Fraud Statute, as I mentioned v my testimony, is 1 powerful tool in
ceombating many varieties of frandulent sotivity involving nse of the mails,
ineluding arson-for-profit, I therefore do not believe thnt making arson a federal
crime 18 necegsary at thig time to deal with the kinds of fraunds which the Postal
Soervice has jurisdiction to investigate,

Sineerely,
', NEI1, BENBON,
Chief Postal Inspector,

Senator Prrey. A member of vour stafl adviced the subeommittee
that there is no one person in TRS headgnarters monitoring arson
invostiention. Ts this etill the case?

My, Winnraas, This is true, Senator. We eannot at this point in time
assembla any data on the number of cases that may have been investi-
aated over the years beeause of the vast provisions of the Internal
Revenne Code,

We have not set up specifie provisions to track specifie sources of
cases such as arcon. We do have an idea of the number of eases under
investigation at the present time but we have not established speeifi-
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cally an arson program, a special program in terms of arson, but rather
wo consider this along with the other leads and the other data that
wo have for investigating alleged violations of the Internal Revenue
laws in the general compliance avea.

Senator Prrey. Ave you convineed. as a vesult of these hearings, that
arson for profit does represent a potentially lucrative source of facts
that TRS should be interested in?

Mr. Wrniaos, Yes, Senator. As T indicated in my statement. we
ghare your concern. We do have a number of projects now in provess
throughout the country dealing in this area and we do plan to place o
let of additional effort in liaison with other agencies, hoth at the Fed-
eral and Statoe level.

Anv leads or information that we receive on these contacts will he
considered and woven into ¢ compliance programs, We are concernedl
that any income derived in this avea should be veported for tax pur-
poses just as any other income that is not reported.

HMenator Prrev. Dees the IRN have anv overall poliey of how to
investiaate possible avson-for-profit tax violations?

Mr. Winriavs, Yes: onr mannals that ave distributed to our in-
vestigative officers hmve procedures for determining the income that
would he devived by taxpavers, whase property may be destroyed in
temus of insnranee ecoverage, and go forth, and of eourse in addition, onr
effort in the case of arsonists themselves would be directed toward the
income that they would have received as a vesult of (heir efforts in
this area.

Senator Praey, Our staft was also told the TRS does not attempf to
«1]«\\'(\1)01) its own leads on possible arson-for-profit tax cases, Why is
that?

Mr. Wirrnaors, T don't helieve T understand the [rst part of your
auestion, Senator,

~ Senator Perey. The stafl was told that IRS has not attempted to
develop its own data on possible apson-for-profit tax caves, but apf
vour leads from someone else, Ts this an avea where you should initiate
action?

Mr. Winrtass, T don’t believe this is entirely covrect. Of the eur-
rent proieets and eases that we have under investioation, some of tho-e
A ovigmate from information developed by the IRS, In most of
them. though. T believe the information id eome {rom other ageneies
ond T think this is 2 normal process in this type of activity, As Mr.
Davis has indicated, our role is a rather indireet one in terms of
arson.

Senator Prrey. You wonldn't feel it cost effective for you to initiate
vour own action here?

Mr, Wrnnraors. Senator, we initiate various projects throughout the
vear when we find aveas of noncompliance with the tax laws, This
would certainly be ineluded as one of those.

If we had information either that we were to develop ourselves or
that we would 1eceive from other agencies and it was weighed and
determined to meed our eriteria for investigation. we would certainly
investigate those cases just as we are doing so now at the present time.

Senator Prrey. Could I be specifie now about what followup you
micht obtain? The subeommittee did hear 2 weeks ago testimony con-
verning the sueeessful arson-for-profit conspiracy, prosecution, or in-
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tent, involving 22 defendants, thousands of dollars were fraudulently
gained by n:any of the conspirators from the insurance companies.

Ilas IRS determined whether any of these convicted persons owe
taxes on the money they were paid? -

My, Wisnraas. As you know, under provisions of section 6103 of the
Code, it is very dificult for us to discuss our activity on any specifie
case. I would ask Mr. Stein perhaps to comment, further.

Mr. Srerv, I think the point is well taken, but let me add this: The
Serviee has a general policy throughout the country of seeking leads,
not only that come to us from other agencies, but from newspapers,
from all sourees. I would assume that our people in Florida arve also
reading newspapers.

Senator Prrey. Stafl advises me that the task force, strike foree has
never heard from IRS on those convietions,

Mr. St Let me answer it in this manner. When an investigation
is started for Internal Revenne purposes, we ave unable to disclose the
fact of that tax investigation except where it is necessary for us to
gather information.

TWhat the preeise sitnation might be down in Tampa, T can’t answer.

Mr. Winniams., I might add that on every one of the strike forees
the Internal Revenue Service has o representative. I ean't speak spe-
cifically on particular cases, but wa do have one or more people worlk-
ing with every strike fovee.

I would be happy to look into this particular case.

[Additional information supplied by Mr. Williams follows:]

Derury CoMMISSIONER OF INTERNAL REVENUE,
Tashington, D.0.,, October 30, 1978.
Mr. JoNATIIAN COTTIN,
Investigator, Permaenent Subcommitice on Investigations, Senate Committce on
Government Affairs, Russcll Senate Ofice Building, Washingion, D.C.

Dear Mr, Corrin: Thig letter is in respouse to your request for additional
information on the Serviee’s recent efforts in the arson-for-profit area.

With regard to the situation in Tawmpn, Plorida, deseribed at the hearings, sec-
tion 0103 of the Internal Revenue Code, *Confldentinlity and Disclosure of Re-
turns and Return Information,” prohiblty the Service from disenssing the spe.
cifics of any particular taxpayer's case, Ilowever, I can tell you that, in keeping
with onr normal procedures, copies of relevant testimony from the hearings have
been furnisiied to our Criminal Investigation Division for forwarding to its
counterpart in our appropriate service centers. There, the data will be evaluated
undes our system for processing information items, If appropriate, criminal inves-
tigations or civil examinationg will be initinted. Additionally, our Sounthenst Re-
glonal Commissioner in Atlanta, whose jurisdiction includes Florida, has been
furnishied a copy of relevant testimony for his review.

To insure that appropriate follow-up takes place in any future arson cases, our
Criminal Invegtigation and our Ixamination Divisions are coordinating the de-
velopment of instructions to our §8 district offices in establishing linison with

- appropriate state insurance commissioners, This is for the purpose of solleiting

Information on insurance claims suspected of being avson related, as well ng on
those having efther eriminal or civil tax potential, Moreover, existing guldelines
betweent the IRS and the Justice Department provide for IRS participation in all
Strdike Forces, and for cooperation in criminal tax investigations, which would
include criminal activitles related to avson which have an impact on tax
administration. .

I can assure you that the IRS views arson-for-profit ag o serious problem, and
will take all the necessory steps to see that it receives appropriate attention in our
balanced tax admindstration system,

With kind regards.

Sincerely,
Wirtram B, WILLIAMS,
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Senator Perey., T think it might be justitied. One of our witnesses
yesterday testified that arvson in Texas is vastly underreported becaunsa
of inadequate resourvees at the loeal level,

Does this lead you to believe that if all other law enforeement
agencies stepped up their activities to identify arson fraud IRS could
collect substantial additional vevenue?

Mr, Wirrrans. I would think so. T would think this would follow
based on the volume of erime that seems to be comumitted in this avea,
and the fact that the potential for tax evasion is very high.

T would think it would increase signilicantly. i

Senator Prrey. Would you feel that arson should receive a higher
priovity now than it has in the past ?

Mr, Winrtaas. I think if that werve to occur, if we were to start to
receive, or develop ourselves, considernble information in this aren
that indicated tax fraud, I think we would inerease our effort in this
areq. A

Senator Prrer. TWould you cave to comment on why you believe this
has had a lower priority in the past than you are assigning to it now?

Mr, Winrrans, It is difficult, Senator, to evaluate just what priovities
were in the Service because the Internal Revenue Code is so vasts so
many cases are investigated in a given year. We have never codified
the specific source of the investigation to this degree.

I think over the years we probably have investigated a number of
cases in this area. However, I do think that this crime apparently is on
the increase, I think the work of this committee has identified this and
placed it in higher priority and I think as the velume of cases ave
brought to our attention, our efforts will naturally tend to increase,

But I don’t think we have identified this in the tax administration
field as o major program.

Senator Prroy. Thank you very much,

Yesterday the headlines across the country proclaimed the passago
of the Civil Service Reform Act reported out of this committee and
Senator Ribicoff and I steered it through the Senate. I do think it is
going to be o very, very good thing,

But I constantly tried to indicate that it is not an indication hecause
we are reforming the civil service the first time in 100 years that there
are not efficient and cffective bureaus.

I constantly use the example when I am chnllenged on the inefli-
ciency of the Federal Government and so forth, as I publicly have
been, and my identification with this reform program in Illinois, con-
stantly reminding audiences that they can’t say there aren’t any effi-
cient services. Just take a look at the Internal Revenue Service, It is
probably the inost eflicient, best organized tax collection agency in the
world. We have kalped a lot of countries develop their tax systems,
make them more fair snd just and uniform in the collection. And it
would save a lot of grief in a lot of countries if they could tax the
peoplo as cfficiently and as well as we do here, . .

I might say that from my own experience in working with the FBT
and the Internal Revenue Service that they have done an extraordinary
job in the past.

All civil servuats ave looking askance now at the civil service reform.
It is meally & way of saying we are going to be able to determine which
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bureaus are efficient and which arven't; between employees who are
riding on the backs of the others and who are incompetent and those
who are really outstanding.

I think all nf those who ave truly competent necd not be concerned.
In fact, they would welcome this because it would enable us to do an
awful lot now. We have now assurances that it will be sent to the
President without any question.

I want to thank all of you very much indeed. T have a very brief
closing statement on these hearings.

I't 1s fair to say that this should signal the beginning of an aggressive
commitment by all the agencies which appeared here today to help
stent arson {or profit,

I am impressed with the expressed willingness of our witnesses today
to meet the challenge they have thus far ignored for the most part—
that of puttmg the hived torch out of business.

I must say in this arvea, or 15 years ago, I wouldn't feel it was that
serious. And both Senator (Glenn and I have come to this realization
in recent years and we have been rather astounded, though, that there
has not been high enough priovity assigned to it.

Tt may require more than a commitment on the part of these agencies
alone to deal with this problem. Legislation may be needed. More
money may be required from the Congress. Local law enforcement
agencies may want to come forward with requests to these agencies
or to the Congress with new and innovative approaches. I think we
are trying to prove that whatever is put in will be very, very cost
etfective,

And as the FBY Divector pointed out, he indicated very clearly the
terrible cost in human tragedy as well as property costs hecause of our
neglect in this area.

I believe that the agencies involved will now be more veceptive to
requests for help from local law enforcement agencies. I am en-
couraged by LEAA Administrator Grege today assigning a high
priority to arson activities in allocating grant funds. ’

This subcomiittee now has an obligation to make certain that the
Federal Government follows through. We will be monitoring the
activities of these agencies through cheeks in the field with the same
ronrees we developed in the course of this inquiry, as well as with
others. TWe will perform whatever followup investigation is necessary.
Tf more hearings are indieated, they will be convened. '

We want these hearings to serve as a starting point for the agencies
gathered here today: As a signeal to them that the Congress will no
lemeer tolerate inaction and disinterest.

T think it would be heartening to the country to realize that vour
testimony uniformly indicates that you sharve our concern, you are in
a position to really do something about it. We can back up and support
the requests that you make, as well as monitor your actions.

T ean assure you you will have many members on this subcommittee
that will be strongly behind you.

Does majority counsel have any further conument ?

Minority?

. Thank you very much indeed. We are most appreciative. The hear-
ings are adjourned. '
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[Matevial subwitted by the State of Teunessee, Department of In-
surance, at the request of Senator Sasser follows:]
’ S1ATE OF TENNHSSHE,
TIIE DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE,
DIvVISION 0P FIRE I’REVENTION,
Nasheille, Tenn., Seplember 14, 1978,
Ion, Jiar SASSER,
N, Senator, .
Dirison Senate Office Building, Washington, I3.C.

DIEAR SENATOR SAssEr: Der your request, enclosed please find statistieal infor-
mation briefly outlining the arson problem in Tennessec.

Ax you ean gee, our office fuvestigates approximately 1800 fives each year, The
Inrze majorify of thege fires arve located ourside major urban distriets or wher-
ever 1o loeal five investigntors exist. Our office does, of conrse, axsist local agen-
cles whenever requested to do so, Tor example, ten state arson investightors
assistod Memphis officials during the recent firemen’s strike.

Although the Tennessee State 1firve Marshal’s Office does have the authority
to investigate trves anywhere fu the State it does depend on lacal agencie# to con-
duet investigations (and ingpections) where they exist, Unfortunately, some
counties {(as many as 30) are lackiug suelr investigative capabilities and roly
solely on our oflice.

The State Five Marshal's Office, Argon Section consists of twenty-four investi-
sators Oneluding the Chief), Thexe men have limited formal training but for the
nst part are experienced investigators. Each man is provided with an gutomo-
hile, commnnieations equipment, firearms, cameras, ete. The men have immediate
seeess to guatified polygraph examiners, experts in the use of psychological stross
evaluator and electronice sniffers,

Al investigators ave provided and take advantage of continuing education
opportunitiey, Training is available through the state chapfer of the Internn-
tional Assoeintion of Arson Investigators, Tennessee Five Training Academy,
aund the state Law Enforcement Training Academy as well as speeial workshops,
seminay, efe,

Onr office has utilized a computer on an experimental hasis and has heen sue-
cossful in arresting and convieting five volunteer firemen responsible for more
than 130 fneendiary fives sot in 1976, Limited resources prevent us from continu-
inr the use of the computer on & Invonder geale,

The main headquarters of the state fire marshal's office is located in Nashville.
The hoadguarters ave supported hy six rvegional offices loeated in Memphis, Jaek-
son, Chatanoogn, Knoxyille, Cookeville and Johnson City.,

To my knowledge respective to manpower the Tennessee State Fire Mavshal's
Offive is the largest in the Tnited States. The staff consisty of 184 people including
81 fulltime eleetrical inspectors working on a contractural basis, The office also
lgts more varied responsibilities than most of its counterparts in other states
which sceounts in part for ifts large staff. Our responsibilities inelude but are not
limited to electrieal inspeetion, mobile home maunfacturing inspeetion and
“anchoring”, five safety inspection nf all eduneation and health care faeilities,
plans veview, publie service eduecation and arson investigation,

Nince there is no statewide fire incident reporting system presently ecollecting
tata in Tennessee, hard statistical information is nnavailable. Figures from the
Tnsirance Sevviee Office, the State Department of Insnrance and our own sur-
veys zive a pretty fair indieation of the arson problem in Tennessee,

Tt iz fmportant to note that effective April, 1978, the State Tire Mnrshal's
Oftice veceived a grant from the National Five Drevention and Control Adminis-
fration - to develop a statewide fire incident reporting system, This system is
expocted to begin colleeting data Jamuary 1, 1079 and will also be utilized to deal
with the arson problem.

A one month study of all fires ocenrring in Tennessee conducted in November
1977 indicated ahout 40.000 total fire incidents. I estimate hetween eight and
ten thousand of these fires or 25¢% were incendiary,

Direet property losses in Tennessee due to arson are estimated to be as high
ax £15M000.000,00 annually, Although I believe the actunl losses are slightly less,
the fizure is staggering.

This total does not aceount for indirect losses-unemployment, rednetion in
tax revenues, business failuves, fighting the actual fives, ete. which can have a
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grave impact on & community, Nor does it account for the loss of life or injury
to firemen fighting these incendiary fires,

Our study also indicated that arson fires on the average are five times more
costly than accidental fires.

In Tennessee I believe insurance fraud is the prime motivation for arson, a close
second is the revenue and/or vandalism type fire. Running third and a distant
fourth respectively are those arson fires set to cover crimes or by pyromaniacs.
There are no studies available to confirm these findings but this has bheen our
experienco for the past several years.

Of the 1,800 fires our office investigates each year in Tennessee, approximately
750 are determined to be incendinry. Of the 750, about 250 nrrvests are made. In
many cases the arrested arsonist is responsible for more than one fire, No figures
are available for the number of convictions since our investigators turn the in-
dividunls over to loeal law enforcement officials for prosecution,

All things considered, I feel our office is doing a good job of dealing with the
arson problem in Tennessee. There remains, however, a multitude of things that
can be done,

I trust the information contained in this leiter and materinls will give you
&t better understanding of the arson problem in Lennessee and how our office
ig attempting to deal with it. If you need additional information or have more
questions, please do not hesitate to contact me,

I thank you for your interest in making our great state and country a more
fire safe place to live,

Very truly yours,
GENE TTARTS00K,
Assistant Commissioner and State Fire Marshal.
Enclosure,

TENNESSEE STATE FIRE MARSITAL'S OFFICE: 1977—aA GOOD YEAR
(By George C. Schnitzer, Jr., Director of Public Information & Education)

Despite the very tragic Maury County Jail Fire which killed 42 people in June
1977 Tennessee'’s five losses were down considerably this past year. Fewer deaths

were recorded and recently compiled statistics show a marked decrease in the-

number of fires destroying personal property. In faet, conditions were favorable
enough that tue Insurance Service's Office representing more than 250 ingurance
companies requested and was granted a 7 percent premium DECREASE by the
Commissioner of Insurance for commercial fire coverage in ennessee.

Under the aggressive administration of State IMire Marshal Gene Hartsook
the Division of Fire Prevention more commonly referred to ag the State Fire
Marshal’'s Qffice enacted several new programs and regulations dealing with
Tennessee's fire problem. Always striving to provide the most fire snfe environ-
ment possible for the citizens of Tennessee the State Fire Marshal's Office pro-
duced nearly 3 million dollars in revenue from permits, licenses and inspection
fees during 1977.

The largest office of its kind in the T.S, the Tennessee State Fire Marshal's
Office has multi-faceted responsibilities to homeowners, businesses and industry

throughout the state. The State Fire Marshal’s most obvious responsibility is:

promulgating laws, rules nud regulations pertaining to fire safety and protection.
This office has adopted the 1976 National Fire Protection Association’s National
Tire Code which includrs the 1973 Life Safety Code and the 1976 Southern Build-
ing Code published by the Southern Building Code Congress.

The Fire Marghal’s Office investigates the origin and circumstances of fire and
prosecutes the crime of arson and related offenses, The Office also sponsors exten-
sive public education, instructional and public service programs for schools,
health care facilities, nursing homes, fire departments and other state and local
agencies, One of the most successful education programs conducted by the State
TFire Marshal’s Office is the clementary school assembly program “Houses Don’t
Burn Down—They Burn Up”.

The Office also regulates, inspects and investigates liquefied petroleum gas in
stallations and dealers in fireworks, mobile home construction and anchoring,
gasoline bulk plants, electrical installations and publie buildings for fire safety.

One of the most significant works initiated by the State Tire Marshal’s Office
is a new regulation requiring public places of assembly to check and announce to

-




393

its patrons the availability of emergency exits. The new regulation now in
effect has drawn national attention ag a progressive five safety measure.

The Stateée Fire Marshal's Office has also recently received national acclaim
for reducing the per capita fire loss in Tennessee from nineteen dollars per in-
dividual to fifteen dollars per individual.

The Division is comprised of six scetions as follows :

Arson segtion.—The Arson Section investigates all reported incendiary fires
and prosecutes arson cases and insurance fraud in cooperation with law enforce-
ment agencies, local fire departments, insurance industry investigators and other
state enforcement agencies. To assist in these functions twenty-four highly gkilled
and technically equipped investigators wworkout of regional offices in Memphis,
Jackson, Kunoxville, Chattanooga, Cookeville, and Johnson City, In addition, this
section regulntes and enforces fireworks law in Tennessee,

Specially trained personnel equipped with sophisticated electronic instru-
ments like polygraphs, psychological stress evaluators, and electronic sniffers
hiave proven invaluable in condwucting thorough and complete investigations, In
1077 there were more than 1800 fires investigated by the Argon Section. Of these
742 proved to be incendiary and were closed with arrests in 242 cases, This arrest
record is one of the most successful in the routh-east.

‘The computer has also been employed by this section to assist investigators in-
vestigating certain arson cases. The Pattern Recognition System was designed
and implemented to recognize certain patterns of erime and has proven highly
successful, This office was the first in the south to use computers as an investign-
tive aid to fight arson.

This section algo issues licenses and enforees laws regulating firesworks denlers,
wholesalers, jobbers, manufacturers and displays. Approximately half of Ten-
nessee’s 95 counties permit the use or sale of fireworks.

Eduncation section.—This newest and very successful addition to the division of
Fire Prevention is responsible for the development of programs that promote the
knowledge of fire protection and safety to the general public, Warking closely
with the electronie and printed media public service campaigns and news stories
are developed to crente a more fire safe environment in which Tennesseans can
work and live. This =ection also works with volunteer groups and other state
and local agencies sponsoring workshops, seminars and edueational programs
designed to promote five safety.

The most recent public service effort designed to reduce Christmas free fires
was chosen most outstanding in its class in the United States by The National
Tire Protection Association. The eampaign reduced by 79 percent the number of
Christmas tree related fires in Tennessee in December 1976 over December 1975,
The campaign was sueccessfully repeated during the 1977 holiday season,

One of the most important projects of the Education Section is the elementary
school assembly program, “¥ouses Don’t Burn Down—T1hey Burn Up®. This pro-
gram was seenr by more than 130,000 young people during the 197677 sehoonl year,
Plans are already underway to bring the program to an additional 150,000 new
students during the 1977-78 school year, X

Through the generosity of WDCN-T'V the “Houses Don't Burn Down-—They
Burn Up” program was filmed for a television special which aired on statewide
public education television during Fire Prevention TWeek (1977). The special is
now being edited for 10 mm film and will be distributed through the film libraxy
maintained by the State Fire Marshal’s Office. Funds for the film were provided
DLy the Independent Insurors of Tennessee.

Electrical section.~—The primary responsibility of the Iillectrical Section is the
enforcement and regulation of the 1975 National Electrical Code to assure correct
and safe eleetrieal service to homes and businesses in Tennesseee,

Working closely with power distributors throughout the state this seetion con-
ducts instructional meetings for contractors, home builders and electrieal appli-
ance dealers,

This section is also responsible for the inspection £ all new or relocated mobile
homes with respect to the recently enacted mobile iome anchoring law.

A new voluntary program developed to provide the most timely and efficient
service is a “rough in” electrical inspection for residential buildings. This pro-
erams enables builders to obtain more thorough and complete inspections of elee-
trical installations.

More than 65 electrical inspectors loeated throughout the state conducted more
than 90,000 inspections in residential, commerecial and industrial buildings during
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1077, The section also provides assistance to county and municipal officizls in
making inspeetions of large commereial and tudnstrinl fustallations,

Eugincering section.—This section has n trained stafl’ of five proteetion spe-
cialists which reviews plans and specifications for proposed construcetion to deter-
mine general complinnee with state adopted five and bnilding codes, Plans reviews
for more than 500 hospitals, nursing howes, cducational and day eare crnters
woere made in 1977, The fire protection engineer supervises a staft of six plans
examiners who requirve speetalized edaention, tralning and knowliedge of Nationat
Five Protoetion Assoctation and Southern Building Codex. This seetion works
closety with architects, engineers and builders in all new fnellities and with
major renovation in existing facilities,

The successful activities of this section are demonstrated by the fact that
Tennessee has never lost a child to o five in o public school nor has it ever ex-
perienced a multiple fire death in a nursing home or hospital,

The Fngineering Seetion developed and presepnted several five safety zeminars
in ('oo}wrution with the Tennessee Hospital Association, and Tennessee State Ifirve
Training Academy throughout the state,

Fire safety section~—Twenty-two regionally loeated fire safety inspectors in-
speeted more than 6,300 facilitles in Tennessee during the calendar year 1977,
Thege included morve than 750 dny cave centers, 1,000 hosgptialy, almost 400
kindergartens, 400 LI gas distributors, 150 mental health and mental retarvda-
tion facilities, 1,175 nursing homes and more than 2,000 public and private
sthools and orphanages.

The suceess of thiy program is not obvious to the general public since the
elimination of fire goes largely unnoticed, Inspectars have advised and made
recommendations based on their findings to morve than 3,300 school offielals,
lmsiuo&\men, health profesgionals, pollticnl leaders and fivefighters, Who knows
how many fires were prevented through the fire safety inspeetors activities?

Thix section also maintaing a fire prevention lil)rm'y, issues licenses and
permits for lquefied petrolewm gas dealers, explosive handlers and gaseline
transportevs,

Mobile homes section~~One of the most outstanding programs of its kind in
the conntry, the Division of Fire Trevention’s Mobile Ilome Seetion i one of
the fipst in the U.8, to be given HUD approval to conduet its own state inspection
program for mobile home construction, Iivery mobile home built in one of the
fourteen manufacturing plants in Tennessce is inspected at some phase of
congtruction for compliances to the Federal Mobile ITome Standard as adminis-
tered by the U.R, Government,

Thix section also conduets random inspeetions of recreational vehieles for con-
pliance to state codes with the assistance of a mobile home engineer, supervisor
of inzpection and eight field inspectors.

The seetion also enforces the new \Inhilo ITome Anchoring Law requiring the
anchoring of mobile homes to prevent disasters caused by wevere storms and high
winds, The ofiice approves mobile home ancltoring systems used in Tennessee and
fssues auehoring permits to installers,

Li(‘(‘ns(\\ for recrentional veliteles und mobile home dealers and manufacturers
are also fssued by this oflice,

For more information concerning nuy one of the varied activities of the State

Tive Marshal's Office, plvnxo contaet the respecetive seetion head at our new head-
quarters, The address is Teunessee State Five Marshal's Office, 306 Gay Streot,
\’.whvill(‘ TN 37201 or telephone direct to: Gene Iartsook, State Fire Marshal-—
T4 20813 George ¢, Scehnitzer, Director of Public Information-~747-20K81; ¢, T,
Patterson, Chief of Arson Seetion—741-1322 5 Tom Copeland, Chief of Fire Pro-
teetion—741-7180 ; Weleh Bryant, Chief of Fire Sufety—T741-7162; David Borum,

Chief of Mohile IInnw-a»—"-Ll 7170,

ARS02 SReTIon, LENNEssEE STATE Firk Marsnav's Orrics, Avaeust 1078

1975 —1,800 total fives Investigated ; * 783 incendiary fires; 354 arrests,

1076.~1,600 total fires investigated ; * 608 incendiary fires ; 279 arrests.

1977.—1,800 total fives investigated ; * 742 incendiary fives ; 242 arrests.

1978 (6 months),~~1,140 total fives 111\'0.st1gutod 1341 in(‘onduu‘y fires; 136
al'r(x\tm

1 Reprosent fires outside prime wrban eenters or where no loenl authorities exist.
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Divisioy oF FIee PREVENTION

"The Division ol IPire Prevention, algo known as the State Fire Marshal's Office,
iy administered by the Commissioner of The Department of Insurance in iis
apaciy as Btate Pire Murshal, through the Director of Fire Prevention, and
other staft members, The Division is divided into five gections: T'he Flre Nafety
Inspection Seetion, the Arson and Fraud Section, Elecetrieal Inspector Section,
Fire Protection Bngineering Section, Mobile IIome Section, and the Idueation

seation,

The following statistical information refieets the work aceomplished by each
Nertion during lho ealendar year 1970,

‘The types awd unmbers of 111\pecrion.u made follows:

Assemblies L. e Hi]
Bulk oil distributors et m s L4)0D
Camps and churches e e St e it e e b e e 31
Commereinl] mameavomm——— — - 111
Dy Care faeliiies e . o RO T 1§
Dormitovies .- ———— hY
EXPIOSIVEeS wc e —— T
Garoline delivery \'eluclvq —— — (4113
Ilomes for wod - iy
Hoxpitaly eeoan e e e e e e b [ r— 049D
TSP e e e e —— 2
Kindergartens 367
LP gas installation and delivery vehieleSa e e et e e e e ———— Bith
Mentul hospitals. weeae - —— e m e 12}
Nursing homoeg .. —— e s s s etk mn e me by TP
Orphanages oececcmccmcmcan - - et i m e 120
Private Sehools oo e mem e e et o o et el e — 1!
Public SeHO0IR e m e ——— et e e e s 1 2 e i r 4 e Ly 1
Residentinl fireplaces ... us
Restanrants oo ————— SO - — 30
Retarded homes.veoooon ——— a6
Subtotal -C - 6,875
Maobile home and reercational veliiele inspections
Mobile hBome manufacturers e ——— v NGO
MODIHE RO B8 T S e e e e e v a1 et s e s e e st e Ly 210
Mobile parks.oaccenes ——— - 14
Recreational vehicle manufuoturers_.._____....__-..__--__x..-“-____..____,.... AT
Reereationnl veliicle 82108 1068a e mccnmmccmcmanaane 399
Subfotal .. e e e o e o o e ot e ‘.!. B!
Grand total RS UU OOV UOUIORIE 8 1 {11
The following seheiixe o0 - ¢ the number of arson investigations made dur-

ing thoe year 1976 and the resun. of cases proseented.

AATHOIL i st e st e e o e e e e m s o e e s e O

Suspieinus 01 feCIACMIRL . o e e e e e VB3

Undetermined eoeeceeweeone e e e ~ 407
Total eases investigated. e 1,000
Arrests . ———— 270
Indictments—1976 - 166
Convictions—1976 — 180
Assisted investizafions _— ——— 601
IMireworks violations and arrests 2
Hours in court 2,441, 5
Polygraphs 187
PSH exams 200

Savings ag result of investigations $334, 492, 29
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The following statistics show the number of wiring inspections made and the
results of such inspections during 1976,

Total inspections N 94, 240
Number accepted 86,130
Number rejected 8, 116

Total inspections on mobile homes and recreational vehicles. ... 10, 902
Number accepted 10, 543
Number rejected.- 359

Fee payments to deputy electrieal inspectors (including January
1977 payments for December 1976 inspections) {769, 457, 23

STATISTICAL DATA ON ELECTRICAL INSPECTIONS, 1970-76

Number Inspectivas Money
- received by Other
Accepted Rejected Total Inspectors Milage expense
61,917 5, 564 67,481 $430,664.60 1,055,781  $19,739.86
71,812 6, 698 79,510 502, 514,93 l, 144, 860 28,720.63
8,,324 7,522 93,846  605,292.33 1,282,258 39, 813. 41
109, 109 6,252 115, 361 !899 762.63 1,670, 969 61, 879,99
95, 588 7,237 102, 825 1833 724,22 1, 599, 400 53,739, 7
79,908 7,047 86, 955 01 294.10 1,449, 524 31, 736,37
86,130 8 116 93,245 1769, 457.23. 1,528, 355 32,267.99

tIncludes amounts paid in January for the December inspections,

Note: 10 percent of the inspection free received in 1974, 1975, and 1976 was retalned by the State, This is not included
in the above figures.

The Fire Protection Engineering Section reviewed the preliminary and final
plaus of the following categories of buildings in 1976.

Tducational 350
Institutional 197
Residential
Assembly
Mercantile
ffice
Industrinl
Storage
Miscellaneous
Automatie sprinkler

Total 660

The following is a breakdown of the licenses, registrations and revenue col-
lected by the Licensing and Registration Section during 1976.

s

Liquefied petroleum gas licenses $18, 335. 50
Registration of the fire alarms and extinguishers, 450. 00
Tireworks permits 47, 238. 00
Manufneturer 750. 00
Distributor 23, 250, 00
Johber 10, 500. 00
Wholesaler 1, 750. 00
Retailer 10, 850. 00
Overpayment 1.00
Display 137. 00
Registration of electrical contractors 111 484 .00
New registrations 17, 720. 00
Renewals 96, 150. 00
Additional pocket cards 614, 00
Mobile home licenses 6, 185. 00
Dealers 169

Manufacturers 146
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Certification decals. $79, 275. 00
HUD Program: .
Inspection fees.... 36, 400. 60
NCSBOS monitoring team 00. 00
Consumer complaint handling —  9,477.00
Sales of electrical inspection decals 125, 00
Sales of fire prevention regulation 156 394. 00
Fire fines _ 47, 50

The following statistics show the results of an educational program for ele-
mentary students starting September 1976.

Schools 290
Programs 370
Students 160, 142
Counties ——— 87

[A statement subsequently received from the Alliance of American
Insurers appears in the appendix on pp. 461-487.]

[Whereupon at 1:20 p.m., the subcommittes recessed to reconvene
subject to the call of the Chair.]

[Members present at time of recess: Senator Percy.]

344667 O - 78 - 26
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APPENDIX

Exuisir 24

COMPTROLLER GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, D,C, 20348

B-171019 April 5, 1978

The Honorable Charles H. Percy

Ranking Minority Member

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Governmental Affairs

United States Senate

Dear Senator Percy:

Your August 2, 1977, letter requested that we review a
number of issues concerning "arson-for=-profit."™ Your major
concerns related to:

--Adequacy of controls over the insurance coverage
property owners can obtain.

--Research and development of arson detection tech-
niques, and training of arson investigators.

~=Activities of Federal law enforcement agencies to
prevent, detect, and prosecute this type of crime.

As agreed with your office, we will give you a report on

each of the three areas. This report discusses the authority,
activities, and plans of Federal law enforcement agencies
regarding arson-related crime.

FEDERAL AUTHORITY AND COORDINATION
FOR ARSON~RELATED CRIMES

Arsor is not generally a federal crime. There are two
exceptions to this rule. First, 18 U.S.C. 81 makes arson a
Federal crime if committed at & location where the Federal
Government exercises special maritime or territorial juris-
diction. In general, and as defined by 18 U.S.C. 7, special
maritime or territorial jurisdiction of the United States
includes

--the high seas;
--Federal property held under exclusive or concurrent

jurisdiction of the United States; and

GGD-78-47
(18156)

L

I
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-~property purchased or otherwise acguired by the
United States with the consent of the State legis~
latures, if the property is initially acquired to
erect a fort, magazine, argenal, dockyard, or
other necessary building.

Second, some Federal agencies administer Federal property
that is not within the special maritime or territorial juris-
diction of the United States. By issuing regulations, some
of these agencies have made arson a Federal misdemeanor on
the Federal property they administer.

In general the Federal Government will investigate and
prosecute arson only if a Federal law ils violated in conjunc-
tion with the arson crime, For example, suspects in arson-
for-profit cases are usually accused of transmitting insurance
claims and other correspondence through the United States
mails. If the Federal mail fraud statute (18 U,S.C. 1341) is
violated, PFederal law enforcement agencies may become invelved
in investigating the mail fraud and indirectly the arson, En-
closure I lists the Federal statutes covering arson~related
crime which various law enfocrcement officials said their
agency could investigate.

The Federal Government has not considered arson-related
crimes an enforcement priority: therefore, the Government
does not have a unified, coordinated program specifically
designed to prevent, detect, investigate, and prosecute these
crimes. Four Federal law enforcement agencies-~the Department
of Justice's Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI); the Depart-
ment of the Treasury's Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacce, and Firearms (ATF); and the United
States Postal Service-~investigate arson-related crimes; how-
ever, coordination among these agencies is limited, usually
informal, and on a case~by-case basls. Justice's crganized
crime strike forces, operating in various cities throughout
the United States, will also investigate and prosecute arson-
related crimes iFf organized crime is involved.

The consensus of these law enforcement agencies was that
no evidence existed to support the contention that arson-
related crime is a serious national problem or that a greater
Federal effort is warranted. The Federal Government, however,
has not made any attempt to determine the severity of the
arson problem.
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CURRENT FEDERAL LAW ENFORCEMENT
EFFORTS IN THE ARSON AREA

Federal law enforcement agencies involved with arson-
related crimes do not collect data which would demonstrate
the severity of the arson problem. Therefore, they are not
in a position to delineate their previous efforts or to
identify the actions needed to cope with the arson issue.

During 1978 the Postal Service plans to give more
investigative attention to suspected arson-related insurance
fraud schemes and to separately identify and report these
cases. ATF officials said that they are revising their
statistical reporting system to acquire arson-related infor-
mation. Neither the FBI nor the IRS had plans to separately
identify arson offenses within their internal statistical
reporting systems.

None of the four agencies considered arson a priority
investigative area and therefore did not have a program
designed to deal specifically with arson. ATPF, however, is
currently establishing arson task forces in several cities,
This initiative was promoted by a special project conducted
by its Philadelphia District. In January 1977 the Special
Agent-in-Charge of ATF's Philadelphia District indemendentlv
initiated a special project--which he termed a task force--to
investigate arson in the Philadelphia area. The task force
was established by an informal cooperative agreement between
ATF, the local police, the local disktrict attorney, and the
local fire marshal. Under the agreement ATF assumed leader-
ship in all arson investigations in the Philadelphia area,
with active participation and cooperation from the other
officials. As of December 7, 1977, the task force was con-
ducting 15 arson investigations. ATF officials said that
all of these investigations involved matters cognizable
under 18 U.S.C. 844 (i), 1/ but that collateral violations
of the racketeering statutes (18 U.S.C. 1950, 1961~1968)
were also being investigated,

Officials said that the idea for the arson task force
was, in part, the result of two arson investigations

1/18 U.s.C. 844 (i) is a criminal statute that deals with
the destruction of or damage (by an explosive) to oroo~
erty used in or affecting interstate or foreian commerce.
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conducted by ATF in Philadelphia. The first was an investi-
gation of an arson case praviously investigated by the
Philadelphia Police Department. Local citizens groups had
protested that the police had arrested, and the court con-
victed, an innocent person. The local U.S. attorney askad
ATF to reinvestigate the case. Officialg said their investi~
gation led to the arrest and conviction of the individuals
who actually committed the crime and the release of the in-
nocent person. In the other case, the U,.S. attorney asked
ATF to investigate a fire bombing of a Philadelphia hotel.
Investigators found traces of gasoline in an oxidizad stake
which, according to officials, has an explosive capabil-

ity. Although ATF officials believed that 18 U.S.C. 844 (i)
had been violated, the U.S. attorney elected to prosecute the
case under statutes dealing with mail fraud and interstate

transportatidon in aid of racketeering. The defendant received

a 3-year prison sentence,

On October 14, 1977, the Special Agenk-in-Charge of the
Philadelphia District, as a result of his experiencs, recom-
mended instivuting ATF-led arson task forces in othar U.S.
cities. ATF headquarters approved this recommendation in
January 1978, and it plans to establish arson task forces in
18 additional cities, (See enclosure II.) An official
estimated that the new task forces would not be operational
until June 1978,

Although Federal organized crime strike forces are not
set Up specifically te investigate and prosecute arson cases,
the strike forces have investigated arson-related crises
when organized crime was inveolved. For example, khe Buffal.,
New York, organized c¢rime strike force hecame interested in
arson cases about 3 years ago. At that time the Erie County
District Attorney established a task force of local officials
to look into the local arson problem. The task force had two
prime suspects it assoclated with many of the arsons, but it
could not get enough evidence against them to make a case.
The strike force assisted by identifying a number of suspi-
c¢ious insurance claims and tracing them through various cor-
porate records, deeds, and other documents, looking for an
association with the two suspects. They found it. The two
individuals pled guilty to charges of mail fraud, and each
received a S-year sentence. The Buffalo strike force re-
cently indicted the entire hierarchy of a Rochester organized
crime family engaged in an arson-for-profit ring and, as of
December l4, 1977, had one arson-related investigation
pending.
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HAS ARSON BEEN A WIDESPREAD PROBLEM?
IS A GREATER FEDERAL PRESENCE NEEDED?

Law enforcement agency officials contacted said that no
evidence existed to demonstrate that arson~related crime was
a widespread problem or that a greater Federal involvement
in the arson area should be initiated. As previously men-
tioned, the Federal Government has not made an attempt to
quantify arson-related crimes to determine their severity.
Agency officials were willing to reconsider arson as a pri-
ority area if evidence became available to justify an
expanded effort. The Postal Service and ATF appear to be
taking a more aggressive initiative in the arson area. (See
p. 3.) ATF officials supported their initiative with the
following statistics:

-~Incendiary bombings increased 200 percent nation-
wide in 1976 over 1975.

~-Forty-nine percent of the fires of incendiary,
suspicious, or unknown origin in New Jersey in 1975
were never investigated.

~»Sixty-two percent of the arsons committed in the
United States involved the use of flammable ligquids
or accelerants; of that number 90 percent had an
explosive capability when aerated.

In addition to establishing ATF-led arson task forces, ATF
is planning to establish an "Explosives Academy" at the
Federal Law Enforcement Training Center, Glynco, Georgia,
which will include instruction on arson investigation.

In summary, although the Postal Service and ATF have
taken some initiatives to combat arsecn, the rest of the Feder-
al law enforcement ¢ommunity does not view this particular
crime as deserving any special, priority. There iz insuffi-
cient hard evidence to accurately gage the magnitude of the
arson problem, and consequently, to gage the propriety of
the Federal posture concerning it. We recommend that the
Attorney General take the lead in developing information
rneeded to assess the seriousness of the arson problem and,
based on the resultsy, develop an appropriate Federal law
enforcement strategy.

As agreed vith your office, we did not obtain formal
agency comments on this report. Howeve;, we discussed its
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contents with agency officials and considered their views

in preparing the report. Because of your plans for hearings
on the arson problem and your desire to release this report
at the hearings, we plan no further distribution of the
report until that time, or until you publicly announce its
contents,

We want to direct your attention to the fact that this
report contains a recommendation to the Attorney General.
As you know, section 23¢ of the Legislative Reorganization
Act of 1970 requires the head of a Federal agency to submit
a written statement on actions he has taken on our recommen-
dations to the Senats Committee on Governmental Affairs and
the House Committee on Government Operations not later
than 60 days after the report's date and to the House and
Senate Committees on Appropriations with the agency's first
request for appropriations made more than 60 days afiter the
report's date, Your release of this report will enable us to
send it to the four Committees for the purpose of setting in
motion section 236 requirements. We trust this information

will meet your needs.
si xely yours, f? ;
p‘“-‘a . /

Comptroller General
of the United States

Enclosures - 2
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ENCLOSURE I

FEDERAL STATUTES COVERING ARSON AND

statutes

18 u.s.C.

l8 vU.s.cC.

18 U.s.cC.
845

18 U.s.C.
925

18 U.s.C.
18 U.s.C.
1074
18 U.s.cC.

18 U.s.C.

l8 U.s.C.

18 U.s.C.
1362

81

371

842~

922-
1001
1073-
1341
1342

1343

1361-

ARSON-RELATED CRIME

Title

Arson Within
Special Maritime
and Territorial
Jurisdiction of
the United States

Conspiracy to De~
fraud the United
States

Interstate Trans-
portation of Ex=-
plosives or Incen-
diary Devices

Unlawful Acts~
Firearms

Fraudulent State-
ments

Flight to Avoid
Prosecution

Frauds and
Swindles (by Mail)

Fictitious Name
or Address

Fraud by Wire,
Radio, or Tele-
vision

Destruction of
Governmernt Owned
or Controlled
Property

Agencies claiming
investigative jurisdiction

Postal
FBI ATF Service IRS
X - - -
- - - X
X X X -
- X - -
- - - X
X - - -
X - X -
- - X -
X - - -
X - - -
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Federal
statutes

18 U.s8.C. 13863

18 U.s.C. 1716

18 U.s.C. 1855

18 U.s.C. 1952

18 U.S5.C. 1961~
1968

26 U.S.C. 5861
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Agencies claiming
investigative 1jurisdiction
Postal
Title FBI ATF  Service IRS

Destruction of X - - -
Property Within

the Special Mari-

time and Terri-

torial Jurisdic-

tion of the

United States

Nonmailable In- - ~ X -
jurious Articles

{Explosives or

Incendiary De-

vices)

Destruction by X - - -
Fire of Timber,

Underbrush or

Grass Upon

Federally Owned

or Leased Land,

Indian Land or

the Public Do-

main

Interstate and X - - -
Foreign Travel

or Transporta-

tion in Aid of

Racketeering

Racketeer In- X X X -
fluenced and

Corrupt Organ~

izations

Prohibited Acts - X - -
(Re: Firearms

and Destructive

Devices as de-

fined by 26 U.S.C.

5845)
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Federal

gtatutes Title

26 U.S.C., 7201 Attempts to
Evade or Defeat
Tax

26 U.S.C. 7203 Willful Failure
to File Return,

Supply Informa-

tion, or Pay Tax

26 U,S.C. 7206 Fraud and False

Statements

ENCLOSURE II

ENCLOSURE I

Agencies claiming
investigative jurisdiction
Postal

FBI ATF  Service IRS
- - - X
- - - X
- - - X

ENCLOSURE II

PLANNED LOCATIONS FOR ATF'S ARSON TASK FORCES

Atlanta, Georgia
Boston, Massachusetts
Brooklyn, New York
Buffalo, New York
Chicagoe, Illinois
Cleveland, Ohio
Dallas, Texas
Detroit, Michigan
Honolulu, Hawali

Kansas City, Missouri
Las Vegas, Nevada

Los Angeles, California
Miami, Florida

New Orleans, Louisiana
Phoenix, Arizona
Rochester, New York

San Juan, Puerto Rico
Washington, D.C.
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REPORT BY THE

Comptroller General
OF THE UNITED STATES

Are Federal Programs Adequate
To Deal With Arson Problems?

Senator Charles H. Percy, as Ranking Minor-
ity Member of the Permanent Subcommittee
on investigations, asked GAQ to assess
Federal programs dealing with the arson pro-
blem in the United States.

Thisisone of three GAQ reports" responding to
Senator Percy's request and provides infor-
mation on:

~Research and development of arson
detection techniques and equipment.

~Training of arson {investigators and
prosecutors.

-Programs and funding for State and
local arson investigators and prosecu-
tors.

PSAD-78-88
APRIL 24, 1978
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COMPTROLLER GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20548

B-171019

The Honorable Charles H. Percy
Ranking Minority Member
Permanent Subcommittee

on Investigations
Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate

Dear Senator Percy:

On August 2, 1977, you asked us to assess the adequacy
of current Federal programs dealing with the detection,
investigation, and prosecution of arson cffenses. It was
agreed that we would respond to your request in three
separate reports.

This report pertains to the following areas of your
request:

--Research and development of arson detection tech-
niques and equipment.

--Training of arson investigators and prosecutors.

--Programs and funding for State and local arson
investigators and prosecutors.

Your office agreed that our review would include only Fed-
eral programs funding State and local investigators and
prosecutors where such programs are specifically directed
at the arson problem.

We made our review primarily at the National Fire
Prevention and Control Administration, Department of Com-
merce, Washington, D.C. We interviewed agency officials
and reviewed records on Federal atson prevention and con~
trol plans and programs. We also obtained information
at the Fire Research Center, Department of Commerce,
Gaithersburg, Maryland; the Law Enforcement Assistance
Administration and the PFederal Bureau of Investigation,
Department of Justice; and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco
and Firearms, Treasury Department; all in Washington, D.C.

Our review showed that only one Federal program is
directed at the areas specified in your request. This
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program is the Fire Administration's training course for
arson investigators which is scheduled to begin in April 1978.
The Fire Administration also plans to develop an arson detec~
tion training program for fire service personnel and an arson
prosecutor training program for State and local public attor-
neys.

Arson is the act of burning property for an improper
purpose. It ig difficult to prove arson because evidence
is usually destroyed in the fire and, normally, there
are no witnesses,

The extent of the arson problem is not known and re-
liable statistiecs are not available. However, the In-
surance Information Institute estimated national arson-
related property losses in 1975 at over $1.4 billion, while
the Insurance Service Office estimated the national arson-
related fire losses at over $4 billion. The National Fire
Prevention and Control Administration and the American In-
surance Association recognize the need for better data on
the arson problem and are currently improving the data.

The socioeconomic factors which motivate arsonists con-
tribute to the complexity of the problem. Such motives
include profit, revenge, spite, jealousy, vandalism, crime
concealment, intimidation, and pyromania.

The National Fire Prevention and Control Administration,
created by the Federal Fire Prevention and Control Act of 1974
(15 U.S.C. 2201 et seq. (1976)), has emerged as the Federal
focal point for providing arson intervention programs to
States and local ccmmunities., The Fire Administration's role
in the arson area is to reduce arson through education, train-
ing, research, public information, and data collection and
analysis. .

The Law Enforcement Assistance Administration has no
program directed at the arson problem; however, at the time
of our review, it was making plans to study what its role
should be. This agency awards grants to State and local
governments for activities decided on by the grantees, in-
cluding arson-related activities.
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The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms has no
programs for training arson investigators and prosecutors,
or researching arson detection techniques and equipment.

As part of the overall training of its agents, however,
instruction covers fire-bombing methods, bomb scene searches
and investigations, and recognizing incendiary devices.
Also, laboratory analysis is performed to identify fire n
accelerants.

The Fire Research Center, as authorized by the Federal
Fire Prevention and Control Act of 1974, has been studying
the psychological motivations of fire setters and is conduct-
ing one arson-related research program--a survey of labora-
tory methodology in analyzing fire accelerants.

Within the Federal Bureau of Investigation, arson in-
vestigation is not a high priority. Only a few arson in-
vestigations have been conducted, and the Bureau believes
that a training program for arson investigators is not
justified because of the small number of such cases with=~
in its jurisdiction.

FEDERAL RESEARCH AND TRAINING PROGRAMS

A number of plans have been formulated to meet needs
in the areas of research into arson detection techniques
and equipment and training for arson investigation, de-
tection, and prosecution; however, only one program--a
training course for arson investigators--has been developed.

In a series of geminars in early 1976, 36 experts
identified and ranked nine arson areas needing Federal
intervention. The results were published by the Fire Admin-
istration in its September 1976 report "Arson: BAmerica's
Malignant Crime." The areas are summarized in appendix I.

Two of the nine areas were arson detection, investiga-
tion, and prosecutor training (fourth highest ranking) and
research and development on tools for arson investigations
(eighth highest ranking). Details on Federal efforts
directed at these two areas are presented in the following
sections and are tabulated in appendix II.
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Research into arson detection
technigues and_eguipment

Fire service personnel need equipment that is better
suited for detecting arson at the fire scene. A federally
sponsored study identified research needs which the Fire
Administratlon is attempting to follow up; however, there
is still no Federal program for research on arsen detection
techniques and equipment.

In addition to the Fire Administration's report identify-
ing research needs in arson detection egquipment, the Fire
Research Center prepared a report in 1976 which identified
the evaluation of arson detection equipment used in the
field as a desirable program. Research needs for arson
detection equipment were further identified in a 1976 report
prepared for the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration.
This study was made to assess the arson problem and deter-
mine whether there were technical solutions to alleviate it.
One conclusion was that a more sensitive and reliable vapor
detector and a smoke and soot analyzer are needed. The
vapor device would detect residues of such fire accelerants
as gasoline. The smoke and soot device would detect the
presence of fire accelerants through analysis of these
fire byproducts.

As part of its fiscal year 1979 arson effort, the
Fire Administration had planned to identify the needs of
users for arson detection techniques and equipment. We
were told that equlpment being used in arson detectlon
work was not designed for such use. By assgessing existing
devices and the state of the art, the Fire Administration
would develop the needed characteristics, for example,
sensitivity, portability, and cost, of an arson detection
device and the technigues for using it. Fire Administra-
tion officials told us that this .planned program was
eliminated for budgetary reasons.

Arson investigator training course

The Fire Administration, in conjunction with the
Lincoln Land Community College, recently developed an
arson investigator training course. By 1982 the Fire
Administration plans to have given the course to 4,000 in-
vestigators. The Lincoln Land Community College was
granted $69,400 to develop this course for increasing
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the levels of proficiency in fire and arson investigations.
The course is based on material from related Federal agency
programs, elements of various State and local training
programs, and advice solicited from investigators who were
asked to review course plans. The course will be given to
students beginning in April 1978, after pilot testing by the
Fire Administration. The Fire Administration plans to give
the course to 200 investigators during fiscal year 1978 at
an estimated cost of $42,000, not including per diem and
other expenses for the students. These will be the responsi-
bility of the students' sponsoring organizations. This
financing arrangement may have some adverse effect on get-
ting students assigned to the course.

In addition to formal course instruction through the
National Fire Academy, the course materials will be dup-
licated and distributed to 200 State and local entities
for their training use at an estimated cost of $29,000.
There are some risks associated with this method of in-
© vestigator training. The local entities have no obliga-
tion to teach the course, and there is no assurance that
they have the required teachers or funds. No Federal funds
are to be provided.

The Fire Administration dces not yet have a formal
method to measure the effectiveness of its Fire Academy
courses, but it is developing evaluation methods for all
its programs. For the investigator training course, ini-
tial evaluation will be based on student feedback through
course critiques. After the first year of the course, the
Academy plans to recall about 50 "trained" investigators
to reevaluate and update the course content.

Plans for arson detection training

Presently, there is no training program for fire setv-
ice personnel in arson detection; however, the Fire Admin-
istration plans to develop such a course to begin in mid-
1978.

Fire service personnel, being first on the fire scene,
should know what to look for in a fire of suspicious origin.
The Fire Administration is planning a training course (24
hours of instruction) to train instructors who will then
teach fire service personnel the procedures to follow when
arson is suspected. Much of the course content will come
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from the arson investigator training course prepared by

the Lincoln Land Community College. Plans are to have

the course ready by July 1978 to be given over a 4~month
period to 250 local fire service instructors in 10 regional
areas. According to present plans, these instructors should
give the course to about 100,000 firefighters over the next
5 years.

There are no plans to fund the instruction at the’
local level. Such an incentive might be helpful to insure
wide dissemination of the course, particularly to the
volunteer firefighters whe make up the greater portion of the
Nation's firefighting force.

Prosecutor training

There is no Federal program for training public attorneys
at the State and local level to prosecute arson cases. The
Fire Administration believes such training is needed, and a
program is planned for development during £iscal year 1979.
The Fire Administration is considering establishing formal
training seminars to be conducted through an educational
institution.

Law Enforcement Assistance Administration represehtatives
told us that they rely on State and local governmental units
to identify their needs. They said that no requests have
been received for funds to train public attorneys in pro-
secuting arson cases.

EEDERAL PROGRAMS AND FUNDING FOR STATE AND
LOCAL INVESTIGATORS AND PROSECUTORS

We found no Federal program specifically directed at
funding State and local arson investigators and prosecutors.
The Law Enforcement Assistance Administration's grants to
State and local governments, in some cases, include funds
for arson-related purposes, such as equipment, laboratory
analysis support, and training of investigators. In most
cases these grants are multipurpose and the portion to be
used for arson-related activities cannot be identified
from the agency's records. During fiscal years 1975-77,
the Law Enforcement hssistance Administration records
showed that it awarded 25 such multipurpose grants amount-
ing to $2.6 million. In addition to the multipurpose
grants, it awarded 49 grants amounting to $1.7 million in

34657 © ~ %8~ 27
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fiscal years 1975-77 which were to be used solely for
arson-related activities. (See app., III.)

During our review we noted that Federal agencies were
funding other arson efforts, such as development of a model
arson law, development of a method for predicting fires,
and various studies of the arson problem., This information
gives additional perspective to the Federal role in combat-
ing arson, and we have listed these activities in appendix IV.

Because only one Federal program has been developed in
the research and training areas mentioned in your request--
a course for arson investigators--and the course has not yet
been made available to local investigators, a good basis does
not exist to judge the effectiveness of the course. Generally,
Federal resources devoted to research, training, and funding
of State and local investigators and prosecutors are small,

There has been no Federal commitment for a coordinated
and concerted effort at helping State and local communities
deal with the arson problem through research or training
and funding for State and local investigators and prosecutors.
We believe this is due partly to the (1) lack of good data
on the extent of the arson problem and (2) need for a better
defiinition of the roles and responsibilities of the various
public and private organizations concerned.

At your request, we did not take the additional time to
obtain written agency comments, The matters covered in the
report, however, were discussed with Fire Admininstration
officiels and their comments are incorporated where appropriate.

Because you plan hearings on the arson problem and will
release this report at the hearings, we do not plan to fur-
ther distribute it until that time or until you publicly
announce its contents.

Sin yours,

Air &4 .

Comptroller General
of the United States
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8.

NINE NEED AREAS IDENTIFIED IN

"ARSON: AMERICA'S MALIGNANT CRIME"

It is of primary importance to develop and define the
responsibilities of the fire services, the law enforce-

ment services, the legal system, insurance companies,
and other public and private bodies who should be con~
cerned with the arson problem.

There is a need to reclassify arson in crime reporting
systems such as the Federal Bureau of Investigation's
Uniform Crime Reports to reflect its true status as a
najor offense so that (a) reporting can be more complete
and (b) people can be more aware of its impact.

There is a need to make the public, defined broadly

to include both the public in general and those with
professional interests, more aware of the consequences
of arson and the need to do something about them.

There is a need to develop aund apply training programs
which are directly keyed to the job-related needs of
professional investigators and of other categories of
personnel such as firefighters, police officers, at-
torneys, prosecutors, judges, ingurance adjusters,
insurance underwriters, and insurance claims super-
visors.

There is a need to develop and apply better reporting,
data collection, and data analysis procedures on local,
State, and national bases so that public and private
agencies will have access to information they need for
both their own activities and to enhance public under-
standing,

There is a need te promulgate and apply effective
laws and regulations which are as uniform as possible
among jurisdictions. This applies particularly to
effective insurance regulations and practices which
can discourage arson.

There is a need to identify and develop adeguate sources
of funding to combat arson.

There is a need to conduct research and developmetit (a)
to make available better and more useful tools for arson
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investigation and (b) to provide a better understanding
of social and behavioral phenomena associated with arson.

9. There is a need to develop a consistent, uniform termin-
ology that can be applied to arson and incendiarism by
all disciplines and in all sections of the United States.
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APPENDIX 1I
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22,000 18,009
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s L0t - Kane " Nane . Nane
m - . Hane - None " None
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BiThers dce a3 pragtane fac teaindng Lovestigatorst havever, Asme grant funds provided £0 Btate and Jozal
authoritien wete fot this purpase and other ¢cime lnvestigation tralalig.

c/runding for this program 1s lncluded in the JATger arson pecjtam AEsewswedt listed in Appendix V.
d/Na prograas planndd as of time Of our teview.
8/Cost not peadily determinable,
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APPENDIX III

LAW ENFORCEMENT ASSISTANCE ADMINISTRATION

GRANTS FOR ARSON~RELATED ACTIVITIES

(AWARDED IN FISCAL YEARS 1975-77)

(note_a)
Description

Grants which include arson-related
activities

Grants solely for arson-related activ-
ities:

Improve effectiveness of New York
City's investigation of suspi-
cious fires/arson

Establish unit within Bronx, New
York, District Attorney's office
for investigation and prosecution
of arson

Expand New Jersey State police arson
investigation unit

Purchase of instruments by State of
Washington for use in arson proj-
ect

Establish a specially equipped and
staffed arson investigation unit
in Yolo County, California

Establish photograpiiic arson suspect
identification system in Califor~-
nia

Develop an arson information system
by city and county of San Francisco

Operate mobile radio equipment by
Ohio Arson Bureau

Other grants

Total

Total

Number Amount

—

\Jl.b lu
O - N e T

$2,620,619

413,390

395,680
334,990

71,715
68,462

59,400
41,124

34,212
301,098

$1,720,071
$4,340,6%0

a/Compiled from data provided by the Law Enforcement Assist-
ance Administration which has not been verified by the

General Accounting Office.
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Fiscal
fear Amount
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OTHER FEDERAL ARSON PROGRAMS

National Fire Prevention and
Control Administration:

1976-77 § 10,000
38,000

70,000
8,000

11,000

6,000

10,000

1978 § 6,000
6,800

200,000

5,500

1979 $ 10,000

10,000

3,000
(a)

$153,000

$218,300

$_23,000

Program description

To develop model arson law.

To develop and print Fire Administration re-
port--"Arsgon: America's Malignant Crime."

To develop an arson information centet.

To develop an annotated bibliography of atson
reference material.

To develop a training course in juveaile fite
setting.

To study the nature and extent of incendiary
fires in Boston.

To develop intervention strategies for a Fed-

eral arson control program {Aerospace Corpo-
ration).

To conduct 10 {3 day) advanced arson seminats.

To study incendiary f£ires and develop a hand-
book for use by urban planners.

To develop a software package that will pre-
dict area fires in inner-city neighborhoods
and commercial establishments.

To complete the annotated bibliography of
arson reference material,

To conduct 10 (2 day) seminars to promote the
arson task force concept.

To continue and expand the advanced arson
seminar program.

Undecided.

To implement and evaluate fi.e/arson strategies
in three major cities.
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Fiscal
year Amount

Fire Research Center:
1976-77  $64,000

41,500
20,000

$123,300
1978 $ 52,000
40,000

$ 92.000

1979

Law Enforcement Assistance
Administration:
1976-77 § 90,000

1978 $ 10,000

1979 $ -

Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms:
1976-79 § (b)

1977-78  § (b)
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Program description

To prepare an overview report on hew the Cen-
ter can fulfill its responsibilities in the
attacks on arson.

To study, analyze, and oraanize what is cur-
rently known about the psycheloay of arson-
ists.

To survey laboratory techniques used in ana-
lyzing accelerants and to assess the need for
the adoption of a standard method.

To develop and publish an x¢ser investinator
handbook for easy refeien, *.

To continis# study of psycholoay of arson re-
sulting in a written theory of arson behavior.

None.

To assess the problem of arson and determine
whether there were technical solutions to
help alleviate the problem.

To tesearch arson issues and determine the Law
Enforcement Assistance Administration's role
in arson. Future effort will depend upon

the results of this proqram.

Pending results of f£iscal year 1978 proaram.
ATF laboratories, upon reaguest, analyze evi-
dence obtained from a fire to assist State and

local investigation.

Philadelphia district office formed a qroup to
assist local arson investigations.

a/Funding for this program is for fire prevention strategies including arson.
Amount related to arson could not be identified.

b/Cost not readily available.

(952201)
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ExaisiT 20

REPORT BY THE

Compiroller General
OF THE UNITED STATES

Arson-For-Profit: More
Could Be Done To Reduce It

ln this repart, GAQ discusses the extent to
which the Federal Riot Reinsurance Program
and the Fair Access tolnsurance Requirements
Plans, established by the States, provide in-
centives for arson-refated insurance fraud, i.e.
arson-for-profit,

Fair Access to Insurance Requirements Plans,
authorized under Federal law, are privately
owned organizations, which operate like pri-
vate insurance companies, but are established
by State legislation. These Plans provide es-
sential property insurance in urban and other
areas where the insurance industry will not.

Although these Plans operate under the super-
vision of States' insurance authorities, the
Department of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment Federal Insurance Administration re-
views the Plans' operations to assure that es
sential property insurance is provided.

Although statistics are lacking, arson-for-
profit is considered to be a serious problem in
the Plans. GAO makes recommendations in
this report to help reduce it.

CED-78-121
MAY 31, 1978
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COMPTROLLER GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20348

B-171019

The Honorable Charles H. Percy

Ranking Minority Member

Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Governmental Affairs

United States Senate

Dear Senator Percy:

Your letter of August 2, 1977, reguested assessment of
the adequacy of current Federal programs dealing with the
detection, investigation and prosecution of arson offenses.
One of your specific concerns was the extent to which the
Federal Riot Reinsurance Program and the Falr Access to
Insurance Requirements Plans established by the States
provide an incentive for arson-related insurance fraud. We
reviewed the arson-related insurance fraud problem--arson-
for-profit--in Fair Access to Insurance Reguirements Plans
and found that:

--Certain Fair Access to Insurance Reguirements
Plans are overinsuring property and creating an
incentive for arson-for-profit.

--Falr Access to Insurance Reguirements Plans need
greater underwriting authority to deny or limit
insurance coverage to high-risk property owners.

Appendix I contains the detailed results of our review.

Your questions concerning Federal research and develop-
ment of arson detection technigues and arson investigator
training; and Federal law enforcement agencies' activities
to detect, investigate and prosecute arson offenses were
provided in separate reports, (PSAD~78-88 dated April 24,
1978, and GGD-78-47 dated April 5, 1978, respectively).

Your specific questions concerning Fair Access to Insurance
Requirements Plans are answered in this letter.

We interviewed officials and obtained written infor-
mation, regulations or operating policies from the Federal
Insurance Administration and the National Fire Prevention
and Control Administration in Washington, D.C.; nine Fair
Access to Insurance Requirements Plans--Delaware, District
of Columbia, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, New York,

.
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Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Washington-~six insurance
companies, and two insurance industry trade associations.
Appendix III contains a listing of organizations we contacted
during our review.

Fair Access Plans and the Federal Riot Reinsurance
Program are authorized under the Urban Property Protection
and Reinsurance Act of 1968, as amended, (12 U.S.C. 1749 bbb
et seq. (1976)). These Plans are privately owned and oper=-
3ted o organizations, operating much like private insurance
companies, but are established primarily by State legisla~
tion. The Flans provide essential property insurance to
urban and other areas where the insurance industry will not
provide coverage. Although Fair Access Plans operate under
the supervision of the States' insurance authorities, the
Federal Insurance Admlnlstratlon of the Department of Hous-
ing and Urban Development reviews Plan operatlons to assure
that Plans are providing essential property insurance.

The Federal Riot Reinsurance Brogram, administered by
the Federal Insurance Administration, provides private in-
surance companies riot reinsurance to protect them during
riots against excess losses on company-insured properties,
To purchase riot reinsurance, a company must be partici-
pating in a Fair Access Plan.

Both Fair Access Plan and insurance industry officials
believe that arson-for~-profit is a serious problem in the
Plans, as well as in the private insurance market. The sig-
nificance of the problem, however, could not be demonstrated
because of the lack of specific data on the extent of the
problem. Officials have indicated that inadequate investi-
gation of arson cases by both local government and Blans,
and the difficulty of proving the insured's involvement, are
factors which allow arson-for~profit cases to go undetected.
In certain cities in Massachusetts and Pennsylvania, inves-
tigations by two of the nine Plans we contacted have identi-
fied vrganized c¢crime involvement in arson-for-profit.

According to Plan and insurance industry officials, one
of the major incentives for arson~-for-profit is overinsur-
ance; providing an amount of insurance exceeding property
market value. The District of Columbia, Illinois, and New
York Plans are providing insurance to property cwners with-
out attempting to determine property values, As a result,
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property owners may be insuring their properties for amounts
exceeding property values and, therefore, create an incent-
tive for arson. Officials from these Plans believe that it
is meaningless and costly for them to establish property
values at the time insurance is provided because, in the
event of fire, the payment for the resultant claim is based
on the property's actual cash value at the time of loss.
Other Plans, however, were limiting coverage to the market
value of the property at the time insurance was written.

Also, the Maryland, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania
Plans were generally providing insurance in amounts that
property owners desired until a few years ago. These Plans
now provide insurance coverage generally at market value
thus attempting to provide only enough insurance to indem-
nify propecty owners for their losses. Plan officials be-
lieve that preventing overinsurance is an important step
in reducing arson-for-profit in the Plans.

Many Fair Access Plan officials believe that the Plans
are encouraging arson-for-profit by providing insurance cov-
erage to almost everyone requesting it. Until the Plans get
additional underwriting authority from the Federal Insurance
Administration to deny, limit, or modify insurance coverage,
certain Plan officials believe little can be done. One Fed-
eral Insurance Administration official, however, said that
Administration regulations do not require Plans to insure
everyone and that the Administration is more concerned that
Fair Access Plans are not denying coverage unfairly or un-
necessarily. Five of the nine Plans we visited are making
or have recently made some changes concerning the conditions
under which they will insure properties, but Plan officials
agreed that additional changes can and should be made. Most
Plans apparently, are not aware of changes that other Plans
have made to reduce arson-for-profit.

Answers to your questions are summarized below.

1. How do Fair Access to Insurance Regquirements Plans
determine the amount of coverage to be given to a pro=
perty owner? Can the owner insure for any amount he
desires, even beyond fair market value?

The amount of coverage that Plans will provide varies.
Some Plans base the amount of coverage to be given to
a property owner on the market value of the property
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using such values as owner's purchase price. The
Massachusetts Plan, for example, uses tax assessed
value, purchase price, and the most recent selling
prices of properties in the neighborhood as found in
real estate transfer directories. The Pennsylvania
Plan will insure up to 150 percent of the purchase
price if the amount of insurance is less than $50,000.
Of the nine Plans we visited, however, three (District
of Columbia, Illinois and New York) generally provide
property owners any amount of coverage they want with~
out regard to property values. (See pp. 13-18 of app. I.)

Can the Pair Access to Insurance Reguiirements Plan refuse
to insure for the full amount requestéd by the owner? Can
it refuse coverage altogether?

Although Fair Access Plans can refuse to insure for the
full amount requested, three of the nine we visited do
not. Of the nine Plans, six do refuse to insure for the
full amount requested if it is more than the Plan deter-
mines to be the property value. Al} the Plans that we
contacted said that they can refuse coverage altogether,
however, there are limited reasons for refusing. Bas a
result, almost everyone is provided insurance. The
Illinois Plan is refusing to insure only about one of
every 100 applicants. Plan officials of seven of the
nine Plans said that the Federal Insurance Administration
requires them to insure almost everyone, although an
Administration official said that this was not true.
Program regulations appear to support the Administra-
tion's position. (See pp. 17~21 of app. I.)

Is there any provision for less~than-full payment on a
claim if the insurer can prove that the insured.allowed
his property to deteriorate significantly before the
damage in gquestion?

Generally, depreciation (deterioration) is considered in
paying claims. 1In seven Fair Access Plan~States--none of
which we visited--however, deterioration is not con-
sidered when settling claims for total property losses.
Property owners are paid the full face amount of their
policies. (See pp. 16~17 of app. I.) In four of the nine
States that we visited, the basis used far determining

the amount to pay under a claim is the property's "actual
cash value" at the time of loss, Actual cash value is
defined as replacement cost less depreciation.
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Deterioration is, therefore, considered to some extent
when settling claims in these States. Fair Access Plans,
however, generally insure properties in economically
declining neighborhoods in which replacement cost less
depreciation can be much greater than the market value
of the properties. 1In such cases, Fair Access Plan-
insured property owners may be paid more than the market
or sales value of their properties. 1In the other five
States that we visited, other property values, such as
market value, rental and economic value are considered,
in addition to replacement cost less depreciation.
Property owners in these States, therefore, are not
likely to be overcompensated for fire losses. The above
mentioned seven States that we did not visit use either
the basis used in these five States or the actual cash
value basis to settle claims for partial property losses
thus, considering deterioration at least to some extent.

You also requested that we determine how the program
could be altered to remove the incentive to destroy unprofit-
able or deteriorating but well-insured buildings. We believe
that the Federal Insurance Administration should take a lead-
ership role in helping Plans reduce arson in Plan-insured
properties. We make recommendations to the Secretary of
Housing and Urban Development for certain revisions in the
Administration's regulations. (See app. II.)

As requested by your office, we did not give the Federal
Insurance Administration an opportunity to formally comment
on this report. 1Its contents, however, were generally dis~
cuygzsed with Administration officials, and their comments were
inc¢luded in the report as appropriate., As you requested, we
will not distribute this report until just prior to your hear-
ings or until you publicly announce its contents. At that
time we will send coples to various standing committeés in the
House and Senate, such as Appropriations, Government Opera-
tions, and the Administration's legislative committees:
Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs and
House Committee on Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs., We
will also provide coples to the Secretary of Housing and
Urban Development, the Administrator, Federal Insurance Admin-
istration, and the Director, Office of Management and Budget.

A detailed discussion on the results of our review is
presented in appendix I and our conclusions and recommendations
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to the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development ate presented
in appendix II.

a
Sﬁly you%
[ TOPN N -

Comptroller General
of the United States

¥ - -
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RESULTS OF GAO'S REVIEW OF ARSON-FOR-PROFIT
IN NINE FAIR PLANS

BACKGROUND

In July 1967, the President, appointed the National
Advigory Commission on Civil Disorders to investigate the
origins of disorders. The Commission decided that a separate
group of experts could deal more expeditiously with the
insuvance problem of urban core residents and businessmen.

In August 1967 the Commission appointed the National Advisory
Panel on Insurance in Riot~Affected Areas. The panel was to

investigate the difficulties and high costs of obtaining in-

surance in riot areas or potential riot areas.

In its January 1968 report, the panel pointed out that
there was a close relationship between urban blight and
the availability of insurance and that failure to insure
properties in decaying urban areas only increased the blight,
The report also stated that cities must be revitalized and
that insurance was a basic force in this effort., The panel
found that there was a serious lack of property insurance in
core areas of the Nation's cities and that this condition
existed even before the riots of the 1960s. According to the
report, the basic factor underlying the shortage of insurance
in these areas was that insurance companies generally regarded
business in these areas as relatively unprofitable. The added
risk of riots had prompted some companies to state that con-
tinued deterioration of the situation would make them positive-
ly unwilling to provide insurance in urban core areas. The
report also stated that properties must be considered on in-
dividual merit if fair access to insurance, without regard to
location, was to be had by everyone.

The panel, however, pointed out that insurance companies
were legitimately interested in profits and in maintaining
their financial safety and stability and that States were al=~
ready burdened with demands on their resources. As a result,
the panel concluded that the solution to the urban core area
insurance problem was a cooperative effort of all who were
involved. The panel recommended therefore, that the in-
surance industry, in cooperation with States, establish in
all States Fair Access to Insurance Requirements (FAIR) Plans,
The Federal Government role would be that of providing rein-
surance against extraordinary riot losses to insurance com=
panies participating in FAIR Plans. The panel believed this
would help eliminate riot risk as an impediment to insurance
companies selling insurance in urban core areas,

34857 O - 78 - 20
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FAIR Plans were established in 1968 when the Congress
passed the Urban Property Protection and Reinsurance Act of
1968, as amended, (12 U.S.C. 1749 bbb et segq. (1976)). The
act states:

"The Congress £inds that (1) the wvitality of
many American cities is being threatened by
the deterioration of their inner city areas;
responsible owners of well-maintained resi-
dential, business, and other properties in
many of these areas are unable to obtain
adequate property insurance coverage against
fire, crime, and other perils; the lack of
such insurance coverage accelerates the deteri-
oration of these areas by discouraging private
investment and restricting the availability of
credit to repair and improve property therein;
and this deterioration poses a serious threat
to the national economy; (2) recent riots and
okther civil commotion in many American cities
have brought about abnormally high losses to
the private property insurance industry for
which adeqguate reinsurance cannot be obtained
at reasonable cost, and the risk of such losses
will make most lines of property insurance even
more difficult to obtein; (3) the capacity of
the private property insurance industry to
provide adequate insurance is threatened,

and the continuity of such property insur-
ance prctection is essential to the exten-
sion of credit in these areas; and (4) the
national interest demands urgent action by

the Congress to assure that essential lines

of proverty insurance, including lines pro-
viding protection against riot and civil
commotion damage will be available to pro-
perty owners at reasonable cost.'

The act further states that its purpose is to

"% % % (1) encourage and assist the various’
State insurance authorities and the property
insurance industry to develop and carry out
statawide programs which will make necessary
property insurance coverage against the fire,
crime, and other perils more readily available
for residential, business, and other properties
meeting reasonable underwriting standards;

(2) provide a Federal program of reinsurance
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against abnormally high property insurance
losses resulting f£rom riots and other civil
commoticn, placing appropriate financial
responsibility upon the States ko share in
such losses * * *

Altheugh the act does not require that States establish
FAIR Plans, twenty-five Stutes, Puerto Rico, and the District
of Columbia have. For those Statas that have astablished
Plans, the act requires that they must be approved by, and
administered under the supervigion of, the States' insurance
authorities, or be awthorized or regquited by State law, and
shall be designed to make essential property insurance more
readily available in urban and other areas. A listing of
FAIR Plans is included as appendix IV.

How PAIR Plans operate

Most of the FAIR Plans we visited operate similar to
private insurance companies, These rlans write insurance pol-
icies under their own name and handle all policy holder claims.
FAIR Plans are privately owned and operated vrganizations set
up primarily by State legislativn. FAIR Plans operate under
the supervision of the States' insurance authorities and are
subject to their approval for changes in operating procedures.

All profits and losses are shared by participating insur-
ance companies in a given State. FAIR Plans generally offer
insurance against fire and extended coverage (includes hail,
windstorm, explosion, riot, civil commotion, and smoke),
vandalism and malicious mischief. In calendar year 1976, all
FAIR Plans combined wrote about $18.9 billion of insurance
on 751,441 insurance policies. About $194 million in premiums
were earned by the FAIR Plans on these policies.

A property owner may obtain insurance coverage directly
from a Plan or have an insurance agent or broker obtain it for
him. 1In either case, the FAIR Plan will generally inspect, or
hire someone to inspect, the property at no cost to the owner
before it will write a policy on the property. Usually, this
inspection is solely to assess risk or fire hazard. After
the inspection, the FAIR Plan must dehermine whether to write
a policy on the property and the amount of coverage. If the
FAIR Plan accepts the property, the property owner pays the
FAIR Plan the insurance premium.

When losses occur the FAIR Plan pays the property owner.
Kt the end of the year, the total losses {claims) paid, added
to the costs to administer the FAIR Plan, has usually exceeded
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the premiums collected and other income, resulting in a finan-
cial loss. This loss is passed on to private insurance compan-
ies participating in the FAIR Plan. The Federal Government

has no financial involvement in FAIR Plans.

All the States that we visited require all insurance com-
panies selling fire and related lines of insurance in these
States to participate in the FAIR Plan, thereby sharing in
FAIR Plan profit and losses, Three States with FAIR Plans
allow insurance companies to part1c1pate voluntarily. In
States requiring participation, each insurance company's
share of the loss is based on its percentage of the total
fire insurance premiums collected in the State. A company
collecting 20 percent of the total insurance premium dollars,
therefore, has to pay 20 percent of the FAIR Plan losses.

FAIR Plans have generally not been financially success-~
ful, According to financial statements they have submitted
to FIA as of September 30, 1977, only 5 of the 27 Plans show
a profit since they began operating. The California ($652,000)
and Georgia Plans ($431,000) have the highest underwriting pro-
fite from inception to September 30, 1577. The New York and
Michigan FAIR Plans have the highest underwriting losses from
inception to September 30, 1877; $68.5 and $60.5 million, res-
pectively. Appendix IV shows the underwriting profit or loss
of each of the 27 FAIR Plans as of September 30, 1977.

Riot reinsurance

The Federal Government's role is to (1) offer, through
FIA, riot reinsurance to the private insurance companies that
participate in FAIR Plans whether voluntarily or mandatorily,
(2) periodically review each Plan and the methods and prac-
tices by which guch Plan is being carried out in the areas
and communities where it is intended to operate to (a) assure
that such Plan is effectively making essential property
insurance readily available in such areas and communities
and (b) identify any aspects of the operation or adminis-
tration of such Plan which may reqguire revision, modifi~
cation, or other action to carry out the purposes of the
reinsurance act of 1968.

Riot reinsurance insures the companies against excess
losses that they would sustain during riots or civil dis-
orders. Riot reinsurance covers properties insured in the
private market by these companies and not FAIR Plan-insured
properties, Insurance companies pay a nominal reinsurance
premium, two cents per hundred dollars of reinsurance, to
FIA and agree to bear riot-related losses themselves up to
a stipulated percentage of their total premiums earned from
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selling fire and related lines of insurance to private pro-
perty owners within a State. This percentage is generally
2.5 percent of an insurance company's p*emlums. According
to an FIA official, 2.5 percent of an jnsurance company's
earned annual premiums from fire and related lines of insur-
ance has covered most of the riot-related losses that insur-
ance companies have incurred to date. It would therefore
appear, that private insurance companies, not FIA, have paid
most of the riot-related losses that have occurred to date
in those States that have a FAIR Plan. FIA has collected
over $100 million of riot reinsurance premiums from private
insurance companies and paid excess riot-related losses of
about $12 million from inception of the riot reinsurance
program to September 30, 1977.

ARSON-FOR-PROFIT

FAIR Plan and insurance industry officials believe that
arson-for-profit is a serious problem in FAIR PBlans as well
as in the private insurance market. Also, two FAIR Plan
officials in Massachusetts and Pennsylvania said that
organized crime is involved in arson-for-profit in certain
cities. The significance of the arson-for-profit problem
in FAIR Plans, however, could not be demonstrated because
of lack of statistics.

What is arson?

A September 1976, United States Department of Commerce=~
sponsored report prepared by Battelle Columbus Laboratories,
"ARSON: AMERICA'S MALIGNANT CRIME", defined arson as "The
crime of maliciously burning the building or the property
of another, or of burning one's own for some improper
purpose, as to collect insurance."

The National Fire Protection Association l/ 1dent1f1es
at least eight categories of arson including

~—fraud fires which usually are to collect insurance
because the value of the insured structure and/or
contents is less than the value of the insurance;

--political fires set to dramatize an issue or other
similar reason;

1/A nonprofit technical and educational organmization which
promotes the science and improves the methods of fire
protection and prevention.
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--pyromaniac fires set for thrills;
~-crime cover-up fires;
-~gpite fires (revenge, jealousy or anger); .

--vanity fires set so that the arsonist can appear
as a hero in taking countermeasures;

--"psycho" fires committed without any rational
motive; and

~-vandalism fires set by individuals or groups who
are looking for excitement without premeditated
motive.

Significance of the problem

Although statistics on the various categories of arson
are not available from anyone we met (nor did they know of
any such statistics available from other sources) informa-
tion from the Illinois Advisory Committee on Arson Prevention
states that insurance fraud--burning-for-profit--may be the
number one motive for arson.

The Battelle report stated that current trends in arson
are worsening and that urban fire departments estimate that
as much as half of all city fire losses are from fires set
on purpose. These fire losses, according to the report, may
have an impact on the economy each year of as much as $10
billion through higher insurance premiums, higher prices for
what is not burned, lost jobs and higher taxes. In addition,
as many as 1,000 lives are lost to arson each year, accord-
ing to the report. Information published by the Property
Loss Research Bureau, an insurance trade association repre-
senting about 115 companies, states that since the early
1950s arson losses in the Nation have increased tenfold.

Information obtained from the American Insurance
Association, an insurance industry trade association,
shows that about $1.5 billion of the total $3.5 billion of
insurance losses paid by the industry in 1976 resulted from
arson/incendiary fires. This is the latest data we could
obtain. An Association official said that no one really knew
the extent of the arson problem nor how heavily organized
crime was involved.

Although arson-for-profit may be a problem in FAIR Plan-
insured properties, private insurance companies, are experi-
encing most of the arson-for-profit, according to some Plan
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vfficials. FAIR Plan officials, however, do not know how
much arson or arson-for-profit the Plans are experiencing.

Apparently, one of the reasons the insurance industry is
experiencing most of the arson or arson-for~profit is because
FAIR Plans write only a small percent of the fire insurance
being written in many States. Pennsylvania and New York Plan
officials said they write about 2 and 5 percent, respectively,
of the total in their States. The Washington PFAIR Plan sells
less than one-half of one percent (about §$500,000) of the
fire and related lines of insurance sold in the State. The
latest statistics available for Washington show that losses
from arson or suspected arson were about $2 million in 1976.
3lso, in Texas, where there is no FAIR Plan arson losses in
Houston alone in 1977 were an estimated $10.3 million. The
Houston fire marshal said he believed that about 50 percent
of the dollar loss from fires in Texas was arson-for-profit
relatéd.

Although a FAIR Plan may write a small percent of the
policies in a State, the Plan's portion of the State's arson
logsses may be greater than its portion of the fire insurance
written in that State. A Massachusetts FAIR Plan official
estimated that 40 percent of the arson in the State was FAIR
Plan~related, even though the Plan writes only 15 percent
of the State's fire insurance.

Problemé affecting arson-for-profit

The insurance industry, insurance trade association
and FAIR Plan officials with whom we met pointed out
numerous preblems affecting the arson~for-~profit problem.
Some of these problems were of a local nature and some
were related to State law or requirements. In addition
to Federal regqulations, FAIR Plans must generally operate
under the same State laws that regulate private insurance
companies. Some of the problems mentioned by officials
with whom we met, follow.

~~There is little real incentive for the insurance
industry to do anything about arson. One insurance
company official said that even if property owners
can be proven guilty of committing arson, the insur-
ance companies must still pay mortgages on the pro-
perty. Insurance companies have also adopted an
attitude that money should probably not be spent
to investigate suspected arsonists because the
chances of conviction are only about one percent,
and the suspects may sue the companies for punitive
damages. Another insurance company official told
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us that from a financial point of view it did not
make sense in many cases to try to prosecute, and
that it was less expensive to pay the claims. We
noted that a September 1977 study 1/ on fires in
urban areas states that at the present time, pro-
perty owners contemplating arson can feel secure in
the knowledge that they have in excess of a 98-per-
cent chance of not being convicted and, until this is
changed, the threat of prosecution will have little
preventive effect.

-~0fficials from seven FAIR Plans, as well as other
officials, said that prosecutors,generally did not
want to take an arson case because arsor was so
difficult to prove.

--We were told that police departments in some cities
consider arson investigation a fire department matter,
and that the fire departments regard arson a crime
and, therefore, a police matter. As a result, arson
does not get much attention from either department.

-~-State laws or requirements in some cases hinder ef-
forts to control arson. Perhaps the requirement men-
tioned most concerned the basis for paying claims.
Some States reguire that the "actual cash value" 2/
of a property at the time of the loss be used as the
basis for paying a claim without consideration of mar-
ket value of a property. This provides an incentive
for arson according to the Battelle report, because it
can overcompensate owners which have properties with
higher actual cash values than market values. The ac~
tual cash value concept for paying claims may also
have an adverse effect when insurance policies are
written in that it sometimes results in overinsuring.
For example, Illinois FAIR Plan officials told us that
they generally give property owners the amount of in-
surance requested without determining the property's
value. This is done because in the event of loss, the
owners will receive payment based on the actual cash
value of the property at the time of loss, not its
value at the time the insurance was written. The
September 1976 Battelle report recommended that the

1/a Naticnal Fire Prevention and Control Administration-
funded study called "FIRES IN RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS:
A SURVEY OF CAUSES AND LOCAL EFFORTS AT PREVENTION".

2/This is generally defined as replacement cost less
depreciation,

[A
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National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1/
"specifically study the impacts of state laws

4 which may compel insurance companies to pay insur-
ance claims greater than the market values of insured
‘properties". We were told that the Commissioners plan
to meet in June 1978, to discuss the Battelle report
recommendations.

--The Privacy Act was mentioned by almost everyone with
whom we met as a problem hindering arson investigation.
Many FAIR Plan officials said that if the fire depart-
ment wanted information from FAIR Plan files concern-
ing property owners or property, because of the Privacy
Act, the fire department would have to subpeona the
information. Also, an insurance company cannot make
other companies aware of information or share infor~
mation concerning a suspiciocus policy holder, accord-
ing to FAIR Plan and insurance company officials,
Ohio, however, has passed a law reguiring insurance
companies {(and the FAIR Plan) to provide information
to fire and other public investigative personnel on
demand. The insurance industry has also taken action
through the American Insurance Association to share
information concerning. fire losses. The Property
Insurance Loss Register, a nationwide fire loss his-
tory file, has been established te contain informa-
tion on every fire claim that has been filed with
insurance companies subscribing to the register. As
of January 1978, insurance companies writing about 75
percent of the fire and related lines of insurance in
the Nation had subscribed. According to the American
Insurance Association, this history file will help
identify insurance fraud, including

~-purchase of duplicate insurance from two or more
companies and full claims payment from both com-
panies for the same loss,

--known major arson and property fraud rings, moving
with impunity from city to city, and

--pubiicly known criminals and arsonists concealing
true ownership of intended fraud fire property
through "straw" ownership or listing themselves
as mortgagees.

1/an association representing State insurance departments
or authorities.
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Arson-for-profit in FAIR Plans

FAIR Plan officials believe that arson~for-profit is
a problem in FAIR Plans. These officials, however, were
not able to provide us statistics showing how serious the
problem is., Although the cause(s) of about 28 percent of
the fires in Illinois FAIR Plan-insured properties were not
determined, the Metropolitan Chicago Loss Bureau, 1/ which
settles Plan claims did make an analysis of Plan claims paid
in calendar year 1977. The Bureau statistics show that 33
percent (685) of the Plan fire claims were incendiary (arson
and arson-for-profit). These claims totaled about $7.7 mil-
lion, or 37 percent of the amount of all claims received.
The Bureau was able to identify evidence of owner involve-
ment in the fires in 11 percent of the FAIR Plan claims--or
18 percent of the known incendiary fires claims' amount. In
addition, according to the Bureau, the FAIR Plan also received
593 claims totaling about $6.6 million during 1977 for fires
for which the cause was not determined. The Bureau did not
know how many of these claims resulted from incendiary or
arson-for-profit fires.,

Arson~for-profit statistics are difficult to develop.
FAIR Plan and insurance industry officials have indicated
that investigations of suspicious fires by local fire and
police departments are sometimes inadequate, and that some
FAIR Plans do not adequately investigate arson cases. Arson
can be proven in many suspicious fires, but proving owner in-
volvement igs difficult, according to these officials.

The Massachusetts FAIR Plan does have several people
under indictment for arson, including suspected organized
crime figures. FAIR Plan officials said that five FAIR
Plan-insured properties had burned that were owned by or-
ganized crime or in some way related to organized crime.
One fire resulted in a loss of over $400,000. FAIR Plan
officials said they could not prove that this fire was
arson but that they believed it was. These officials also
said that crime rings other than organized crime were also
involved in arson-for-profit in the Boston area. One crime
ring identified last year was responsible for several known
arson fires, and one official said that although numerous

1/ A privately supported, nonprofit organization that
supervises adjustment of property claims for its 125
member insurance companies.

10
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arrests had been made, this was only the "tip of the iceberg".
The private investigators hired by the FAIR Plan uncovered
evidence that there was much more arson-for-profit in the
Boston area, as well as other areas, but did not pursue

these other cases because of manpower and funding limita-
tions. PFAIR Plan officials said that they had paid about
$900,000 for three large arson investigations in the Boston
area. The investigators told us that insurance companies,

ags well as the FAIR Plan, were experiencing arson-for-profit
losses in the Boston area.

The September 1977 study on fires in urban residential
neighborhoods, funded by the National Fire Prevention and
Control Administration, states that arson has become one
of Boston's most serious crimes. The study also points
out that to a great extent, fire is devastating Boston's
neighborhoods because gomeone profits from it. According
to the study, those who profit not only profit from the
fire itself but from the whole cycle of deterioration that
always precedes it. The study also states that while the
pattern of fraud seems to be premeditated, financial hard-
ship or the gudden attraction of getting a financial wind-
fall can also lure otherwise honest property owners to
disinvest in their property and allow it to be-torched.
The Ffuel that keeps fires raging in Boston's neighborhoods
is insurance money, according to the study.

As noted earlier, one Massachusetts FAIR Plan official
estimated that 40 percent of Massachusetts arson was FAIR
Plan related; the Plan writes about 15 percent of all the
fire insurance written in Massachusetts. About 57,000
FAIR Plan policies were in force in Massachusetts as of
September 30, 1977.

The Pennsylvania FAIR Plan has also had arson-fer-profit
fires that involved organized crime, The FAIR Plan had a
listing of arson or suspicious fire losses, most of which
occurred in 1976 and 1977, that totaled $1.8 million. FAIR
Plan officials told us that the arson-for-profit evidence
for some of these losses was circumstantial and arson could
not be proven in a criminal court. Payment of the claims,
however, can and have been denied in ¢ivil courts using such
evidence.

Although arson-for-profit may occur as a result of many
different situations, a typical case would involve the
following circumstances. A property is purchased at a very
low priceé. A few improvements are made, or merely started,
to justify an increase in the property's insurable value.

11
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The property may be "sold" to a fellow conspirator at an ar-
tifically inflated price; the true owner may become the mort-
gagee. An insurance policy for an amount substantially
greater than the market value is then obtained. Shortly
thereafter, a fire destroys the property. 1In one instance,
in a Massachusetts FAIR Plan investigation, property pur-
chased for $1,000, was covered by a $25,000 insurance policy.
A suspicious fire resulted and the FAIR Plan paid a claim of
$16,000 on this property.

Property Insurance Plans Service Office 1/ officials
said that FAIR Plans are not accomplishing their intended
objective of revitalizing urban core areas. Instead, they
said, the program is having the opposite affect. Slum land-
lords many times walk away from burned buildings without
making repairs with the insurance money received as a result
of fires. When a landlord walks away without making repairs,
the whole neighborhood begins to deteriorate, according to
these officials. The cities are helpless to do anything
because property owners cannot be located or, if they are lo-
cated, they cannot be forced to make necessary repairs. 1In
some instances, the repair costs may exceed the market value
of the property and, therefore, there is no financial incen-
tive for the owner to make repairs. Nonowner-occupied pro-
perty held for investment purposes poses the greatest risk
of arson-for-profit--about double the rate of owner-occupied
properties~~according to these officials.

AMOUNT OF INSURANCE AND THE
BASIS FOR PAYING CLAIMS

Three of the nine FAIR Plans we contacted were generally
providing insurance coverage in amounts the owner fteguested,
without regard to the actual value of the property. FAIR Plan
and insurance industry officials we interviewed believe this
results in overinsuring property which is a major incentive
for arson-for-profit, Five other FAIR Plans providing owner-
requested amounts of insurance in the past subsequently
changed their underwriting criteria to limit coverage to the
property's market value. One FAIR Plan official said that by
eliminating overinsurance and the incentive for arson,
his Plan had reduced its losses substantially.

FAIR Plans generally insure properties in economically
declining neighborhoods in which replacement cost less

1/ A national association representing all FAIR Plans.

12
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depreciation is much greater than the market value ¢f the
property. In four of the nine States that we visited, FAIR
Plans as well as insurance companies are required to pay
losses at replacement cost less depreciation, thereby pro-
viding policy holders with an incentive for arson.

In addition, 20 States require FAIR Plans and insurance
companies, to pay property owners the face value of their
policies in the event of a total property loss, These pay~
ments can result in financial gains to the owners because
the amount the owners are pald exceeds the market value of
the property.

Overinsurance

The amount of insurance FAIR Plans are willing to write
on properties differs among FAIR Plans. Three of the nine
FAIR Plans we contacted generally provide the amount of in-
surance the property owners reguest without attempting to
determine the property's actual or market value. As a result,
properties can be insured significantly above their actual
market values by the District of Columbia, Illincis and
New York FAIR Plans.

Various FAIR Plan and insurance industry officials have
gtated that overinsured properties provide great incentives
for arson to property owners. Varioug studies have also con-
c¢luded that overinsurance is a gignificant factor in the
arson problem. The September 1977 report from the National
Fire Prevention and Control Administration-funded study, for
example, states that arson~for-profit will be dlfficult to
contain as long as buildings can be easily overinsured and
the risk of being convicted of arson is so low. The reéport
also states that insurance companies recognize the problem
but have done little to stop it because there is no built-in
disincentive to stop it. According to the report, the only
sure response to this problem is tighter regulation by State
insurance commissioners and refusal by these commissioners
to allow increases in FAIR Plan rates as long as FAIR Plans
cannot show conclusively that they are making more than a
token effort at preventing arson through overinsurance.

As long as reinsurance companies can pass on arson losses
through rate increases, they are unlikely to take action
addressing the problem.

Also, the Battelle Laboratories September 1976 report
on arson states that there is a need for a reexamination of
the insurance underwriting practices and regulations that
impact on arson. According to the report, one basic problem
is that of avoiding too much insurance on a property.

13
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According to District of Columbia, Illinois and New York
FAIR Plan officials, these FAIR Plans generally sell property
owners any amount of insurance they request because claims
must be paid based on the actual cash value of the property
at the time of the loss. Illinois and New York Plan offi-
cials sald that it was therefore, meaningless, time consum-
ing and sometimes coutly to establish property value at the
time insurance is written. An Illinois FAIR Plan pfficial
said that determining the value of property at the time of
insuring it would be too costly, requiring an appraisal. The
cost to have the property appraised would in some cases ex-
ceed the insurance premium collected from the property owner.
As a result, the PAIR Plan does not appraise properties or
attempt to detetmine their value.

According to FAIR Plan officials, the Massachusetts,
Maryland, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island Plans had beeun pro-
viding goverzge in the past based on amounts reguested by the
owners rather than limiting coverage to market values. These
plans subsequently changed their underwriting criteria to
limir Ccoverage to market values because they believe that
gléer practices were overinsuring properties and, thereby,
providing an incentive for arson.

Massachusetts law also requires that insurance claims
be pald based on properties' actual cash values. The
Massachusetts FAIR Plan, however, does not let this dic-
tate the amount of insurance it will write on property. The
Massschusetts Plan, which has had a serious arson problem,
is now assuring that properties are only insured in amounts
39 to their fair or market values--generally the amount for
which the property could be sold. Massachusetts FAIR Plan
oificials said that there are a number of ways to determine
vhe fair market value of a property without paying for a
¢ostly professional appraisal. They stated that no precise
market value determination can be made but that an approx-
imate market value can be determined. One indicator they
use is the selling prices of properties recently sold in
the neighborhood. This can be obtained easily from pub-
lished real estate transfer directories. Other indicators
of property values used by the Massachusetts Plan are pur-
chase price and tax assessed values. PFAIR Plan officials
said, however, that they had not operated under this new
policy long enough to measure the impact it will have on
arson.

The Maryland and Pennsylvania FAIR Plans now attempt,
to some degree, to limit the amount of insurance they will
sell on a given property. A Maryland FAIR Plan official told
us that, as a result of an analysis of FAIR Plan lecsses, the

14
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Plan's underwriting criteria was revised for investor-owned,
nonowner-~occupied habitational properties., Hy¢ &lso, said
that about 83 percent of the FAIR Plan'i losses were from
these kinds of properties., The FAIR Plan's analysis showed
that in many instances the amounts of insurance coverage
being requested bore no relationship to the actual cash value
of the properties. The analysis also pointed out that the
practice of giving an owner more insurance than the actual
cash value of his property as the FAIR Plan had been doing
had necessitated settlement of claims by the FAIR Plan where
the cost of repairs exceeded the actual cash value of the
property.

The primary change that the Maryland Plan made in 1976
was ko try to bring the amount of insurance in line with pro-
perty values. The FAIR Plan official said that the Plan
started challenging applicants that wanted more insurance
than the Plan thought it should provide based on a number of
factors including, the original cost of the building to the
insured (applicant), the economic value, age and conditien
of the building, market value, depreciation and deterioration
and repairs and renovations made. Although property nwners
and public insurance adjusters, according to the FAIR Plan
official, were very upset with the new criteria, the number
of fires in properties covered by the new policy decreased
substantially., During the first 6-month pariod (May 1976
to October 1976) operating under the new criteria the number
of losses were reduced substantially. The FAIR Plan official
attributed the decrease to the new underwriting criteria.

Until their policy was changed in 1974, the Pennsylvania
FAIR Plan also provided insurance in amounts reguested by the
owners, according to Pennsylvania FAIR Plan officials. These
officials said current Plan practice is to provide insurance
at the market value of the property but the Plan will insure
up to a value of 150 rercent of purchase price, if the total
insurance coverage is less than $50,000. 3lso, if it is an
active business, the FAIR Plan will provide a greater amount
of insurance than the pugchase price of the property. The
Pennsylvania FAIR Plan does not make or have property apprais-
als made to try to establish property values because it is too
expensive, according to FAIR Plan officials.

Fees collected by insurance agents and brokers may also
affect the amount of insurance requested. Massachusetts and
New York FAIR Plan officials told us that property owners
often go through agents and brokers to get insurance, instead
of applying directly to the FAIR Plan. FAIR Plan officials
said that fees collected by agents and brokers, who are res-
ponsible for a significant portion of the insurance these

15
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Plans write, are based on the amount of insurance that FAIR
Plans and insurance companies write on properties. For
example, agents and brokers providing insurance through the
New York FAIR Plan get a l0-percent commission on the amount
of insurance obtained. This practice, combined with the Fact
that some FAIR Plans are providing insurance in virtually any
amount requested, could, in our opinion, result in overinsur-
ing properties, thus, creating arson incentives.

Actual cash value

Illinois FAIR Plan officials told us that actual cash
value has been defined as replacement cost minus depreci-
ation. According to these officials, payment of insurance
claims at this value sometimes regquires them to pay property
owners more than the market value of their property (more
than that for which the owners could sell their properties).
Properties in older urban areas suffering economic decline
ars more likely to have market values that are significantly
below the actual cash values (replacement cost less depreci-
ation) and are located in areas in which FAIR Plans generally
provide coverage. Both FAIR Plan and insurance company offi-
cials told us that this difference between market value and
actual cash value is a real incentive for "torching" run down
property.

Other States that require use of the actual cash value
basis to pay property insurance claims have recognized that
use of this value alone could tesult in paying property
owners more than the market value of the property. As a re=-
sult, courts in these States require that actual cash value
be determined using the "broad evidence rule®. This rule
allows insurers to consider, in addition to replacement cost
minus depreciation (actual cash value), other values in deter-
mining a fair amount to pay property owners whose properties
have been destroyed by fire. Such other values include the
rental value, the market value, and the economic value of
property. Proponents of the broad evidence rule believe that
using all these values will help assure that property owners
will not be overcompensated for fire losses,

"Yalued policy" States

Twenty States have passed laws, often called the "valued
policy law", to discourage insurance companies and FAIR Plans
from selling--and protect consumers against buying--more in~
surance than is needed to fully compensate property owners
for total property losses. FPFAIR Plans are operated in seven
of these States. Generally, this law requires insurers, in
case of a total property loss, to pay property owners the
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face amount of the policies regardless of property market
value. This may reduce the incentive for insurers to over-
insure property especlally property in economically declining
areas. None of the FAIR Plans we visited were in States that
had a valued policy law, so we do not know what impact it has
on arson in FAIR Plan~insured properties. Even though this
law may help to reduce overinsuring and remgve arson incen-
tives, it may create an incentive for arson in areas where
property values are declining. Property value would be es-
tablished at the time the policy is written but this value
could rapldly decline., Property owners would have incen-
tives to burn their properties knowing that they would col-
lect the face amount of their insurance policies, not the
actual cash value of the property at the time of the loss,

NEED FOR GREATER AUTHORITY
TO DENY OR LIMIT COVERAGE

FAIR Plan officials that we contacted believe that Plans
are operating in a manner that encourages arson-for-profit.
These officials, as well asg insurance industry officials with
whom we met, contend that, FAIR Plans provide insurance to
almost everyone due to FIA's attitude that no one ghould be
denied insurance coverage. All FAIR Plans we visited ex-
pressed the need for more flexibility in their underwriting
perogatives which would provide greater autserity to deny
insurance or otherwise limit coverage and thereby provide
a means of reducing arson-for-profit,

Some of the specific problem areas FAIR Plan and/or
insurance industry officials mentioned were

~-inability to consider the applicant's character,

~-requirement to provide immediate coverage before
properties can be inspected, and

~-need to revise FIA's required 30~day notice before
policies can be cancelled.

FIA does encourage FAIR Plans to control arson thriough
the underwriting process. and FIA's regulations do not re-
duire FAIR Plans to provive insurance to everyone, according
to an FIA official. The v£ficial could not provide us with
information as to what specific actions have been taken by
FIA to help FAIR Plans reduce arson.

The Urban Property Protection and Reinsurance Act of
1968, as amended, which authorized FAIR Plans states that

one of the purposes of the act is to "encourage and assist
the various State insurance authorities and the property

17
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insurance industry to develop and carry out statewide pro-
grams which will make necessary property insurance coverage
against the fire, crime, and other perils more readily avail-
able for residential, business, and other properties meeting
reasonable underwriting standards" (underscoring added). The
act also states that the Congress finds that "responsible
owners of well-maintained (underscoring added) residential,
business, and other properties in many" urban areas "are un-
able to obtain adequate property insurance against fire,* * *",
The act further states that FAIR Plans may vary from State to
State because of local conditions but all Plans shall contain
provisions that no risk shall be denied insurance coverage
unless, among other things, there has been a determination
that "the risk does not meet reasonable underwriting stan-
dards at the applicable premium rate". Apparently, the
Congress did not intend that Plans insure every property in
urban core areas.

In addition, FIA regulations do not apparently reguire
that all properties be insured. These regulations state that
after a FAIR Plan inspects property it must promptly notify
the applicants that it agrees to write covesage or that it
declines to write coverage because the property does not
meet reasonable underwriting standards, stating the specific
informatign that constitutes the basis for this determination.
The regulations state further that reasonable underwriting
standards for declining properties must be relevent to the
perils against which insurance is sought including

--physical condition of the property;

~-the property's present use, such as extended vacancy
or improper stcrage of flammable materials; or

~wother specific characteristics of ownership, condi-
tions, occupancy, or maintenance that violate the
law or public policy and that result in a substan-
tially increased exposure to loss.

Illinois FAIR Plan officials told us that FIA's inter-
pretation of "reasonable underwriting standards" was such
that FAIR Plans had to insure just about any property with
little concern about risk. They said that there were gen-
erally only three reasons under which they could refuse
insurance:

--1f previous unrepaired fire damage exists,

~--if :the property owner has been convicted of arson, or

--if the property is vacant.

18




447

APPENDIX I APPENDIX I

These officials said that they are refusing insurance to only
about one applicant out of every 100 that applies for property
insurance.

Pennsylvania and Washington FAIR Plan officials also told
us that FIA requizes them to insure undesirable risks, These
officials said that the best way to prevent arson losses is to
be careful in underwriting and not insure all applicants. The
Pennsylvania FAIR Plan originally accepted all applicants
but recently has attempted to reduce its losses by denying
coverage to poor risks. The State insurance department has
approved these efforts. Pennsylvania FAIR Plan officials
believe that their Plan has been given more flexibility in
its underwriting than other Plans have. They said, however,
that FIA has put pressure on the States to grant all appli-
cants insurance. The Penngylvania officials alseo said that
if FIA encouraged States to give FAIR Plans greater peroga-
tives to deny or limit coverage, State insurance authorities
would grant FAIR Plans greater flexibility.

A Washington FAIR Plan official said that PIA has criti-
cized him for being too selective as to properties that he
insures. He said that FIA could reduce the incentive for
arson if it would permit FAIR Plans to be more selective.

He said also that FIA is pushing FAIR Plans to insure every-
thing, including high-risk properties, and at a reasonable
rate.

Officials of the Property Insurance P.ans Service Office
said that FIA was discouraging FAIR Plans from being selective
in underwriting. Insurance industry, FAIR Plan and Service
Office officials mentioned an Octobear 1977, letter f£rom FIA
to the Massachusetts FAIKR Plan manager as indicative of FIA's
attitude towards fighting the agrson-for-profit problem in
FAIR :lans. The letter stated that "% % * 'arson for profit!
can be successfully attacked, as you have so ably demonstrated,
through post-claim review and vigorous prosecution 6f the cul=-
prits as opposed to attempts ko combat it through screening
and selection practices* * *"_ FAIR Plan, Service Office, and
industry officials disagree with this and said that this atei~
tude indicated a disregard for lives that are lost and millions
of dollars of property damages that result from arson.

One insurance company official who serves on a Plan's
board of governors told us that he thought that the standards
for underwriting in FAIR Plans were very low. According to
this official, these low standards result in losses which
are passed on to insurance companies and, ultimately, to pro-
perty owners buying insurance from these companies. He also
said that FAIR Plans have increased the incidence of arson-
for-profit because if these Plans had not been established
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many of the properties being burned could not get insurance
and, therefore, no incentive to burn them. According to this
official, one thing that could be done to improve FAIR Plans'
arson records, is to allow the Plans to be more selective as
to the properties they insure.

Character of the insured

FAIR Plans do not have the same perogatives that insur-
ance companies have, according to FAIR Plan and insurance in-
dustry officials. For example, ar insurance company can de~
cline to insure an individual after he has had a suspicious
fire. Pennsylvania Plan officials said that the insurance com~
pany will pay the claim without contesting it and then refer
the individual to the FAIR Plan for insurance. The FAIR Plan
cannot refuse to insure this individual, according to a
Pennsylvania FAIR Plan official.

FAIR Plan and insurance company officials believe that
factors other than location must be considered by FAIR Plans
before writing insurance, as is done in the insurance industry.

According to one insurance company official, the original
purpose of FAIR Plans was to provide insurance in those instan-
ces where the insurance industry would not "solely because of
where the property is located". He said that FAIR Plans,
therefore, should he granted all of the perogatives of the
industry except location.

Illinois FAIR Plan officials said that FAIR Plans need
to evaluate not only the property but the property owners as
well. Although these officials said that the owner's atti-
tude is important, they do not obtain information concerning
this matter. Some of these other factors, often referred to
as "moral hazards", concern the character and attitude of
insureds and would include such information as the person's
or company's financial condition, tax arrearages, housing code
violations, use being made of the property and the insured's
history of fires. Use of some of this information would re-
guire access to city records. As an example, Plan officials
cited city inspection records on an owner's violation of build-
ing codes, the length of time the violations have remained un-
corrected, and renter complaints.

Officials of two FAIR Plans noted that such informaticn
may not be readily available because the city government may
not cooperate, the cost to get the information may be toc ex-
pensive, or it may be illegal for the FAIR Plan to get the
information.
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However, certain FAIR Plans are now receiving data from
the city governments and using it in their underwriting ac-
tivities. For example, the New York FAIR Plan has access to
local tax records and building violations and have included
in their underwriting criteria, provisions that allow them
to deny coverage to individuals for unpaid taxes and building
violations.

Certain FAIR Plan and Service Office officials stated
that insurance could not be denied to an individual with a
history of fires even if the fires were found to be suspi-
cicus in nature. According to FAIR Plan officials, one FAIR
Plan denied coverage to a property owner who was under indict-
ment for arson. FAIR Plan officials stated that the case was
appealed to the State insurance authority, and the FAIR Plan
was required to provide the insurance. FAIR Plan officials
indicated that only a convicted arsonist can be denied insur-
ance by a FAIR Plan. New York FAIR Plan officials also men-
tioned that insurance could not be denied to an individual
with a number of fires nor could he be otherwise penalized.
These FAIR Plan officials feel that this type of person, if
not involved in suspicious fires, is at least negligent and
should be penalized, perhaps through the use of a deduct-
ibility clause in the policy-~increase the amount property
owners must pay toward any losses.

Pennsylvania FAIR Plan officials stated that if a known
organized crime figure had a suspicious fire and the FAIR Plan
was resisting the claim on that property, the FAIR Plan could
not deny insurance coverage on other property to the same
individual. These officials indicated that they were now at-
tempting to justify the need for such authority with their
State insurancé authority.

Other information on "moral hazard" may be available from
sources other than local governments, including the.insured.
These would include the history of fire claims and the fin-
ancial condition of the insured or his business.

We believe that FAIR Plans could receive city government
and other information which would assist in evaluating owners
and their attitudes.

FAIR Plans want to change the
insurance cancellatlon requlrement

Seven FAIR Plans we visited complained about the FIA
rgguired 30-day notice before a policy can be cancelled.
rllinois, New York, Massachusetts and Pennsylvania FAIR Plan
officials, as well as insurance company officials with whom
we met, said that this requirement was unreasonable in cases
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where it is known that an insured building is going to be
burned. A Massachusetts FAIR Plan official said the require-
ment was costly. For example, he said that the FAIR Plan once
spent about $10,000 to provide 24-hour security for a building
for 30 days after giving notice of cancellation. None of the
FAIR Plans had statistics to show dollar losses or the number
of properties that had burned during the 30-day period follow-
ing issuance of a cancellation notice.

FIA's 30-day cancellation requirement for FAIR Plans is
generally a longer period than most States require for insur-
ance companies. For example, the State of Rhode Island has a
S5-day cancellation requirement applicable to the insurance
industry while the Rhode Island FAIR Plan, until last year,
was required to give a 30-day notice. After the Rhode Island
State insurance department appealed to FIA, FIA granted the
FAIR Plan authority to cancel an insurance policy after
giving a 5-day notice, provided the State insurance depart-
ment approved each case. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan has
since asked FIA to grant it the same authority.

Illinois and New York FAIR Plan officials told us
that a 5-day requirement, in their opinion, would be very
helpful to them. 1Illinois and New York have asked FIA
to waive its 30-day cancellation regquirement under certain
circumstances. The New York Plan's request was not granted
because it did not, according to FIA, show that the existing
requirement was inequitable or caused undue hardship to
the Plan. 1Illinois' request was granted where specific con-
ditions existed but, according to FIA, the Illinois legis-
lature in 1975, passed into law a 30-day cancellation re-
quirement which included the FAIR Plan. An Illito:3 in-
surdnce department official said that the 1975 law did not
apply to the FAIR Plan. FAIR Plan officials, however, said
that their counsel had determined that the Plan did have to
comply with this law. .
The September 1977, National Fire Prevention and Control
Administration-funded study on fires in urban residential
neighborhoods states that insurance coverage on abandoned
buildings should be terminated more guickly. As soon as
abandonment occurs in these structures, the time frame
before a major fire occurs can be measured in a matter of
days, according to the study.

Providing insurance before inspecting property

The New York and Massachusetts FAIR Plans are required
to provide insurance on properties before they have an oppor-
tunity to inspect the properties. This practice, which is
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reguired by the New York Plan's board of directors, results
in a large number of policies being cancelled after the FAIR
Plan has had an opportunity to inspect the properties. IE the
FAIR Plan decides not to accept the property a 30-day notice
of cancellation is issued, as required by FIA. This gives
property owners at least 30 days of full insurance coverage
regardless of the property's condition.

Massachusetts FAIR Plan officials said that about 25 per~
cent of the insuranre written monthly (about 1,000 policies)
is immediate-type covd¢rage--coverage before inspecting the
property. According to these officials, this practice is
required by State law.

FAIR Plan actions

Within the last few years FAIR Plans began to realize the
seriousness of the arson-for-profi” problem. Suspected arson
fires are being analyzed by some FAIR Plans to try to deter-
mine why these fires occur so that corrective actions can be
taken to prevent them. The Massachusetts and Rhode Island
FAIR Plans appear to have done more than any of the other
Plans we visited to try to control the arson problem. Most
of the changes they are making or want to make do not re-
quire FIA's approval. They feel that underwriting pero~
gatives are available for FAIR Plansg to use. Recent actions
the Massachusetts and Rhode Island Plans have taken or have
proposed include

~-use of Plan-imposed deductibles;

-~right to decline insurance on certain idle and/or
unoccupied properties;

~~right to decline insurance on buildings in which any
combination of the following exists: (1) failure
to pay real estate taxes for three or more years;
(2) failure to furnish heat, water, or public light-
ing for 30 consecutive days or more; (3) failure to
correct conditions dandgerous to life, health or safety;
or (4) failure to supervise building(s) in accordance
with public law; and

--use of a S5-day cancellation notice instéad of the FIA
30-day requirement.

Massachusetts and Rhode Island FAIR Plan officials told us that
they had not operated under these new practices long enough to
measure the impact they will have on arson. They believe that
these practices will eliminate some of the drson-for-profit in
FAIR Plans.

23
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We discussed with an F1A official the FAIR Plans' con-
cerns regarding the need for additional underwriting pero-
gatives and flexibility to deny insurance under certain cir-
cumstances. The FIA official said that FAIR Plans were not
reguired to insure everyone and, specifically mentioned that
there was no FIA requirement that property owners under in-
dictment for arson or those with a history of suspicious fires
be insured. He also said that FIA had sent some arson-related
information to FAIR Plans and/or State insurance departments
although officials from the FAIR Plans we visited said that
they had not received any guidance from FIA concerning the
arson -problem. Except for correspondence concerning four
FAIR Plans' requests to use a 5-day cancellation notice in-
stead of FIA's 30-day notice, FIA could not provide us with
any arson-related information that had been sent to FAIR
Plans. The FIA official said that FIA's role concerning
FAIR Plans is not that of telling the Plans how to operate.
FIA's concern is that insurance under FAIR Plans is not
denied unfairly to those needing it, according to this offi-
cial, and that the individual States must directly supervise
the FAIR Plans.

24
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

FAIR Plan and insurance industry officials believe that
arson-for-profit is a serious problem in the FAIR Plans as
well as in the private insurance market. Due to the lack of
specific data, the significance of the problem cannot be
demonstrated.

Providing insurance in an amount exceeding property
value is considered an important incentive for arson-for-
profit, Of the nine FAIR Plans we contacted, three are pro-
viding insurance to property owners without attempting to
determine the property values, thus providing owners the
opportunity to overinsure. Officials from the three Plans
believe it meaningless and costly to determine value at the
time insurance is provided because claims are paid on the
basis of property value at the time of loss. 'Other FAIR
Plans, however, are now establishing property value when
insurance is provided and attempting to limit coverage to
that value. Using a number of values, such as purchase
price, selling price of similar properties in the immediate
area, and tax assessed values property value can be reason-
ably estimated. Guarding against overinsuring removes an
important incentive for arson-~for-profit.

In case of fire, claims are paid at actual cash value
or replacement cost less depreciation. Insurance proceeds
based on this value can provide property owners more than the
market value of their properties. This is an incentive for
arson~for-profit which does not exist in States that have
adopted the "broad evidence rule," allowing consideration of
other property values, such as market, rental, and economic
values.

Many FAIR Plan officials believe Plans ar¢ encduraging
arson-for-profit by providing insurance to almust everyone
who requests it. Certain FAIR Plan officials believe there
is little they can do until FAIR Plans receive additional
underwriting authority from FIA to deny, limit or modify imn-
surance coverage. Other FAIR Plans we visited are making
or have recently made changes in their underwriting criteria.
We believe that some of these changes would be useful to
other FAIR Plans. Because there is little communication
among the FAIR Plans, however, the Plans are not aware of
all that others are doing to control arson. FAIR Plan offi-
cials agreed that more can and should be done to provide
greater underwriting flexibility to FAIR Plans.
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FAIR Plan officials believe that the character and
attitude of the insured should be considered in the Plan's
determination to grant coverage. Such information would
include the owner's history of fires, his personal or busi-
ness's financial condition, tax arrearages, and other moral
hazard factors. .

Seven of the FAIR Plans we visited disagreed with FIA's
requirement that a 30-day notice must be given before a
policy can be cancelled. FAIR Plan officials helieve the
requirement is unreasonable when the Plan knows an insured
building is going to be burned. The 30-day requirement is
generally longer than most States reguire for insursace
companies. Some FAIR Plan officials have suggested a S5~day
requirement which has been approved by FIA for the Rhode
Island FAIR Plan, subject to case-by-case approval by the
State insurance department.

RECOMMENDATIONS

We recommend that the Secretary of Housing and Urban
Development direct the Administrator, Federal Insurance
Administration to revise FIA regulations to:

~~-Require that all FAIR Plans establish property value
at the time of underwriting and eliminate the practice
of giving property owners any amount of insurance
desired.

~~Require all FAIR Plans to obtain and consider
Information concerning the character of the pro-~
perty owner in its determination of insurability,
as the insurance industry does.

--Permit FAIR Plans to use a 5-day cancellation notice
with State insurance department approval in each
instance.

We also recommend that the Administrator discuss the desira-
bility of adopting the broad evidence rule basis with State
insurance authorities in those FAIR Plan-States that reguire
insurance payments at actual cash value without consideration
of market value.
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LISTING OF ORGANIZATIONS
GAO CONTACTED

Department of Housing and Urban Development:

Federal Insurance Administration
Washington, D.C.

Department of Commerce:

National Fire Prevention and Control Administration
Washington, D.C,

Fair Access to Insurance Requirements (FAIR) Plans:

District of Columbia Property Insurance Facility
Washington, D.C.

Illinois FAIR Plan Assoclation
Chicago, Illinois

Joint Insurance Association
Baltimore, Maryland

Massachusetts Property Insurance Underwriting
Association 1/ ang

Phode Island Joint Reinsurance Association 1/
Boston, Massachusetts

New York Property Insurance Underwriting
Association

New York, New York

Insurance Placement Facility of Pennsylvania 2/ and

Insurance Placement Facility of Delaware 2/
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Washington FAIR Plan
Seattle, Washington

1/ These two FAIR Plans' operations are being managed by
a joint management team in Boston, Massachusetts.

2/ These two FAIR Plans' operations are being managed by a
joint management team in Philadelphia, Pehnsylvania.
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Property Insurance Plans Service Office
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Insurance trade associations:

American Insurance Association
New York, New York

Property Loss Research Bureau
Chicago, Illinois

Insurance companies:

Unigard Insurance Company
Seattle, Washington

SAFECO Insurance Group
Seattle, Washington

Hartford Fire Insurance Company
Chicago, Illinois

Underwriters adjusting Company
New York, New York

Pennsylvania National Mutual Casualty
Insurance Company
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania

State Farm Insurance Companies
Austin, Texas

Other organizations:

The New York Board of Fire Underwriters
New Ycrk, New York

Texas Insurance Advisory Association
Austin, Texas

Insurance Crime Prevention Institute
Evergreen Park, Illinois

Insurance Information Institute
Seattle, Washington and
Austin, Texas

Metropolitan Chicago Loss Bureau
Chicago, Illinois

28
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State Board of Insurance
Austin, Texas

Arson Investigation Unit
Seattle Fire Department
Seattle, Washington

Fire Marshal

Houston Fire Department
Houston, Texas

29
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FAIR PLANS

Number of Policies Issued and

Underwriting Profit or Loss

APPENDIX IV

From Inception to September 30, 1977

Number Underwriting
of profit or
policies loss (=)
issued {(note a)
California FAIR Plan Associlation 655,117 $ 652,000
Connecticut Insurance
Placement Facility 87,323 -15,174,000
Insurance Placement Facility
of Delaware 39,7179 ~911,000
District of Columbia Property
Insurance Facility 136,932 ~-621,000
Georgia Underwriting
Association 25,730 431,000
Illinois FAIR Plan
Association 405,929 ~-41,638,000
Indiana Basic Property
Insurance Underwriting
Association 21,145 256,000
Iowa FAIR Plan 11,963 -586,000
Kansas All-Industry
Placement Facility 36,282 ~1,135,000
Kentucky Property Insurance
Placement Facility 68,594 -4,229,000
Joint Insurance Association
(Maryland) 349,803 -4,642,000

a/ Profit or loss from writing insurance; excludes interest

earned from investments.
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Massachusetts Property
Insurance Underwriting
Assoclation

Michigan Basic Property
Insurance Association

Minnesota Property Insurance
Placement Facility

Migsouri Property Insurance
Placement Facility

New Jersey Insurance
Underwriting Association

New Mexico Property
Insurance Program

New York Property Insurance
Underwriting Associlation

North Carolina Insurance
Placement Facility

Ohio FAIR Plan Underwriting
Association

Oregon FAIR Plan
Associlation

Insurance Placement Facility
of Pennsylvania

Puerto Rico Pire & 2llied
Lines Underwriting
Asgociation

Rhode Island Joint
Reinsurance Agssociation

Virginia Property Insurance
Association

k3|

APPENDIX IV

Number
of Underwriting
policies profit or
issued loss (-~}
329,008 -$52,419,000
820,269 -60,498,000
19,352 -2,479,000
258,853 -12,315,000
166,545 ' -34,664,000
2,282 236,000
1,187,962 ~68,537,000
64,159 -4,425,000
163,012 -12,615,000
3,990 ~565,000
448,926 ~13,058,000
1,316 298,000
57,927 -7,270,000
~2,831,000

121,607
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Washington FAIR Plan

Wisconsin Insurance Plan

(06804)
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Number
of Underwriting
policies profit or
issued loss (~)
17,889 -$ 446,000
t
71,467 -2,555,000
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AIEHED

Wentutaghon Ol v Alliance of Amencan insurers
1776 F Slreet, NW
washinglon. D C 20006
2023310313

October 6, 1978

The Honorable Henry M. Jackson, Chairman

Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
Committee on Governmental Affairs

101 Russell Senate Office Building

Washington, DB.C. 20510

Dear Senator Jackson:

Enclose@ is our statement which we respectfully request be
made a part of the hearing reroxd on Arson-for-Profit, con-
ducted by the Senate Fermanent Subcommittee on Investigations,
August 23, 24 and September 13, 14, 1978.

The Alliance of American Insurers is a major national trade
association of more than a hundred property and casualty
insurance companies. Our member companfes provide a full
range uf property and casualty insurance coverages in the

50 states and the District of Columbia.

This statement has been notarized atfesting to our belief
that the contents are factual.

The Allianca of American Insurers js dedicated to helping
slamp out arson.

Sincerely,

/ ’
James EB. nes, Jr.

Governmental Affairs Representative
JEI/A
Enclosures

c¢: Committee Members excluding exhibits

34-657 O - 78 - 30
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statement to the
Senate Permanent Subcommittee
on Investigations
of the
Committee on Governmental ;ffairs

on

Arson-For-Profit

Submitted by the
alliance of American Insurers

James E. Jones, Jx.
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The Alliance of American Insurers is a major national
trade association of more than a hundred property and casualty
insurance companies. Our member companies provide a full
range of property and casualty insurance coverages in all
50 states and the District of Colunbia.

This statement is provided to the Subcommittee to set forth
the Alliance position regarding the crime of arson and arson-
for-profit. We are seriously concerned about the vicious,
deadly. and rapidly spreading cancer of arson and arson-for-
prolit in the United States., Arson is a killer. It is the root
cause of widespread misery, death and destruction of momentous
proportions, and, as your hearings have illustrated, no state
or city is immune to its corrupting influence. Arson has become
a major contributor to the destruction and decay of major sec-~
tions of our urban neighborhoods. However, while blighted cen-
tral city areas have become the most serious troublespots, arson
is also rapidly moving to the éupurbs and to some rural areas
of our country. DesPitg the fact that arson has become a menace
to all of us, it goes virtually unchecked, undetected and un-

noticed.
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The Alliance has vigorously supported the hearings
launched, by the U.S., Senate Permanent Subcommittee on InQesti—
gations, on their major inquiry into arson-for-profit as well
as, the December, 1978 hearings heldvby the Senate Subcommittee
on Intergovernmental Relations on arson-for-profit and its
impact on states and loca;ities.

our association and the Property Loss Research Bureau,
an affiliate of the Alliance, have been actively involved in
studying the scope of arson,.-its causes and effects and the
development of strategies and resources to help decrease the
deadly consequences of arson and arson-for-profit, particul#rly
during the past decade.

We applaud the report by the Aerospace Corporation, a
research institute, entitled "Arson and Arson Investigation,
Survey and Assessment." The Aerospace Corporation's research

was commissioned by the National Institute of Law Enforcement

and Criminal Justice (LEAA) and it found that the probability of arson

conviction depended on three essential factors: One, proper
detection that the fire was deliberately set; two, necessary

investigation to link available evidence to the perpetrator(s);
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and three, successful prosecution. The report emphasized
that firesetters were principally encouraged today by the ab-
sence of any expected punishment.

We are convinced that the number and severity of incendiary
fires would be reduced significantly by increasing the certainty
of swift justice and stiff penalties as well as conviction of
known arsonists. Increase the probability of apprehension,
conviction, and punishment and the incidence of arson will
decrease. .

The Alliance of American Insurers, without reservation,
has supported the legislgtive efforts of Senator John Glenn
of Ohio to have the crime of arson re-classified from a Part II
to a Part I offense in the Uniform Crime Reports (UCR) published
by the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

This, we believe is the most effective way to combat axson.
Currently, crime reported by the FBI is &ivided into two groups,
Part I and Part II offenses. Arson is now a Part 1II offense,
along with such miscellaneous offenses as counterfeiting, vandal-
ism, gambling, drunkeness, and disorderly conduct. Classifying

arson as a Part I crime would place it in the same category as
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criminal homicide, forceable rape, robbery, aggravated assault,
burglary, larceny, theft, and automobile theft., It is important

to note that law enforcement officials contend they consider Part f and
Part II crimes with equal seriousness; the difference being

that statistics compiled for Part I offenses include data on

volume, tren&, rte, clearances, persons arrested, persons charged,

and the nature of the offense "y territory. These types of stat-
istics are extremely valuable in coping with the arson problem

especially from an enforcement standpoint., Only arrest informa-

tion is now reported on Part II offenses., We are confident that

if arson were classified as a Part I offense that: One, the
increased factual Leporting about arson would exert an important
influence on the public, legislators, prosecutors, judges and
the insuring industry to develop inore attention and resources

to combat the seriousness and high cost oi arson; two, police
and fire authorities would become more aware of arson and more
involved in coping with its unchecked and cancerous growth.

This wonld promote cooperation and answer questions of juris-

dictional responsibility, encouraging better relations among

fire departments, police departments, private industry and
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others; three, re-classification of arson also could encourage
the Federal Government itself, and particularly the Law Enforce-
ment Assistant Administration to develop and support anti-arson
programs to a greater degree.

In summary, re-classification of arson from a Part II to
a Part I offense would stimulate those concerned with the pro-
blem to reset priorities on a real woild basis to reflect the
true impact of arson upon society and our economy at large.

The Alliance has also sanctioned the actions of Senator
Charles H. Percy in requesting the Office of the Comptroller
General of the United étates (GAO) to investigate one; federal
research and development of arson detection technicues and
arson investigator training, (PSAD 78-88, dated April 24, 1978),
two; federal law -nforcement agencies activities to detect, in-
vestigate and prosecute arson offenders, (GGD 78-47, dated April
5, 1978) as viell as threa; the extent to which the Federal Riot
Re-insurance Program and the Fair Access to Insurance Requiru~
ments Plans (FAlR Plans) establishad by the states may provide
an incentive for arson related insurance fraud (CED 78-121,

dsted May 31, 1978).
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Evidence is abundant in our large urban cities which

indicates that arson-~for-profit is growing like a cancer.

We know that Senator Percy has grave concerns that FAIR

Plans (established under the Urban Property Protection and
Re-insurance Act of 1968) may be providing an incentive for
arson. Specifically, the concern is that under FAIR Plans,
fire insurance may often be made readily available to all
comers including potential arsonists and that insurers are
hampered in underwriting fire risks due to Federal guidelines
for the administration of such programs. This provides a
means for unscrupulous and financially pressed landlords

to apply the torch to their own buildings and profit from the
destruction, particularly in our urban cities.

At present, FAIR Plans operate in 28 states, with some
Plans statewide and others providing insurance only within the
urban axea of the state. ULet's examine Lo what extent FAIR
plans could be influencing the increase of arson-for-profit
within these urban centers.

First, one must recognize that managers of these state

FAIR Plans are presently required to adhere to underwriting

¢
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criteria dictated by the Federal Insurarice Administration (FIA),
in order to participate in the Riot Re-insurance Program. In
the past, FIA has made it difficult for insurers to perform
a complete and essential underwriting function prior to plac-
ing coverage, We believe that the most rational underwriting
approach is to identify the arson prone risk and/or unsafe
building prior to issuing fire insurance coverage. This, we
are convinced would help eliminate or screen out many of the
arson~for-profit "schemers."

Conversely, Mr. J. R, Hunter, Deputy Administrator of
FIA has sugygested that insurers offer coverage to all who re-
quest it, and attempt tc deny a claim only after the arson
had occurred, using post claim underwriting. He recently stated
that "the very real and ubiquitous problem of "arson-for-profit"
can be successfully attacked, through post claim review and
rigorous prosecution of the culprits as opposed to attempts
to combat it through (underwriting) screenirng and selection
practices." We, in the insurance industry, continue to adhere
to the prevailing wisdom of the old adage which reminds us

that "an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure", parti-
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ularly when it comes to combating arson.

Another problem which we want to bring to the attention
of the Subcommittee concerns the restrictions placed on
insurers in attempting to obtain necessary information on
FAIR Plan insurance applications, (as a consequence of exist-
ing laws, i.e. Unfair Claims Practices Act, Valued Pelicy Laws,
Privacy Act o% 1974, Freedom of Information Act and the use of
Blind Trusts). In a recent report "Arson-for-Profit: More Could
Be Done to Reduce It" the General Accounting Office Aiscusses
the extent to which the Federal Riot Re-insurance Program,
which is administered through FIA/HUD, and the FAIR Plans
actually provides incentives for arson related insurance fraud.

In that report, GAO concluded that arson is and has now reached

epidemic proportions in some urban areas. It is increasing at

a_rate that could exceed 25% annually, while the total number

of arson losses is now equal to or greater than the total

number of burglary and auto theft losses! Two principal re-

commendations were made by GAO to help reduce the incidence
of such arson. 1In particular, the GAO Report found:

0 Cextain Fair Access to Insuranre Requirement Plans




471

(FAIR) are aver-insuring some properties, creating
incentives for arson-for-profit. In such cases, in-
surance is provided at inflated market values or at
values in excess of property value based on replace-
ment costs,

o FAIR Plan managers helieve they need greater underwriting
authority from the Federal Insurance Administration tc
deny or limit insurance coverage to high risk propexty
owners, {The Federal Insurance Administration (FIA)
oversees these plans (i.e, underwriting criteria/pro-
cedures) through its review of eligibility for federal
riot re-insurance.

© Although there are gertainly valid reasons for refusing
coverage altogether, almost every FAIR Plan is providing
such insurance when reguested.

According to GAO, “FAIR Plan officials believe thét the
character and attitude of the (potential) insured be considered
in the Plan's determination to grant coverage. Such information
could include the owners' histoxry of fires, their personal or
business financial condition, tax arrearages, and other (pnssible)

moral hazard factors.
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GAO conluded ti.rt the Federal Insurance Administration
should play a leading role in helping the FAIR Plans to reduce
arson and protect insured property, and that FIA's administra-

tion of the plans needed to be revised to achieve that end.

HUD Study of FAIR Plans

The Housing and Urban Development Department (HUD) was
directed by the Congress, in September of 1977, to undertake
a study on gtate FAIR Plans and the effect theiir administra-
tion has had on the availability and affordability of insurance.

In its report, Insurance Crisis in Urban America, HUD

incorrectly asserts that the ready availability of insurance
under FAIR Plans i8 not a cause of increasing arson for profit
cages. We wish td cite testimony by the Bronx District Attorney
who stated that most of the torching in the Bronx was instigated
by landloxds in order to collect fire insurance. In 1975 alone,
the New York FAIR Plans paid out $10 million to South Bronx land-
lords. 1In fact, one landlord there who was indicted focr arson,

owned six buildings ané had filed $125,000.00 in insurance claims.

~h
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The BUD report in addition to its position on arson and
the FAIR Plans supported the Holtzmgn Amendment, Section 307(b)
of S5.3084, the Housing and Community Development Amendments of
1978.

The Alliance in conjunction with the property and casualty
insurance industry vigorously suppeorts the very valid concerns
that Senator Glenn expressed during these hearings regaxrding
the Holtzman Amendment as contained in $.3084 (legislation
which amends and extends certain Federal laws relating to hous-
ing, community and neighborhood development). Section 307(b)
of S.3084 requires that properties insured in the FAIR Plans
be written at the same rate as those properties in the voluntary
market. However, we believe that high risk properties should
be rated by insurers in accordance with their exposure ﬁo loss
and that underwriters must have the ability to rate and under-

write properties as the statistics and their experience dictate.

Insurance dfifordability

The affordability of property insurance has become a problem
for some homeowners due to causal factors outside the insurance

system. Fire and homeowner coverage have become unaffordable
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for a growing number of inner-city and rural residents, and

these high premiums are a direct reflection of many factors com-
pletely beyond the control of insurance underxwriters. High
property insurance premiums are, in fact, a direct function of
spiralling costs for construction (new buildings and renovations),
rising property values that outpace inflation, and the growing

incidence of arson and arson-for-profit.

We would like to make another important point concerning
insurance affordability. It is contended by some that insurance
underwriters should individually inspect each residential pro-
perty to make certain these properties meet the companies'’
underwriting criteria, and to assure that good risk (sound, well-
maintained) homes can obtain necessary coverage. At the present
time many insurance carriers do conduct such inspections as

do some of the staté FAIR Plans. However, to properly inspect

a_residence and reinspect it at appropriate intervals is a very

expensive undertaking and such inspection costs must be added

to existing underwriting charges which inevitably increases

insurance premiums.

We recognize that insurance has become a necessity in our
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society. FPFurther we understand that in view of the tremendous
demands placed on our industry by society through individual
expectations and by our overall economic growth, the function
of insurance has had to change and adapt. Increasingly, this
means that our business is being looked upon to perform social
functions that are no longer consistent with sound business
practices. For example, some observers believe we should pro~
vide insurance for individuals and properties which it is not

.

logical to insure.

Reaction to Charges Levied at Insurers

I. ALLEGATION: Insurers have a disincentive to resist arson

since the cost of paying for arson losses is

passed on to the insuring public in the form

of higher premiums.

ANSWER: This is a common misconception. More and more
insurance companies are systematically investi-
gating fraud/arson cases to thwart arson-for-
profit schemes now than at any time in the past.
We refer you to the indictments handad down

in Boston, Massachusetts and Tampa, Florida.
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Much of the evidence that was taken to the

Grand Juries in these jurisdictions came from
files and cases investigated by insurance
companies. Possibly the accusation that insurance
companies appear to have little incentive to do
anything about arson stems from evidence that

the majority of deliberately set fires are promp-
ted by reasons other than financial gain. These
would include vandals, transients, revenge moti-
vated fires, fires set to conceal other crimes,
fires set by the mentally disturbed etec. We,

as insurers, have no defense under the provisions
of the standard fire insurance policies for

fires which are not set for the purpose of de-
frauding insurers. These are solely law en-
forcement problems and as such, insurers have

an obligation to settle with their policyholders
promptly and equitably. Statistics point to

the fact that B0% of all deliberately set fires
are fires which have been set for reasons other

than financial gain.
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We should also point out that the in-
surance industry has launched major publicity
campaigns to make the public aware of the pre-
sence and magnitude of the crime of arson, and
is investing substantial sums of money in train-
ing their adjusters to become more alert and
aware of the potential of fraud fires. The
fact that we are submitting this testimony
reflects our sincere concern.

The insurance industry is too liberal in its

claims paying practices and pays its claims

too quickly.

We know of no company that makes a policy of
paying a claim if the adjuster becomes suspicious
or discovers that the cause is other than ac-
cidental.

Each time an insurance adjuster investigates
a loss he becomes the eyes and ears of the howe
office claims department. Unfortunately, be-~

cause it is difficult to identify, not all

34=657 O ~178 ~ 31
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adjusters have the expertise to détect the
presence of arson. Because of this, insurers
have embarked on programs to train their
adjusters to become more proficient in

cause and origin investigations. The Alliance
and its affiliate, The Property Loss Research <
Bureau has, for example, intensified its ef-
forts to train representatives of member com-
panies, non-member companies, independent in-
surance adjusters, firefighters and law enforce-
ment officers in detecting the presence of arson
as well as providing them information on other
anti-arson activities.

If after investigating a fire, the insurer
has no reason to suspect arson, there is no
reason to delay adjustment of the loss. 1In fact,
failure to do so may subject the insurance com-
pany to litigation and an investigation by state
insurance regulators who look out for policy=-

holders interests., At this point, continued
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investigation becomes a law enforcament

problem and the status of this investigation
into the identity of the responsible party
should have no bearing on the company's obliga-
tion to pay the loss.

We should also point out that several states
have enacted Unfair Claims Settlement Practices
Acts. In some jurisdictions, these Acts obli-
gate insurers to pay their claims within a certain
stipulated time after proof of loss has been
filed by the insured, (Time limit is usually 15
days), Companies operating in these states
are bound to pay lossess at the earliest appro-
priate time.

Consumer groups and legislators have been
pressing for quick claim payment but we recognize
that there is a need to educate them so that
they are aware of the conseguences of having
to pay suspicious claims before they have been

thoroughly investigated.
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Insurance adjusters are paid to collaborate

with arsonists, or arson conspirators.

There are isolated instances in which some
insurance adjusters have overpaid claims for
the purpose of splitting the excess claim amount
with dishonest insureds and contractors.

We believe that such adjusters are certain-
ly not prevalent in our industry and when they
are caught, i.e. by an insurance company's
audit procedures, they are fired,

Insurers are not dilident enough in checking

the background of their applicants (prospective

insureds), or of inspecting the properties they

insure.
Commercial Risks
Although we, as a trade association, do offer
our member companies a multitude of services in
property and casualty matters, we are not involved
in the actual underwriting of fire insurance.

Nevertheless, we are generally conversant with




481

the underwriting procedures typically fol-
lowed by insurers in the field of property
insurance. Our experience convinces us that
this assertion is not true, particularly with
regard to the underwriting of commercial risks.
Commercial risks are individually, physi-
cally inspected because of their inherent
diversity regarding loss exposure, and the large
amount of insurance that is usually requested
for such properties. Details concerning con-
struction, occupancy, exposure to adjacent
structures, and protection are vital to proper-
ly insure such risks. In addition to data kept
of file in rating bureaus on a buildings' con-
struction, and loss exposure, underwriting ap-
plications and financial reports are also sub-
mitted concerning an applicant's financial
condition, previous loss history, etc. Up-to-
date knowledge of an applicants' financial
condition is often a requirement prior to

granting coverage for a specific risk.
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If the building that houses the applicants'
business also houses a number of other businesses
it is not unusual for insurers to also obtain
information concerning these other occupants.

Specific data is developed on internal
protection, such as fire alarm systems, fire
doors, automatic sprinkler systems and the like.
This alse includes public fire protection furn-~
ished by the city fire departments., Often times
insurers will send loss prevention engineers
to the applicants' properties to personally
determine whether or not the risk to be insured
is adequately protected.

In summary, ample evidence exists to de-~
monstrate that insurers are exercising sound
underwriting prerogatives in connection with
commercial risks.

Habitational Risks (Personal Lines)

With regard to habitational risks, inspect-

ing each dwelling unit would be extremely sii-
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pensive and the cost of this would have to

be passed on to the insuring public in the

form of higher premiums. This does not mean
that we are abdicating our personal lines undex-
writing prerogatives., Insurers do request their
agents to fill out lengthy applications which
generate information concerning owners,

property age, and condition ete. If the amount
of insurance requested by the applicant is over
a certain limit or if the dwelling is beyond

a certain age, this often triggers an inspec-
tion of the risk to make certain that the risk
comes up to minimum underwriting standards.

In summary, habitational risks are not
physically inspected to the same degree as
commercial risks. However, where there is ade~
quate reason to do 8o, risks are inspected and
credit reports are obtained providing insurers

the background information they need.
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Agents are not inspecting properties on

which they write applications.

Here too, if independent agents were re-
quired to inspect all properties on which they
wrote applications, their costs could increase
commensurately putting pressure on commissions
and insurer expenses ; costs that would have
to be passed on to the insuring public.

Few insurance agents can accurately appraise
a properties' real market value or replacement
cost. They frequently have to rely on the appli-
cant to give them the value of this property
or they rely on a real estate appraiser for
such value. Who is in a better position to know
the value of this property than an applicant who
has purchased the property and seeks insurance
on it? .

The high cost of inspections preclude or at
least discourages agents from inspecting each

property upon which they write an application.
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In order for the insurance industry to continue to ha dili-~
dent in contesting suspicious clezims, and to head off arson
profiteers we believe a better attitude of the courts is needed.

We cite the recent example of the fradulent marine case where
the wife céllected after her husband transferred their property
to her name in order to evade ereditors then admititedly torched
the property.

The recent increase of arson contrsl activity is strong evi-
dence that incendiary fire has moved to a front-burner position
among the priorities of concerned public and private entities.
fet, despite the many positive programs now being implemented,
there is a danger that the overall effectiveness of these pro=~
grams may be diminished by a lack of coordination.

Recognizing that each involved organization or agency has
special strengths and responsibilities for arson control, we ack-
nowledge the following seven are&s‘as being of major concern in
controlling arsons

(1) Jurisdictional and Operational Structures;

(2) fTraining and Education:



(3
(4)
(5)

(7)
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Statistics, Data Collection and ResSearch;

Legislative and Regulatory {Administrative)initiatives;
Public Relations and Public Awareness;

Funding; and

Establishment by the insurance industry of an All-Industry

Committee for Arson Control,

We believe, in the attempt to control the crime of arson, the

objective should be to agsess the unique contribution which can

be made by each organization--whether federal, state or local

government, private or an interdisciplinary group representing

diverse interests, and to stimulate coordination of these inde-

pendent efforts, in solving arson problems.

The Alliance of American Insurers and its affiliate, the Pro-

perty Loss Research Bureau, have provided extensive research into

arson problems.

We are enclosing, for your review and consideration, the

following:

"Target Arson" - a series of recommendations adopted by the

All-Industry Committee for Arson Control.

e Alliance Arson Information Kit
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Tha Alliance of American Insurers will continue to support
your efforts and objectives to reduce arson throughout the United
States,

We respectfully request that this statement be made a part of
the hearing record of the Subcommittee.

I do hereby swear the statements made in this report are true

to the best of my knowledge. % €

/fémes E. Jon

Subscribed to and Swornh before me

', . e s . .
on this L * day of _Cc . Ta bt 1978 /f-)&wu, . Coad.

Notary

Per € na oy Txpires Jenaary 1 IReq











